Icksoo Lee

Regulation of Electron Transport and Proton Translocation in Mammalian Cytochrome c Oxidase by ATP, Palmitate, and Protein Phosphorylation



Regulation of Electron Transport and Proton Translocation in Mammalian Cytochrome c Oxidase by ATP, Palmitate, and Protein Phosphorylation

Dissertation for the doctor's degree of natural sciences (Dr. rer. nat. corresponding to Ph.D.)

> submitted to the Fachbereich Chemie Philipps-Universität Marburg

> > by

Icksoo Lee from Seoul, The Republic of Korea

> Marburg/Lahn 2001

Die Deutsche Bibliothek - CIP-Einheitsaufnahme

Lee,Icksoo:

Regulation of Electron Transport and Proton Translocation in Mammalian Cytochrome c Oxidase by ATP, Palmitate, and Protein Phosphorylation / vorgelegt von Icksoo Lee. -

1. Aufl. - Göttingen : Cuvillier, 2001 Zugl.: Marburg, Univ., Diss., 2001 ISBN 3-89873-394-7

The presented dissertation was performed from May 1998 to December 2001 in the research group of Prof. Dr. B. Kadenbach, Fachbereich Chemie, Biochemie, Philipps-Universität Marburg.

Vom Fachbereich Chemie, Philipps-Universität Marburg als Dissertation angenommen am:

Erstgutachter:	Prof. Dr. B. Kadenbach
Zweitgutachter:	Prof. Dr. W. Buckel

Tag der Disputation am: 14. 12. 2001

© CUVILLIER VERLAG, Göttingen 2002 Nonnenstieg 8, 37075 Göttingen Telefon: 0551-54724-0 Telefax: 0551-54724-21 www.cuvillier.de

Alle Rechte vorbehalten. Ohne ausdrückliche Genehmigung des Verlages ist es nicht gestattet, das Buch oder Teile daraus auf fotomechanischem Weg (Fotokopie, Mikrokopie) zu vervielfältigen.
1. Auflage, 2001 Gedruckt auf säurefreiem Papier

ISBN 3-89873-394-7

Some results of this dissertation are published or in press for publication:

- 1. Arnold, S., Lee, I., Kim, M.J., Song, E., Linder, D., Lottspeich, F. and Kadenbach, B. (1997) The subunit structure of cytochrome c oxidase from tuna heart and liver. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **248**, 99-103.
- 2. Kadenbach, B., Bender, E., Reith, A., Becker A., Hammerschmidt, S., Lee, I., Arnold, S. and Hüttemann, M. (1999) Possible influence of metabolic activity on aging. *J. Anti-Aging Med.* **2**, 255-264.
- 3. Kadenbach, B., Hüttemann, M., Arnold, S., Lee, I., Mühlenbein, N. and Bender, E. (2000) Mitochondrial energy metabolishm is regulated via nuclear-coded subunits of cytochrome c oxidase. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **29**, 211-221.
- 4. Hüttemann, M., Arnold, S., Lee, I., Mühlenbein, N., Linder, D., Lottspeich, F. and Kadenbach, B. (2000) Turkey cytochrome c oxidase contains subunit VIa of the liver-type associated with low effciency of energy transduction. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **267**, 2098-2104.
- 5. Ludwig, B., Bender, E., Arnold, S., Hüttemann, M., Lee, I. and Kadenbach, B. (2001) Cytochrome c Oxidase and the Regulation of Oxidative Phosphorylation. *ChemBioChem* **2**, 392-403.
- 6. Lee, I., Bender, E., Arnold, S. and Kadenbach, B. (2001) New control of mitochondrial membrane potential and ROS-formation, Minireview-Hypothesis. *Biol. Chem.* **382**, 1629-1636.
- 7. Lee, I. and Kadenbach, B. (2001) Priority Paper. Palmitate decreases proton pumping of liver-type cytochrome c oxidase. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **268**, 6329-6334.
- 8. Lee, I., Bender, E. and Kadenbach, B., (2002) Control of mitochondrial membrane potential and ROS formation by reversible phosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.*, in press.

Für meine Eltern To my parents 부모님께

Table of contents

1.	Introduction	1
1.1.	Mitochondria and energy metabolism	1
1.2.	Cytochrome c oxidase	1
	1.2.1. Structure of cytochrome c oxidase	1
	1.2.2. Catalytic activity of cytochrome c oxidase	4
	1.2.3. Nucleotide binding sites of cytochrome c oxidase	6
	1.2.4. Allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase	6
	1.2.5. Reversible cAMP-dependent phosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase	7
	1.2.6. Variable H^+/e^- stoichiometries in cytochrome c oxidase	8
	1.2.7. High ATP/ADP-ratios decrease the H ⁺ /e ⁻ stoichiometry of only heart	
	cvtochrome c oxidase	10
1.3.	Regulation of cell respiration	10
	1.3.1. The first mechanism of respiratory control	10
	1.3.2. The second mechanism of respiratory control	11
1.4.	Aims of the present dissertation	13
`	Matariala	14
2. 2.1		14
2.1. つつ	Protoria and voctor	14
2.2. 2.2	Daticina and vector	14
2.3. 7 1	Apparatuses	14
2.4. 2.5	Kita	14
2.3. 2.6	Kiis Chromatographia matoriala	15
2.0. 2.7	Mombranes	15
2.1. 20	Chamicals	15
2.0. 2.0	Linide fatty acide and derivatives	15
2.9. 2.10	Detergents	15
2.10.	Dues	10
2.11.	Antibodies	10
2.12.	Nucleotides	10
2.15.	Substrates	10
2.14.	Subsualts Uncounters and reductants	10
2.13.	Engranos	10
2.10.	Antibiotic and inhibitor	17
2.17.		17
3.	Methods	18
3.1.	Molecular biological methods	18
	3.1.1. General methods	18
	Preparation of LB medium	18
	Agarose gel electrophoreis of DNA	19
	DNA precipitation by Na-acetate and ethanol	19
	Photometric quantitation of DNA and RNA	20
	3.1.2. RNA preparation	20
	General instruction for RNA preparation	20
	Purification of total RNA	20
	3.1.3. Complementary DNA (cDNA) preparation	21
	Reverse transcription (RT)	21

		Purification of cDNA after RT-PCR	22
	3.1.4.	Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)	23
		Standard-PCR	23
		Hot-Start-PCR	24
		Touch-Down-PCR	24
		3'-rapid amplification of cDNA ends-PCR (3'-RACE-PCR)	24
	3.1.5.	Preparation of DNA for cloning	26
		Elution of DNA from agarose gel	26
		Refilling of dsDNA-ends with Klenow DNA polymerase	26
		Phosphorylation of DNA	27
	3.1.6.	Preparation of vector plasmid for cloning	27
		Dephosphorylation with shrimp alkaline phosphatase	29
	3.1.7.	Preparation of competent cells for electrotransformation	29
	3.1.8.	Ligation of DNA with plasmid	29
	3.1.9.	Transfer of plasmid DNA into <i>E. coli</i> by electroporation	30
	3.1.10	. Rapid preparation of plasmid DNA by the TENS method	30
	3.1.11	. Digestion of plasmid DNA with Pvu II	31
2.2	3.1.12	. DNA sequencing	31
3.2.	Protein	n chemical methods	32
	3.2.1.	Isolation of mitochondria	33
	3.2.2.	Furtheration of cytochrome c oxidase by the Triton X-100 method	34
		Extraction by Intion X-114 and Intion X-100	33 25
		DEAE-Sephacel anion exchange chromatography	33
		ammonium sulfate presinitation	25
	272	Isolation of extendrome a exidence by the cholete method	33
	5.2.5.	Isolation of Kailin Hartrae particles	36
		Isolation of extochrome c oxidase	36
	324	Spectrophotometric determination of cytochrome concentrations	30
	Э.2.т.	Difference spectrum	39
		Absolute spectrum	39
	325	Determination of protein concentration	40
	326	SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	41
	0.2.0.	Staining of protein bands with Coomassie Blue	42
	3.2.7.	Labelling of SH-groups in cytochrome c oxidase with DACM	42
	3.2.8.	Electroblotting of proteins onto nitrocellulose and PVDF membrane	43
		Staining with amido black and Coomassie Blue	44
	3.2.9.	N-terminal and internal amino acid sequencing	45
3.3.	Measu	rement of cytochrome c oxidase activity	46
	3.3.1.	Preparation of ferri- and ferro-cytochrome c solutions	46
	3.3.2.	Purification of asolectin and XAD-2	46
	3.3.3.	Preparation of cytochrome c oxidase with regulatory properties	47
	3.3.4.	Reconstitution of cytochrome c oxidase for activity measurements	47
	3.3.5.	Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase	48
	3.3.6.	Measurement of enzyme activity by the polarographical method	48
		Activity measurement of cytochrome c oxidase	
		with regulatory properties	49
		Activity measurement of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase	49
		Determination of respiratory control ratio (RCR)	49
3.4.	Measu	rement of proton translocation	50
	3.4.1.	Reconstitution of cytochrome c oxidase for	

	proton translocation measurements	50
	3.4.2. Proton translocation measurements using a pH electrode	51
	3.4.3. Proton translocation measurement using a stopped-flow spectrophotometer	51
	3.4.4. Proton conductivity measurement of proteoliposomes	52
3.5.	Immunochemical methods	52
	Colorimetric detection of immunoreactivity in	
	Western Blots using alkaline phosphatase	52
4.	Results	54
4.1.	Search for the cDNA of a new isoform of subunit IV (IV-2)	54
	4.1.1. Cloning and sequencing of subunit IV cDNA from rat	56
	4.1.2. Cloning and sequencing of subunit IV cDNA from turkey	58
4.2.	Search for cytochrome c oxidase subunit isoforms in bovine and turkey	66
	4.2.1. Comparison of bovine cytochrome c oxidase subunit patterns	66
	4.2.2. Searching for subunit IV-2 in bovine lung cytochrome c oxidase	68
	4.2.3. Comparison of subunit patterns of turkey cytochrome c oxidases	71
	4.2.4. Identification of subunit VIaL isoform in turkey liver, heart,	
	and skeletal muscle	73
4.3.	Phosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase subunits	75
	4.3.1. Identification of phosphorylated subunits of bovine heart	
	cytochrome c oxidase with antibodies against phosphoserine	
	and phosphothreonine	75
	4.3.2. Possible phosphorylation sites in the subunits of bovine heart	
	cytochrome c oxidase	77
4.4.	Regulation of cytochrome c oxidase activity by cAMP-dependent phosphorylation	81
	4.4.1. The allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase is protected	
	by KF and EGTA in the isolation media	81
	4.4.2. Effect of cAMP-dependent phosphorylation on the allosteric	
	ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase isolated with KF and EGTA	83
	4.4.3. TMPD abolishes the allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase	84
	4.4.4. Incubation with protein phosphatase 1 releases the allosteric	
	ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase	85
	4.4.5. Time dependent induction of allosteric ATP-inhibiton of	
	cytochrome c oxidase by cAMP-dependent phosphorylation	86
	4.4.6. Allosteric ATP-inhibiton of cytochrome c oxidase is reversibly	
	turned on by cAMP-dependent phosphorylation and turned off by	
	dephosphorylation	87
	4.4.7. The allosteric ATP inhibiton is obtained with cytochrome c oxidases	
	from bovine heart, kidney, and testis	88
	4.4.8. Allosteric ATP-inhibiton of cytochrome c oxidase is induced by	
	phosphorylation from the cytosolic side	90
	4.4.9. Proposed phosphorylation site for allosteric ATP-inhibition	91
4.5.	Proton translocation in eukaryotic cytochrome c oxidase has a variable H ⁺ /e ⁻	
	stoichiometry	94
	4.5.1. Cardiolipin increases the H^+/e^- stoichiometry of reconstituted	
	cytochrome c oxidase from bovine kidney but not from bovine heart	94
	4.5.2. Specific decrease of H^+/e^- stoichiometry by palmitate of cytochrome c	
	oxidase from kidney but not from heart	101
	4.5.3. Palmitate increases the controlled respiration of	101
	kidney cytochrome c oxidase	106

5.	Discussion	110
5.1.	Search for cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV-2 isoform	110
5.2.	Phosphorylation of Ser ⁴⁴¹ in subunit I of cytochrome c oxidase induces allosteric ATP-inhibition	111
5.3.	Regulation of oxidative phosphorylation by allosteric ATP-inhibition	
	of cytochrome c oxidase	116
5.4.	Palmitate decreases the H ⁺ /e ⁻ stoichiometry of	
	bovine kidney cytochrome c oxidase	119
6.	Summary	124
7.	Reference	125
8.	Abbreviations	139
9.	Acknowledgments	141

1. Introduction

1.1. Mitochondria and energy metabolism

Life on earth requires energy for its growth, proliferation, and for any expression of liveliness. To earn more of the cellular energy ATP, aerobic cells have developed a specific mechanism, oxidative phosphorylation. Most aerobic bacteria and all eukaryotic cells generate about 15 times more ATP by oxidative phosphorylation compared to glycolysis, which produces lactic acid or alcohol as the end product. In eukaryotes oxidative phosphorylation takes place in mitochondria, cellular organelles which contain their own genome (e.g. human mtDNA = 16569 bp) which is inherited maternally. Only 13 polypeptides are encoded by mitochondrial DNA which all represent subunits of the enzyme complexes of oxidative phosphorylation. Three enzyme complexes of the mitochondrial respiratory chain (NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase = complex I, cytochrome c reductase = complex III, and cytochrome c oxidase = complex IV) are electron transport-driven proton pumps which transfer reducing equivalents from nutrition to dioxygen accompanied by transfer of protons across the inner mitochondrial membrane, and generate a proton motive force. The proton motive force consists of an electrochemical gradient and a pH gradient.

$$\Delta p = \Delta \psi - Z \cdot \Delta pH$$
, $Z = 2.303 \cdot RT / F$, $\Delta p \cdot F = \Delta \mu H^+$

The ATP synthase in mitochondria uses the proton motive force to produce ATP from ADP and inorganic phosphate [Abrahams et al., 1994; Junge et al., 1997]. Cytochrome c oxidase is the terminal enzyme of the mitochondrial respiratory chain which transfers electrons from cytochrome c to molecular oxygen, coupled with the uptake of protons from the matrix forming water, and with the translocation of protons across the mitochondrial inner membrane.

1.2. Cytochrome c oxidase

1.2.1. Structure of cytochrome c oxidase

The mammalian enzyme is composed of 13 subunits which are encoded on the mitochondrial (subunits I, II, and III) and nuclear genome (subunits IV, Va, Vb, VIa, VIb, VIc, VIIa, VIIb, VIIc, VIII). The bovine heart enzyme crystallizes as a dimer [Tsukihara et al., 1996],

as shown in Fig. 1. In contrast, the bacterial enzyme is monomeric, consisting of only 2-4 subunits [Iwata et al., 1995].

Subunit I contains the redox center heme a and the oxygen binding binuclear center heme a_3 -Cu_B, and subunit II contains Cu_A and the cytochrome c binding site. Heme a and heme a_3 are chemically identical, but differ in their spectral properties, due to the different environment in subunit I. The properties of subunits I and II are nearly identical from bacterial to mammalian cytochrome c oxidase and have been shown to resemble each other in the crystal structures of the bovine heart enzyme [Tsukihara et al., 1995] and *Paracoccus denitrificans* enzyme [Iwata et al., 1995]. Additionally 1 Zn, 1 Mg, and 1 Na (or Ca) are observed in the mammalian enzyme [Yoshikawa et al., 1998], but their functions are unknown.



Fig. 1. Crystal structure of cytochrome c oxidase and cytochrome c from bovine heart.

Each monomer of the dimeric enzyme contains 3 mitochondrial coded subunits (I, II, and III, yellow backbone), containing the cytochrome c binding site and two copper atoms (Cu_A) at subunit II, and heme a and the dioxygen binding site at the binuclear center heme a_3/Cu_B in subunit I. The copper atoms are presented in blue, heme groups in black and the iron atoms in the heme groups in orange. The 10 nuclear coded regulatory subunits (ribbons) are indicated in different colors (subunits IV, Va, Vb, VIa, VIb, VIc, VIIa, VIIb, VIIc, and VIII). Left monomer: indicates the catalytic reaction. Right monomer: shows the binding sites for ATP or ADP and 3,5-diiodothyronine. Data source for cytochrome c oxidase: protein data bank Brookhaven, Tsukihara et al. [1996]. This modeling was prepared with the program "RasMol 2.6".

In Fig. 1 the nuclear coded subunits are presented in different colors. Seven of them are located as transmembraneous polypeptides and the other three are located outside of the inner membrane: subunit VIb at the cytosolic side and subunits Va and Vb at the matrix side.

The subunits of cytochrome c oxidase from turkey [Hüttemann et al., 2000] and tuna [Arnold et al., 1997] contain also thirteen subunits, similar to the enzyme from mammals. On the other hand, 11 subunits were found in the enzyme from yeast [Geier et al., 1995], seven from *Dictiostelium discoideum* [Bisson et al., 1986], but only four subunits occur in cytochrome c oxidase from the bacteria, *P. denitrificans* [Iwata et al., 1995].

For a long time, the regulatory function of the 10 nuclear coded subunits in mammalian cytochrome c oxidase [Kadenbach and Merle, 1981; Kadenbach et al., 1983; Tsukihara et al., 1996], which do not occur in the bacterial enzyme [Iwata et al., 1995], was questioned [Saraste, 1983]. The identification of tissue-, species-, and developmental-specific isoforms of nuclear coded subunits, however, suggested specific regulatory functions. The heart type subunits of VIa, VIIa, and VIII (VIaH, VIIaH, and VIIIH) are expressed in heart and skeletal muscle, whereas the liver type subunits (VIaL, VIIaL, and VIIIL) are ubiquitously expressed [Schlerf et al., 1988; Lightowlers et al., 1990; Kennaway et al., 1990; Seelan and Grossman, 1991; Linder et al., 1995]. Recently the cDNA of an isoform of subunit IV (IV-2) was found and its transcript was observed in the lungs of adult and fetal human and adult rat, as well as in the muscle of fetal human by Northern Blot analysis. In contrast, subunit IV-1 was ubiquitously transcribed in all tissues, including lung [Hüttemann et al., 2001]. Only one isoform was found for subunit VIII in human, for subunit VIIa in rat and for subunit VIa in fish [Grossman and Lomax, 1997; Linder et al., 1995; Hüttemann et al., 1997]. In the adult rat heart, the cytochrome c oxidase subunit VIa consists of two thirds of the heart type isoform (VIaH) and one third of the liver type isoform (VIaL) [Kadenbach et al., 1990], whereas in the skeletal muscle almost 100 % of subunit VIaH is expressed [Anthony et al., 1990]. In fetal heart and skeletal muscle mostly the liver type of subunits VIa and VIIa (VIaL and VIIaL) are expressed, but switch to the heart type isoforms after birth [Taanman et al., 1992; Bonne et al., 1993; Grossman et al., 1995; Parsons et al., 1996]. Interestingly, a different subunit composition of cytochrome c oxidase from wheat germ and wheat seedling suggests the existence of developmental- or tissue-specific isoforms also in the plant enzyme [Peiffer et al., 1990]. In yeast, the expression of subunit V isoforms (corresponding to subunit IV in mammals), Va and Vb, are dependent on the oxygen concentration in the growth medium [Burke and Poyton, 1998]. Different compositions of subunits and isoforms of cytochrome oxidases from various species are listed in Table 1.

Table 1. The comparison of subunits and isoforms of cytochrome oxidases from various species.

The number of subunits including isoforms are listed. The different nomenclatures of subunits from mammals are described next to the subunit number. [1] [Witt and Ludwig, 1997], [2] [Taanmann and Capaldi, 1992], [3] [Bisson and Schiavo, 1986], [4] [Peiffer et al., 1990], [5] [Arnold et al., 1997], [6] [Kadenbach et al., 1986 and 1987; Kadenbach and Reimann, 1992; Hüttemann et al., 2001; Capaldi, 1990 and 1996; Schlerf et al., 1988; Fabrici et al., 1992; van Kuilenburg et al., 1990].

Sub	Paracoccus	Saccharomyces	Dictyostelium	Triticum	Thunnus	Bos	Rattus	Homo
Sub-	denitrificans	cerevisiae	discoideum	aestivum	obesus	taurus	norvegicus	sapiens
units		(yeast)	(Slime mold)	(wheat)	(tuna)	(bovine)	(rat)	(human)
	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]		[6]	
Ι	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
II	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
III	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
IV	-	2 Va, b	1 VI	1	2	2	2	2
Va	-	1 VI	1 IV	2	1	1	1	1
Vb	-	1 IV	1 V	1	1	1	1	1
VIa	-	1	-	-	2	2	2	2
VIb	-	1	-	-	1	1	1	1
VIc	-	1 VIIa	2 VII	1 Vc	1	1	1	1
VIIa	-	1 VII	-	-	2	2	1	2
VIIb	-	-	-	-	1	1	1	1
VIIc	-	1 VIII	-	-	1	1	1	1
VIII	-	-	-	-	1	2	2	1
?	1							

1.2.2. Catalytic activity of cytochrome c oxidase

The electron transfer by cytochrome c oxidase from ferrocytochrome c to dioxygen occurs without the formation of intermediate reactive oxygen species (ROS). The reaction is coupled with the translocation of protons from the matrix to the intermembrane space of the mitochondria, and has the following stoichiometry:

4 cytochrome
$$c^{2+} + 4 H^+ + n H^+_{matrix} + O_2 \rightarrow 4$$
 cytochrome $c^{3+} + n H^+_{cytosol} + 2 H_2O$

The pathway of electrons from cytochrome c via Cu_A (two electronically coupled copper atoms), heme a, and the binuclear center, composed of heme a_3 and Cu_B , is mostly established [Ludwig et al., 2001]. The fact that cytochrome c oxidase represents the only enzyme which reacts with oxygen without the formation of ROS, is based on the unique structure of the oxygen binding binuclear center, which simultaneously transfers four electrons to the bound dioxygen molecule (see Fig. 2). Oxygen, bound to the reduced binuclear center (Fe²⁺/Cu_B¹⁺), is immediately reduced to the redox state of water by the uptake of 4 electrons: two from iron (forming the ferri state, Fe⁴⁺), one from copper (forming Cu²⁺), and the fourth from a tyrosine side chain, forming a radical. The formation of a tyrosine radical is possible by a covalent bridge between Tyr²⁸⁰ and His²⁷⁶ (nomenclature of the *P. denitrificans* enzyme) which stabilizes the tyrosine radical.



Fig. 2. Simplified scheme of the O_2 reduction cycle catalyzed by cytochrome c oxidase. Key intermediates (white boxes labeled "O", "E", "R" etc.) are listed clockwise along with the input steps for the four electrons (gray circles), the binding of dioxygen (blue), and the presumed transmembrane proton translocation steps (red arrows; according to Michel [1999]). The four gray shaded boxes within the reaction circle detail the states of cytochrome c oxidase, "O", "R", "R_M", "P_R". Proton uptake steps, water release, and the assignment of formal charges to the oxygen atoms have been omitted for clarity.

In contrast to the known mechanism of electron transfer in cytochrome c oxidase, the mechanism of its coupling to the translocation of protons across the membrane is mostly unknown [Michel, 1999]. Two proton pathways, consisting of hydrophilic amino acids and water molecules, have been identified in the bacterial enzyme [Iwata et al., 1995] and were corroborated in the bovine heart enzyme [Tsukihara et al., 1996]. But a third proton pathway, including Asp⁵¹ as the possible outlet amino acid at the cytosolic side, based on its structural movement between the oxidized and reduced crystal structures of the bovine heart enzyme

[Yoshikawa et al., 1998], could not be found in the bacterial enzyme [Pfitzner et al., 1998; Lee et al., 2000]. It appears that in animals the mechanism of proton translocation in cytochrome c oxidase has been modified during evolution, in order to regulate the stoichiometry of coupling between electron transport and proton translocation (see the results section).

1.2.3. Nucleotide binding sites of cytochrome c oxidase

In bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase seven high affinity binding sites for ATP or ADP and three additional sites only for ADP were identified by equilibrium dialysis with radioactive ATP and ADP [Napiwotzki et al., 1997; Napiwotzki and Kadenbach, 1998]. In the enzyme of *P. denitrificans* only one ATP binding site was identified [Rieger et al., 1995]. One binding site for ADP at the matrix domain of subunit VIa in the bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase had already been postulated by Anthony et al. [1993], based on kinetic, spectroscopic, and immunological data. In the crystal structure of the bovine heart enzyme a bound cholate molecule was observed at this site [Tsukihara et al., 1996]. Cholate has a very similar structure to ADP. Later, ten tightly bound cholate molecules were verified in the crystallized bovine heart enzyme using radioactive cholate [Napiwotzki et al., 1997]. These bound cholates seemed to prevent regulation of enzyme activity by nucleotides (ATP/ADP-ratios) and were very slowly exchanged by ATP, in contrast to ADP [Napiwotzki and Kadenbach, 1998].

1.2.4. Allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase

The activity of cytochrome c oxidase is inhibited at high intramitochondrial ATP/ADPratios. At high ATP/ADP-ratios, the hyperbolic type kinetics of the enzymes from tuna and bovine were converted into sigmoidal ones (activity/[cytochrome c] or v/[s] relationship) [Arnold and Kadenbach, 1997; Kadenbach and Arnold, 1999]. Based on the crystal structure of the bovine heart enzyme [Tsukihara et al., 1996], a pocket close to the membrane formed by amino acids of subunits I, II, and IV was proposed for the ATP or ADP binding site [Hüttemann et al, 2001]. Allosteric ATP-inhibition was correlated to binding of ATP to the matrix domain of subunit IV, since preincubation of the bovine enzyme with a monoclonal antibody against subunit IV prevented the allosteric ATP inhibition. Half-maximal inhibition of activity was obtained at an intramitochondrial ATP/ADP-ratio of 28, and the inhibition was independent of the proton motive force [Arnold and Kadenbach, 1999]. The maximal Hill-coefficient of 2

6

[Arnold and Kadenbach, 1997] indicates cooperativity of two cytochrome c binding sites which are assumed to be located at each monomer of the dimeric enzyme.

An allosteric ATP-inhibition was also found with the yeast enzyme, but not with the enzyme from *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* [Follmann et al., 1998] which lacks a subunit similar to subunit IV of the eukaryotic enzyme. Regulation of activity by addition of ATP was also measured with cytochrome c oxidase from cyanobacteria. This oxidase contains a fourth subunit which is homologous to the eukaryotic subunit IV [Alge et al., 1999].

1.2.5. Reversible cAMP-dependent phosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase

The extent of full ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase activity at low cytochrome c concentrations varied among different preparations of mitochondria or of the enzyme. It was demonstrated, however, that the concentration range of cytochrome c, where full inhibition of enzyme activity is obtained, can be extended by cAMP-dependent phosphorylation and is abolished by Ca²⁺-activated dephosphorylation of the enzyme [Bender and Kadenbach, 2000]. Preincubation of isolated bovine liver mitochondria with cAMP, ATP, and an ATP-regenerating system, increased the allosteric ATP-inhibition of the enzyme after solubilization in Tween 20. Remarkably, the enzyme activity was completely inhibited up to 10 µM cytochrome c when EGTA and potassium fluoride, an unspecific inhibitor of protein phosphatases were present during preincubation. Subsequent incubation of mitochondria with Ca²⁺, after preincubation with cAMP, ATP, and an ATP-regenerating system, abolished the ATP-inhibition of the enzyme. It has been postulated that in vivo an equilibrium between cAMP-dependent phosphorylation and dephosphorylation via Ca²⁺-activated protein phosphatases exists. In isolated cytochrome c oxidase from bovine heart, subunits I, II (and/or III), and Vb were specifically labelled by [y-³²P]ATP after incubation with protein kinase A, cAMP, and ATP [Bender and Kadenbach, 2000].

In other studies, the specific binding of the recombinant regulatory subunit of protein kinase A to cytochrome c oxidase subunit Vb of CHO (Chinese Hamster Ovary) cells was described [Yang et al., 1998]. In addition, phosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV from rat liver by an endogenous cAMP-independent kinase was observed [Steenaart and Shore, 1997]. cAMP-dependent protein kinases in mitochondria have been described repeatedly [Müller and Bandlow, 1987a and 1987b; Burgess and Yamada, 1987; Schwoch et al., 1990; Vallejo and Seguido, 1997], but phosphorylation of a specific subunit of respiratory chain complexes has only been shown for the 18 kDa subunit of the NADH dehydrogenase [Papa et al., 1996].

7

1.2.6. Variable H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometries in cytochrome c oxidase

The coupling mechanism of electron transport with proton translocation in cytochrome c oxidase is still a matter of discussion [Michel, 1999]. The proton pumping activity of cytochrome c oxidase was first demonstrated by Wikström and coworker [Wikström and Saari, 1977; Krab and Wikström, 1978], but for a long time the stoichiometric ratio between translocated protons and transported electrons (H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry) remained a matter of discussion. In fact, H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometries between zero [Moyle and Mitchell, 1978; Papa et al., 1980], 1.0 [Casey et al., 1979; Sigel and Carafoli, 1980; Prochaska et al., 1981; Proteau et al., 1983], and 2.0 [Azzone et al., 1979; Reynafarje et al., 1982; Beavis and Lehninger, 1986; Beavis, 1987; de Virville and Moreau, 1990] were determined. It was only recently accepted that the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry in cytochrome c oxidase of bacteria [Haltia et al., 1991] and mitochondria [Babcock and Wikström, 1992] is 1.0 and invariable. The different H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometries of previous studies were explained by application of unsuitable methods to determine the correct value. Recent data and the results of this dissertation clearly demonstrate, however, that the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry is variable (Table 2).

A H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of 0.5 instead of 1.0 was measured in cytochrome c oxidase of the ba₃-type from *Thermus thermophilus* under standard conditions [Kannt et al., 1998]. Decreased H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometries in mammalian cytochrome c oxidase are obtained after removal of subunit III (review in [Prochaska and Fink, 1987; Murphy, 1989]), and after chemical modification with reagents specific for carboxyl groups in hydrophobic environs like DCCD (dicyclohexylcarbodiimide) [Prochaska and Fink, 1987; Murphy, 1989] and EEDQ (Nethoxycarbonyl-2-ethoxy-1,2-dihydrochinolin) [Steverding and Kadenbach, 1991]. A decrease of H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry with increasing mitochondrial membrane potential $\Delta \psi_m$ (140-180 mV) was found for cytochrome c oxidase, but not for cytochrome c reductase, by Murphy and Brand [1988]. With isolated mitochondria [Papa et al., 1991], as well as with the reconstituted enzyme [Capitanio et al., 1991 and 1996], a decrease of H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry with increasing flow rate, i.e. increasing pH-gradient, was found with cytochrome c oxidase, but not with cytochrome c reductase.

Table 2. Variable H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometries of cytochrome c oxidase (COX) were described in the literature.

Reference	Sigel and Carafoli, 1978	Azzone et al., 1979	Wikström and Pentillä, 1982	Reynafarje et al., 1982	Reynafarje et al., 1986	Beavis, 1987	de Virville and Moreau, 1990	Murphy and Brand, 1988	Capitanio et al., 1991	Sigel and Carafoli, 1980	Papa et al., 1991	Frank and Kadenbach, 1996	Hüttemann et al., 1999	Lee and Kadenbach, 2001	Lee and Kadenbach, 2001
H ⁺ /e ⁻ stoichiometry	0.8	2.0	0.6 - 0.7	1.5 - 2.0	1.9 - 2.1	1.5	1.5 - 2.0	$1.0 \rightarrow 0.0 \ [\Delta \psi = 120 \rightarrow 180 \ mV]$	$1.0 \rightarrow 0.0 \ [\Delta pH = low \rightarrow high]$	0.6 - 0.75	$1.0 \rightarrow 0.0 \ [\Delta pH = low \rightarrow high]$	$1.0 \rightarrow 0.5$ [intraliposomal ADP \rightarrow ATP]	0.5 [intraliposomal ATP or ADP]	1.0 [+ 1 % cardiolipin (CL)]	$1.0 \rightarrow 0.5 [+ 1\% \text{ CL} \rightarrow 1\% \text{ CL} + \text{palmitate}]$
Object	mitochondria	mitochondria	mitochondria	mitoplasts	mitoplasts	mitochondria	mitochondria	mitochondria	mitochondria	reconstituted COX	reconstituted COX	reconstituted COX	reconstituted COX	reconstituted COX	reconstituted COX
Tissue	liver	liver	liver	liver	liver	liver	tuber	liver	liver	heart	heart	heart	liver, kidney	kidney	kidney
Species	Rat	Rat	Rat	Rat	Rat	Rat	Potato	Rat	Rat	Bovine	Bovine	Bovine	Bovine	Bovine	Bovine

1.2.7. High ATP/ADP-ratios decrease the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of only heart cytochrome c <u>oxidase</u>

By increasing the intraliposomal ATP/ADP-ratio, a decrease of the H⁺/e⁻ ratio from 1.0 to 0.5 was measured with the reconstituted enzyme from bovine heart [Frank and Kadenbach, 1996; Hüttemann et al., 1999]. The decrease was half-maximal at an ATP/ADP-ratio of 100, and occurred by the exchange of bound ADP by ATP at the matrix domain of subunit VIaH, since preincubation of the enzyme with a monoclonal antibody against subunit VIaH prevented the decrease of the H⁺/e⁻ ratio. The suggested nucleotide binding site at the matrix domain of subunit VIaH [Anthony et al., 1993; Frank and Kadenbach, 1996] was verified in the crystal structure of the enzyme by identification of a cholate molecule at this site, since cholate is structurally very similar to ADP [Tsukihara et al., 1996]. With reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase from bovine liver and kidney, H⁺/e⁻ ratio of 0.5 were measured which were not influenced by the intraliposomal ATP/ADP-ratio or by a monoclonal antibody against subunit VIaH (and subunit VIc) [Frank and Kadenbach, 1996]. It was postulated that the decrease of H⁺/e⁻ ratio of the enzyme from skeletal muscle (subunit VIaH) at high ATP/ADP-ratios participates in thermogenesis (e.g. during sleep) [Kadenbach et al., 1998].

A third type of subunit VIa was identified in fish (trout, carp and tuna), which differs equally from the mammalian isoforms VIaH and VIaL [Hüttemann et al., 2000; Hüttemann et al., 1997]. This suggests that subunit VIa has evolutionary diverged in different species into three different isoforms according to the demands of thermogenesis. It is possible that cytochrome c oxidase from fish, which are poikilotherm animals, have a permanent high H^+/e^- ratio, to prevent wasting of energy by heat production.

1.3. Regulation of cell respiration

1.3.1. The first mechanism of respiratory control

Respiratory control was originally defined as stimulation of oxygen uptake of isolated mitochondria after addition of ADP (active, state 3 respiration) and subsequent inhibition due to transformation of ADP into ATP (controlled, state 4 respiration) [Lardy and Wellman, 1952; Chance and Williams, 1955]. The chemiosmotic hypothesis [Mitchell, 1961 and 1966] postulates that the proton motive force, Δp is the energy-rich intermediate of oxidative phosphorylation which allows the interpretation of respiratory control as follows; ADP uptake by

the ATP/ADP carrier into the mitochondria accelerates ATP synthase activity, accompanied by a decrease of Δp , which consequently stimulates the activity of the three proton pumps of the respiratory chain, and therefore mitochondrial respiration [Nicholls and Ferguson, 1992]. The uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation in mitochondria by protonophores (uncouplers) [Loomis and Lipman, 1948; Weinbach and Garbus, 1969] strongly supported the chemiosmotic hypothesis which is well established.

Even though the chemiosmotic hypothesis could explain the control of respiration in bacteria [Wilson et al., 1976] and chloroplasts [Hauska and Trebst, 1977], many results with mitochondria were reported which could not be interpretated by, and even conflicted with, the regulation of respiration by Δp [Ghazi, 1985; Slater 1987; Ernster et al., 1959; DiMauro et al., 1976; Weinbach and Garbus, 1965 and 1969; Padan and Rottenberg, 1973; Ho and Wang, 1981; Wilson and Forman, 1982; Zoratti et al., 1982; Mandolino et al., 1983; Starkov et al., 1997a and 1997b]. The relationship between the extent of Δp and the rate of respiration or ATP synthesis is lacking in intact mitochondria, but was found only under restricted conditions, e.g. with aged or uncoupled mitochondria or mitochondrial particles.

1.3.2. The second mechanism of respiratory control

A new mechanism to interpretate the regulation of cell respiration was recently found, the so called "second mechanism of respiratory control", which is based on the inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase activity at high intramitochondrial ATP/ADP-ratios [Kadenbach and Arnold, 1999], as described above. The binding of ATP on subunit IV was already identified by photoaffinity labelling [Montecucco et al., 1986; Bisson et al., 1987; Rieger et al., 1995]. Somehow the sigmoidal relationship between the intraliposomal ATP/ADP-ratio, or intraliposomal [ADP], and the rate of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase from bovine heart, is very similar to the relationship between the ADP concentration and the rate of respiration measured by ³¹P-NMR in the human arm *in vivo* [Jeneson et al., 1996]. The allosteric ATPinhibition of cytochrome c oxidase is sensitive to several experimental and physiological conditions that "uncouple" the second mechanism of respiratory control, thus high ATP/ADPratios no longer induce allosteric inhibition of enzyme activity. These parameters include (1) dodecylmaltoside as a detergent which monomerizes the enzyme [Suarez et al., 1984], (2) TMPD (N,N,N',N'-tetramethyl-p-phenylenediamine) which is frequently used as an electron carrier between ascorbate and cytochrome c, (3) micromolar concentrations of 3, 5-diiodo-Lthyronine which binds specifically to the matrix-oriented subunit Va [Arnold et al., 1998], (4)

submicromolar concentration of palmitate [Shahla Hammerschmidt (1998) Diplomarbeit, Fachbereich Chemie, Universität Marburg], (5) insufficient amounts of cardiolipin in the enzyme [Arnold and Kadenbach, 1997], as well as (6) Ca²⁺-dependent dephosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase [Bender and Kadenbach, 2000]. By these parameters the allosteric ATP-inhibition is easily released and the second mechanism of respiratory control is abolished.

1.4. Aims of the present dissertation

The aim of this dissertation was to investigate the regulation of cytochrome c oxidase by isoform expression and by allosteric effectors. Applying molecular biological methods, one aim was to search for the cDNA of the isoform of subunit IV (IV-2) in mammals and birds. Subunit IV-2 had already been identified in yeast and tuna.

In further studies the reversibility of allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase by cAMP-dependent phosphorylation and dephosphorylation was investigated. In particular, the location of the phosphorylation site in the enzyme was expected to be identified.

Finally the different H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometries of the isozymes from bovine heart, containing subunit VIaH, and from bovine kidney, containing subunit VIaL, was investigated. In particular the reason for the lower H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of the subunit ViaL containing isozyme, which had been measured with the reconstituted enzymes from bovine liver and kidney, compared to the subunit VIaH-containing isozyme from bovine heart, was investigated.

2. Materials

2.1. Tissues

bovine heart, kidney, lung, and testis turkey heart, liver, and muscle

2.2. Bacteria and vector

E. coli XL1 Blue pBluescript KS-

slaughterhouse, Marburg from a butcher shop

Stratagene, Heidelberg Stratagene, Heidelberg

2.3. Primers

The primers were produced by MWG-Biotec (Ebersberg).

M [A,C] N [A,G,C,T] R [A,G] Y [C,T]

2.4. Apparatuses

ABI PRISM 301 Genetic Analyzer AmiconTM Microcon Filter 100 (blue) Clark-oxygen electrode nanoampere meter and amplifier for Clack-oxygen electrode Biofuge 13 cooling centrifuge RC2-B JA-10 rotor JA-20 rotor ultracentrifuge L5-65 60 Ti rotor Digital pH meter pH525 and pH electrode DNA Thermal Cycler Gene pulser [®]II, electroporator gel electrophoresis apparatus

Pegasus Semi-Dry-Blot, blotting apparatus pH electrode, InLab®423 pH meter, Expandomatic IV Photometer 1101 M Speed-vac concentrator table top microcentrifuge Perkin Elmer, Weierstadt Amicon, Danvers, USA Yellow Springs Instruments institute workshop of Philipps-Universität, Marburg Heraeus Christ, Osterode Sorvall, Stuttgart Sorvall, Stuttgart Beckmann, Frankfurt Beckmann, Frankfurt Beckmann, Frankfurt WTW, Weilheim Perkin Elmer Cetus, Norwalk, USA Bio-rad, München institute workshop of Philipps-Universität, Marburg Phase, Moelln Mettler Toledo, Gießen Beckmann, Frankfurt Eppendorf, Hamburg Bachhofer, Reutlingen Eppendorf, Hamburg

UV transilluminator
Uvikon 940, 2-rays spectrophotometer
Videocopy processor and attached camera

2.5. Kits

ABI PRISM dRhodamine Terminator Cycle Sequencing Ready Reaction Kit Easy Pure, DNA Purification Kit ExpandTM High Fidelty PCR System

2.6. Chromatographic materials

Amberlite XAD-2 DEAE-Sephacel Sephadex G-25

2.7. Membranes

electromembrane (high sensitivity) and electrolyte for Clark-oxygen electrode Nitrocellulose Protran Cellulosenitrat ProBlotTM PVDF-Membran H. Saur, Reutlingen Kontron Instruments, Offenbach Mitsubishi, Japan

Perkin Elmer, Weiterstadt

Biozym, Olendorf Boehringer, Mannheim

Serva, Heidelberg Pharmacia, Freiburg Pharmacia, Freiburg

Yellow Springs Instruments

Schleicher und Schuell, Dassel Applied Biosystems, Weiterstadt

2.8. Chemicals

All substances were of analytical grade and purchased from Fluka (Deisenhofen), Sigma (München), Roth (Karlsruhe), Merk (Darmstadt) and Riedle-de-Haen, (Seelze). D.W.(deionized water) was obtained from "Reinstwasser-System Seralpur 90 CN" with a macromolecule filter (pore size 0.2μ m), SERAL, Ramsbach-Baumbach.

acrylamide agarose, ultrapure ascorbate, free form bacto agar BSA, fraction V choline-Cl DEPC DNA-BioLadderTM 100 guanidinium thiocyanate heparin N-laurylsarcosin, sodium salt N,N'-methylenbisacrylamide PEG 6000 Pepton 140 TEMED TMPD yeast extract

2.9. Lipids, fatty acids, and derivatives

asolectin (L-α-phosphatidylcholine), type IV-S from soyabean cardiolipin, sodium salt in ethanol from bovine heart cetylalchol

Serva, Heidelberg Gibco BRL, Karlsruhe Merck, Darmstadt Gibco BRL, Karlsruhe Sigma, München Sigma, München Fluka, Deisenhofen AGS, Heidelberg Fluka, Deisenhofen Roth. Karlsruhe Fluka, Deisenhofen Serva, Heidelberg Serva, Heidelberg Gibco BRL, Karlsruhe Sigma, München Fluka, Deisenhofen Gibco BRL, Karlsruhe

Sigma, München

Fluka, Deisenhofen

Sigma, München

laurate, sodium salt myristate, sodium salt palmitate, sodium salt oleate, sodium salt palmitoyl CoA 3-palmitoyl-sn-glycerol stearate, sodium salt

2.10. Detergents

Brij 35 cholate, sodium salt deoxycholate, sodium salt dodecylmaltoside (laurylmaltoside) SDS Triton X-100 and Triton X-114 Tween 20

2.11. Dyes

amidoblack 10 B bromophenol blue Coomassie Brilliant Blue R250 DACM ethidium bromide xylenecyanol FF

2.12. Antibodies

anti-mouse IgG (whole molecule), alkaline phosphatase conjugated, from goat anti-phosphoserine, monoclonal, from mouse anti-phosphothreonine, monoclonal, from mouse

2.13. Nucleotides

ADP, potassium salt (98-100 % purity) ATP, disodium salt (grade I: 99 % purity) cAMP, sodium salt (grade I:99 % purity) dATP, dCTP, dGTP, dTTP, each PCR-grade (\geq 99 % purity)

2.14. Substrates

BCIP cytochrome c, type VI form horse heart IPTG PEP, potassium salt NBT X-Gal

2.15. Uncouplers and reductants CCCP DTE DTT β-mercaptoethanol

- Sigma, München Sigma, München Sigma, München Sigma, München Sigma, München Sigma, München
- Fluka, Deisenhofen Serva, Heidelberg Serva, Heidelberg Fluka, Deisenhofen Fluka, Deisenhofen Serva, Heidelberg Fluka, Deisenhofen
- Roth, Karlsruhe Serva, Heidelberg Serva, Heidelberg Sigma, München Sigma, München

Sigma, München

Calbiochem, Darmstadt Calbiochem, Darmstadt

- Boehinger, Mannheim Sigma, München Sigma, München Boehringer, Mannheim
- Sigma, München Sigma, München Sigma, München Fluka, Deisenhofen Sigma, München Sigma, München

Sigma, München Sigma, München Roth, Karlsruhe Roth, Karlsruhe

valinomycin

2.16. Enzymes

Pvu II $(CAG \downarrow CTG)$ Klenow DNA polymerase RNase H M-MuLV reverse transcriptase phosphatase from shrimp T4 polynucleotide kinase T4 DNA ligase Taq/Pwo DNA polymerase PK, from rabbit muscle PKA, from bovine heart PP1, catalytic subunit, α -isoform from rabbit, recombinant expressed in *E. coli*

2.17. Antibiotic and inhibitor

ampicillin RNase block (ribonuclease inhibitor) Sigma, München

Amersham, Braunschweig Amersham, Braunschweig Amersham, Braunschweig System (AGS), Heidelberg Amersham, Braunschweig Amersham, Braunschweig Boehringer, Mannheim Merk, Darmstadt Sigma, München Sigma, München

Serva, Heidelberg Stratagene, Heidelberg

3. Methods

3.1. Molecular biological methods

All equipments and D.W. were sterilized by autoclaving at 121 °C for 20 min. Buffers were autoclaved after preparation or prepared with sterilized D.W.

3.1.1. General methods

Preparation of LB medium

Mediums for bacterial culture were sterilized by autoclaving.

LB medium:	10 g	NaCl
	10 g	Pepton 140
	5 g	yeast extract
	10 ml	1 M MgSO ₄ solution
	5 ml	1 M NaOH
	in 1 1	
I P agar madium:	15 a	haata agar
LD agai meulum.	15 g	Dacio agai
	11	LB medium

After autoclaving the medium was cooled down to ca. 50 °C and 50 μ g/ml ampicillin and X-Gal/IPTG (2.5 ml X-Gal and 0.5 ml IPTG solution per 1 l of medium) were added. LB agar medium was molded in Petri dishes (87 mm diameter). To remove air bubbles in the medium the surface of the plates were shortly exposed to a flame. After molding, the plates were kept at 4 °C for 3 months.

ampicillin stock solution:	50 mg/ml dissolved with	ampicillin n NaOH and kept at 4 °C
IPTG stock solution*:	100 mM	IPTG
X-Gal stock solution*:	4 %	X-Gal in DMF (w/v)
	*sterile-filtere	d and kept at 20 °C in the dark

Agarose gel electrophoresis of DNA

About 100-200 ml of gel bed volume were applied for an electrophoresis. 1 % agarose in 1 x TBE buffer was melted by boiling. 1.5 % ethidium bromide ($1/10^{-4}$ of gel bed volume), fluorescence dye, was added when agarose got cooled down to ca. 50 °C. The agarose suspension was poured into a tray and a comb was positioned in it for the sample wells. After gelatination of agarose the comb was taken out of and the gel was soaked in 1x TBE buffer. The DNA sample was mixed with 1/6 volume of 6 x sample buffer and loaded in a well of the gel. 0.05-2 µg molecular weight standard DNA ladder (DNA-BioLadderTM 100) was used as a standard. The agarose gel with big wells (size of 2-4 combined wells) was recommended for the DNA elution from the gel. Electrophoresis was performed at 100-150 mA. Separated DNA bands were detected under a transilluminator (at 302 nm).

10 x	TBE buffer:	890 mM 890 mM	Tris-Cl boric acid
6 x	sample buffer:	50 % 0.25 % 20 mM 0.25 %	glycerol (v/v) bromophenol blue EDTA, pH 8.3 xylenecyanol FF
ethidi	um bromide solution	10 mg/ml	ethidium bromide stored at 4 °C in the dark

DNA precipitation by Na-acetate and ethanol

To precipitate DNA, 1/10 volume of 3 M Na-acetate, pH 4.5-5 and 3 volumes of ethanol were added to the DNA containing solution. The suspension was incubated at -20 °C overnight or at -80 °C for 1 h and centrifuged for 20 min in a table top centrifuge at maximal speed. The supernatant was discarded and the nucleic acid pellet was briefly washed with cold 70 % ethanol. The pellet was dried by standing at room temperature for 15 min or with a Speed-vac concentrator connected with an oil vacuum pump for 1-2 min. The DNA pellet was dissolved in TE buffer and stored at -20 °C.

TE buffer:	10 mM	Tris-Cl, pH 7.0-8.5
	1 mM	EDTA

Photometric quantitation of DNA and RNA

The concentrations of DNA and RNA were determined spectrophotometrically at the wave length of 260 nm. The absorbance difference at 260 nm and 300 nm was recommended for the accurate determination of concentration. The basal absorbances of TE buffer and D.W., where DNA and RNA were dissolved, were used as baseline of the spectra. The concentrations of different nucleotides were estimated by following molar absorbance coefficients.

 $E_{260} = 1 \equiv 50 \ \mu g/ml$ for double stranded DNA $E_{260} = 1 \equiv 40 \ \mu g/ml$ for single stranded DNA or RNA $E_{260} = 1 \equiv 33 \ \mu g/ml$ for oligonucleotides or primer

The ratio E_{260}/E_{280} indicated the purity of nucleotides (e.g. a pure sample has in general a value between 1.8 and 2.0).

3.1.2. RNA preparation

General instruction for RNA preparation

Ribonucleases (RNases) do not require any cofactor for their activity and are stable from heat compared to deoxyribonucleases (DNases). To avoid contamination by RNases, careful attention was necessary for each procedure. Glasswares were backed at 240 °C for 3 h and other equipments and buffers including water were autoclaved. In addition 0.1 % DEPC was added to the buffers and water, because DEPC deactivates RNases by cleavage of functional S-S bonds. Sterilization of the working bench with 70 % ethanol and wearing of hand gloves were required during the whole procedures.

Purification of total RNA

Excised tissues from a rat and a turkey were immediately soaked in liquid nitrogen. Total RNA was isolated from these tissues with guanidinium thiocyanate, a strong inhibitor of ribonucleases [Chomczymski and Sacchi, 1987]. 50 mg tissues were homogenized with 500 μ l buffer D at room temperature (D-buffer might be kept at room temperature for 3 months in the absence of β -mercaptoethanol). 50 μ l of 2 M Na-acetate, pH 4.0, 100 μ l of chloroform/isoamylalcohol (49:1, v/v) and 500 μ l of water-equilibrated phenol were added to the homogenate. The mixture was shaken at 4 °C for 10-20 min, incubated on ice for 30-45 min and

then centrifuged at 15,000 g. After centrifugation 3 phases were obtained: an upper phase, an interphase, and a lower phase containing RNA, DNA and aggregated proteins, and phenol/chloroform/isoamylalcohol, respectively. The upper phase was transferred into a new cup carefully, not to be contaminated from the interphase. To precipitate RNA the upper phase solution was mixed with 1 ml of isopropanol and incubated at -20 °C overnight or at -80 °C for 2 h. A RNA pellet was obtained after centrifugation at 15,000 rpm for 30 min. The pellet was dried under the vacuum pump and dissolved in 300 μ l of buffer D. The RNA was reprecipitated by addition of 300 μ l isopropanol and by incubation as described above. The obtained RNA pellet was rinsed 2 times with 500 μ l of 70 % ethanol and dried. The RNA was dissolved in DEPC treated water and kept at - 20 °C.

buffer D:	50 g	guanidinium thiocyanate
(100 ml)	63.4 ml	DEPC treated D.W.
	3,5 ml	0.75 M Na-citrate, pH 7.0
	1.7 ml	30 % N-laurylsarcosin
	720 µl	ß-mercaptoethanol*
		* added directly before the addition of buffer D to the sample

3.1.3. Complementary DNA (cDNA) preparation

Reverse transcription (RT)

Complementary DNA was synthesized from mRNA (in total RNA) by a RT-PCR (reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction).

Reaction mixture:	1 µl	Q _T primer (10 pmol/µl)
	0.4 µl	DTT
	0.5 µl	RNase Block
	5 µl	10 x dNTP solution
		(each 2 mM dATP, dCTP, dGTP, and dTTP)
	x μl	2.5-5 μg total RNA
	14,1- x μl	D.W.

The reaction mixture was heated at 80 °C for 3 min to denature mRNA and the primer. Complete denaturation of mRNA and the primer is the key point to get a full length cDNA. Since slow cooling allows the denatured RNA to reform a thermodynamically stable secondary structure, after denaturation the reaction mixture was immediately chilled on ice for 2 min. Then the reverse transcriptase was added together with RT buffer into the mixture because transcriptases

are instable from heat. The mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 90 min. Desired cDNA was synthesized from mRNA with a gene specific primer during incubation.

2.5 µl	10 x incubation bu	10 x incubation buffer for the reverse transcriptase		
1.5 µl	M-MuLV reverse	transcriptase	-	
10 x	incubation buffer for:	500 mM	Tris-HCl, pH 8.3	
the reverse transcriptase		60 mM	MgCl ₂	
		400 mM	KCl	
		0.5 %	BSA (w/v)	

To obtain a complete length cDNA, mRNA was redenatured during the RT reaction. The incubated suspension was heated at 75 °C, chilled on ice for 2 min. The RT reaction was continued after addition of 2 μ l of fresh reverse transcriptase to the mixture at 37 °C for 30 min. To stop the RT reaction, the mixture was heated at 70 °C for 15 min.

Purification of cDNA after RT-PCR

The single strand cDNA was obtained from mRNA-cDNA hetero double strands after RT-PCR. The RT mixture was incubated with RNase H at 37 °C for 20 min to eliminate the mRNA.

0.3 µl	RNase H		
2.5 µl	5 x incubation but	uffer for RNase H	I
22 µl	D.W.		
5 x	incubation buffer:	100 mM	Tris-HCl, pH 7.5
for RNase H		100 mM	KC1
		50 mM	EDTA
		0.5 mM	DTT

The cDNA was further purified with "AmiconTM Microcon-Filter 100 (blue)" to remove the remaining salts, the primers, and the nucleotides from RT-PCR. This microconcentrator is suitable for 300 bp of single stranded and 125 bp of double stranded polynucleotides. The volume of cDNA containing solution was adjusted to 200 μ l with TE buffer and transferred to the filter of the microconcentrator. By centrifugation at 300 g for 15 min other components in the mixture went through out of the filter and the cDNA was left on it. The filter was washed 2 times with 200 μ l TE buffer and centrifuged again. The microconcentrator was placed upside down into a new cup and the cDNA was obtained by centrifugation at 600 g for 10-30 min.

3.1.4. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

A desired region of the prepared cDNA (see in 3.1.3.) was amplified by PCR. Several combined polymerase chain reaction (PCR) techniques, Hot-Start-PCR, Touch-Down-PCR, and RACE-PCR were applied in this dissertation.

Standard-PCR

Both Taq and Pwo DNA polymerases of "ExpandTM High Fidelity PCR System" from Boehringer, Mannheim were used for the amplification. The combination of Pwo DNA polymerase which has a 3',5'-exonuclease activity, and of Taq DNA polymerase resulted in 3 times higher accuracy of DNA synthesis. This combined system might have an error of only ca. 8.5 x 10⁻⁶ frequency in contrast to Taq polymerase itself which has an error of ca. 2.6 x 10⁻⁵ frequency. PCR mixture with Taq/Pwo DNA polymerase was prepared as following.

PCR mixture:	1-2 µl	0.5-50 ng DNA template
	5 µl	10 x dNTP solution
		(each 2 mM dATP, dCTP, dGTP and dTTP)
	5 µl	10 x PCR buffer I
	1-1.5 µl	10-50 pmol/µl forward primer
	1-1.5 µl	10-50 pmol/µl reverse primer
	0.5 µl	1 U Taq/Pwo DNA polymerase

Concentrations of 10 pmol/ μ l for the specific primers (Q₀, Q₁ primers, and sequencing primer) and of 50 pmol/ μ l for the degenerative primers were used. The PCR oil was unnecessary since the thermal cycler had a heating cover. The following 3 steps were repeated for 30-35 times (cycles) in the "DNA Thermal Cycler" from Perkin Elmer.

denaturation:	at 94 °C for 1 min
annealing:	at 50-65 °C for 30 s
elongation:	at 72 °C for 30-60 s

The annealing temperature depends on the melting temperature of the applied primers. The melting temperature was determined by the following equation:

 $T_{\text{annealing}} = (4 \cdot (G, C) + 2 \cdot (T, A)) \circ C$

The elongation time was varied by the length of template, in general 1 kb requires ca. 1 min elongation time.

Hot-Start-PCR

PCR is started at 94 °C in the preheated thermal cycler to denature templates and primers. The denaturation of the sample at 94 °C for 5 min avoids an error which is easily caused by misannealing during the first amplification cycle.

Touch-Down-PCR

This PCR is suitable for amplifications with degenerated primers, because these primers contain different polynucleotides of variable melting temperatures. Most of the amplification steps are identical to Standard-PCR except the annealing step. To optimize annealing of the primers on the template the temperature was continuously decreased every 2 °C during the amplification cycles. i.e. 4 cycles at 58 °C, 6 cycles at 56 °C and 16 cycles at 50 °C.

<u>3'-rapid amplification of cDNA ends-PCR (3'-RACE-PCR)</u>

3'- and 5'-RACE-PCR is the specialized PCR to amplify the 3'- and 5'-region of cDNA respectively [Frohmann, 1995]. In this dissertation, 3-RACE-PCR was applied to search for the cDNA of cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV isoform (IV-2), because 5'-RACE-PCR requires a gene specific primer. A general scheme of 3'-RACE-PCR is shown in Fig. 3. cDNA was synthesized from mRNA with Q_T primer by RT-PCR as described in 3.1.3. Q_T primer (5'- Q_O - Q_T -dT₁₇-3') consists of 17 bp of poly T sequences, 18 bp of Q_I , and 18 bp of Q_O . These poly T sequences are hybridized with the poly A tail of mRNA. The 3'-end region was amplified from the whole synthesized cDNA with Q_O primer anneals nonspecifically on a template many fragments were obtained after outer-PCR in general. The outer-PCR products were electrophoresed on an agarose gel and desired DNA fragments were extracted (see in 3.1.5.) for a nested-PCR. Nested-PCR was performed by Touch-Down-PCR with Q_I primer and another degenerated primer. This degenerate primer had the sequence which is closer to the 3'-end of cDNA than the sequence of the primer for the outer-PCR. The amplified DNA was electrophoresed and extracted from the gel for cloning.



Fig. 3. Scheme of RT-reaction and 3'-RACE-PCR.

RNA is illustrated in gray and DNA is in black. The primers are boxed. deg.P+0.1 and deg.P+0.2 are the degenerated primers for outer-PCR and nested-PCR respectively to amplify the 3'-cDNA end.

3.1.5. Preparation of DNA for cloning

Elution of DNA from agarose gel

DNA was eluted from an agarose gel by "Easy Pure, DNA Purification Kit" from Biozym. After PCR the amplified DNA was electrophoresed on an agarose gel. Desired DNA was selected by calculation of the molecular size. The DNA band was cut out as precise as possible. 50 μ l MELT solution and 450 μ l SALT solution from the kit were added to 100 mg of the cut gel fragment. The gel was completely melted by incubation at 55 °C. 7-9 μ l of well vortexed DNA-binding silicamatrix BIND was added to the melted gel suspension and the mixture was incubated at room temperature for 5-15 min. During incubation the mixture was frequently vortexed. The DNA-silicamatrix was obtained by centrifugation for 5 s and washed 2-3 times with 1 ml WASH solution. The DNA-matrix pellet was dried up with a Speed-vac connected with an oil vacuum pump. To elute DNA from the silicamatrix, 25 μ l TE buffer was added to the pellet and incubated at 55 °C for ca. 30 min. The DNA containing supernatant was obtained after centrifugation at room temperature for 10 min. For the elution of the rest DNA from the matrix, the last step could be repeated.

Refilling of dsDNA-ends with Klenow DNA polymerase

About 50 % of the amplified DNA with Taq/Pwo polymerase had an incomplete paired 3'-end with adenosine. This incomplete end of DNA was paired by incubation with Klenow DNA polymerase and nucleotide triphosphates at 37 °C for 30 min. The reaction was stopped by incubation at 72 °C for 10 min.

0.5 µl	2 mM dNTP	solution	
0.5 µl	4 U/µl Kleno	ow DNA poly	merase
2.5 µl	10 x incubat	ion buffer for	Klenow enzyme
22 µl	0.5-20 ng DI	NA	-
10 x incu	bation buffer:	0.5 M	Tris-Cl, pH 7.5
for Klenow	enzyme	6.7 mM	MgCl ₂
		10 mM	DTT
		0.5 %	BSA (w/v)

Phosphorylation of DNA

The 5'-end of DNA was phosphorylated to be ligated into a plasmid vector.

10-50 ng	DNA		
3.5 µl	10 x incubation b	uffer for T4 pol	ynucleotide kinase
2.63 µl	0.75 mM ATP	_	-
5.27 µl	1:10 diluted T4 pc	olynucleotide ki	nase
in total 23.	7 μ1	-	
10 x incu	bation buffer for:	500 mM	Tris-Cl, pH 8.3
T4 polynucleotide kinase		100 mM	MgCl ₂
		400 mM	KCl
		0.5 %	BSA (w/v)

The phosphorylation was performed by incubation with T4 polynucleotide kinase at 37 °C for 1 hr. The reaction was stopped by incubation at 70 °C for 10 min. The phosphorylated DNA was precipitated with ethanol and dissolved in TE buffer (see in 3.1.1.).

3.1.6. Preparation of vector plasmid for cloning

The plasmid, pBluescript KS- was used as vector. The simplified genetic map and the sequence of multiple cloning site (MCS) of the pBluescript KS +/- vector are presented in Fig. 4. Sites for variable restriction enzymes and for the sequencing primer (see 3.1.12) are indicated.


Fig. 4. The simplified genetic map of pBluescript KS +/- vector (A) and the sequence of its multiple cloning site (MCS) (B).

The sites for several restriction enzymes are presented in B. Site for the sequencing primer which was used in this dissertation (see in 3.1.12) is marked as arrows in A and B.

Dephosphorylation with shrimp alkaline phosphatase

The 5'-region of a vector DNA was dephosphorylated with shrimp phosphatase. The reaction mixture was incubated at 37 $^{\circ}$ C for 2 h.

2 µl	10 x incubation buffer for shrimp phosphatase		
1U	shrimp phosphatase		
10 pmol	plasmid DNA		
in total 20 µl			
10 x incuba	tion buffer:	200 mM	Tris-Cl, pH 8.0
for shrimp phe	osphatase	100 mM	MgCl ₂

The reaction was stopped by incubation at 65 °C for 10 min. The dephosphorylated plasmid was used for the ligation with inserted DNA.

3.1.7. Preparation of competent cells for electrotransformation

E. coli XL-1-Blue was cultivated in LB medium overnight. 4 ml of cultivated *E. coli* suspension was transferred in 400 ml of new LB medium and continuously grown up under shaking (250-350 rpm) in the absence of ampicillin till an $O.D_{.590} = 0.5$ -1.0. The cultivated bacterial suspension was transferred to a sterilized Falcon tube and cooled down on ice for 10 min. The bacterial pellet was obtained by centrifugation (6,000 rpm) at 4 °C for 10 min. The precipitated cells were suspended in 50 ml cold and sterilized D.W. and centrifuged at 4 °C for 10 min. The precipitated bacteria were cooled down to 0 °C and suspended in 25 ml cold D.W. *E. coli* was suspended in 1 ml of 10 % glycerol after centrifugation and transferred to Eppendorf cups in aliquots of 40 µl. After shock freezing by liquid nitrogen the cells were kept at -80 °C for several months.

3.1.8. Ligation of DNA with plasmid

The phosphorylated DNA (see in 3.1.5) and the dephosphorylated plasmid (see 3.1.6.) were ligated with T4 DNA ligase. The ratio of DNA:plasmid DNA in the ligation mixture was 1:2 (mol:mol).

ligation mixture:	x µl (1 2 µl 1 µl 1.5 µl 15.5-x	50 ng) μl	DNA (10 x in 1 U T4 50 % H D.W.	vector and inserted DNA) icubation buffer for T4 DNA ligase DNA ligase PEG 6000
10 x incubation buffe for T4 DNA ligase	r:	660 ml 0.1 M 100 ml 600 μM	M M M	Tris-Cl, pH 8.0 MgCl ₂ DTT ATP

The mixture was incubated at 16 °C for 16 h or at room temperature for 5-6 h.

3.1.9. Transfer of plasmid DNA into E. coli by electroporation

Electroporation was performed with "Gene pulser[®] II" from Bio-rad. The plates of LB agar medium (see in 3.1.1.) were warmed up to room temperature before using. An aliquot of frozen electrocompetent *E. coli* XL-1-Blue cells (see in 3.1.7.) was thawed up carefully on ice and mixed with 1.5 μ l ligated plasmid (see in 3.1.8). The mixture was transferred in the middle of metal contact plates of an electroporation cuvette which was precooled on ice. The cuvette was placed in the electroporation apparatus. 2.5 kV electric tension was applied to the cuvette. Statistically each one cell contains one plasmid. After the electric pulse, the *E. coli* was immediately transferred from the cuvette to 1 ml pre-warmed (37 °C) LB medium. The cell suspension was spreaded on a plate of LB agar medium by a spreader. The plate was incubated at 37 °C overnight. The cells containing plasmids grew as white colonies on the agar medium, in contrast cells which did not contain plasmids grew as blue colonies. The grown bacterial colonies were directly further cultivated in LB medium for the plasmid preparation (3.1.10.) or stored at 4 °C in the medium plate after tight sealing.

3.1.10. Rapid preparation of plasmid DNA by the TENS method

Plasmids were isolated from cultivated *E. coli* (see in 3.1.9.) by the TENS method. A white bacterial colony which contained plasmids was picked up from the agar medium plate and grown in 2 ml liquid medium at 37 °C overnight under vigorous shaking. 1.5 ml of cultivated cell

suspension was centrifuged for 15 min at 14,000 rpm. The supernatant was discarded after autoclaving. To lyse the cells the pellet was vortexed with 300 μ l TENS buffer for 2-5 s.

TENS buffer:	10 mM	Tris
	1 mM	EDTA
	0.1 M	NaOH
	0.5 %	SDS

150 μ l of 3 M Na-acetate, pH 5.2 was added to the viscous lysed suspension. The time interval between the lysation with TENS buffer and the addition of Na-acetate to the cell pellet should not be longer than 10 min, because long incubation with alkaline TENS buffer causes denaturation of plasmid DNA. The mixture was vortexed for 2-5 s and then centrifuged. The supernatant was transferred into a new cup and incubated with 900 μ l of 100 % ethanol which was stored at -20 °C. The precipitated plasmids were obtained after centrifugation for 30 min at 14,000 rpm. The pellet was rinsed 2 times with 1 ml of 70 % ethanol and dried up by a Speed-vac. The plasmid was dissolved in 30 μ l TE buffer and kept at – 20 °C.

3.1.11. Digestion of plasmid DNA with Pvu II

After purification, plasmids were digested with the restriction endonuclease Pvu II. Plasmids were incubated with Pvu II (0.5-1 μ g DNA/ 1 U enzyme) at 37 °C for 1-2 h.

2 µl	10 x incubation buffer for Pvu II		er for Pvu II	
2 µl	10 U/µ	ıl Pvu II		
x µl (20 µg DNA) 0.1-1.		.1-1.0 μg/μl DNA solution		
16-x μl	D.W.			
10 x incubation but	ffer:	100 mM	Tris-Cl, pH 7.5	
for Pvu II:		100 mM	MgSO ₄	
		500 mM	NaCl	
		10 mM	DTT	

The reaction was stopped by heat-denaturation at 72 °C for 15 min or by addition of 10 mM EDTA.

3.1.12. DNA sequencing

The plasmids, incubated with Pvu II, were electrophoresed on an agarose gel. The plasmids, ligated with desired DNA, were selected and used for sequencing PCR as templates.

To anneal the primer to the template plasmid DNA, plasmids were chemically denatured by incubation with NaOH at room temperature for 15 min and then neutralized with 7 μ l of 3 M Na-acetate, pH 4.8.

x µl (3.5 µg)	plasmid DNA
8 µl	2 M NaOH
32-x µl	D.W.

4 μ l of D.W. was added to the denatured plasmids. The plasmids were precipitated by overnight incubation with 120 μ l of ethanol at -20 °C. After centrifugation the precipitated plasmids were dried and dissolved in 4 μ l of D.W.

Sequencing PCR was performed with "ABI Prism dRhodamine Terminator Cycle Sequencing Ready Reaction Kit" from Perkin Elmer and the sequencing primer (see in Material): denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, annealing at 50 °C for 30 s, and elongation at 60 °C for 3 min, with 25 cycles. With dNTP and ddNTP, tagged with base specific fluorescence markers, DNA fragments of variable length were obtained, which were labeled at the 3'-end.

x μl	400-800 ng DNA
1 µl	5 pmol primer
2.5 μl	termination mixture
6.5-x μl	D.W.

For the precipitation of the amplified DNA the PCR mixture was mixed with 10 μ l TE buffer, and incubated with 50 μ l of 100 % ethanol and 2 μ l of 3 M Na-acetate, pH 5.2. After centrifugation at 14,000 rpm at 4 °C for 30 min, the pellet was washed 2 times with 70 % ethanol. The pellet was dried and dissolved in 30 μ l of Template Suppression Reagent (TSR) from the kit. The DNA in TSR was denatured at 95 °C for 5 min and analysed by "ABI PRISM 301 Genetic Analyzer" from Perkin Elmer.

3.2. Protein chemical methods

Cytochrome c oxidase was isolated either from mitochondria by the Triton X-100 method [Kadenbach et al., 1986] or from mitochondrial particles (Keilin-Hartree particles) by the cholate method [Yoshikawa et al., 1977 and 1988]. Purification was performed in a cold room. Equipments and buffers were placed on ice (0-4 °C) during the whole isolation procedure. To obtain phosphorylated cytochrome c oxidase, 10 mM KF (nonspecific inhibitor of protein

phosphatases) and 2 mM EGTA were included in all isolation buffers. In most cases the isolation of cytochrome c oxidase was performed by standard procedures (without KF and EGTA).

3.2.1. Isolation of mitochondria

isolation buffer for : heart, kidney, testis,	20 mM 250 mM 2 mM	Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 D(+)-saccharose
and lung	2 IIIIVI	EDIA
isolation buffer for: skeletal muscle	10 mM 110 mM 70 mM 100 mM 0.2 mM 0.2 mM 50 U/ml	Tris-HCl, pH 7.2 D(-)-mannitol D(+) saccharose KCl EDTA EGTA heparin

Bovine heart, kidney, testis, and lung were obtained from a slaughterhouse in Marburg and turkey heart, liver, and muscle were purchased from a butcher shop. The tissues were used directly for the isolation of mitochondria or kept at -80 °C for further preparation. In the latter cases, the frozen tissues were thawed up on ice overnight in a cold room for the isolation of mitochondria. The connective tissue and fat were removed from the tissue sample. The sample was cut into cubes (each about 5 cm) and minced by a meat grinder. The minced tissue was homogenized 3 times for 15 s (with 30 s intervals) with 5 volumes of isolation buffer by a commercial blender (from Krups). During homogenization, the pH of the homogenate was adjusted to pH 7.4 with unbuffered 2 M Tris. The homogenate was centrifuged at 650 g (2000 rpm, JA-10 rotor) for 10 min in a cooling centrifuge. The mitochondria containing supernatant was filtered through a cheese cloth to remove connective tissue. To obtain more mitochondria, the cell sediment was rehomogenized with isolation buffer and centrifuged as described above. After centrifugation of the combined supernatant at 16,300 g (10,000 rpm) for 20 min (Table 3), the mitochondrial pellet was obtained. The pellet was homogenized by a potter homogenizer with isolation buffer. To remove actin and myosin, which are easily coprecipitated with muscle mitochondria, the mitochondrial suspension was centrifuged at 370 g (1,500 rpm, JA-10 rotor) for 5 min. The pellet was discarded and the supernatant was transferred into a new tube. Mitochondria were obtained after centrifugation at 16,300 g. The mitochondrial fraction was washed 2-3 times by centrifugation with isolation buffer. The mitochondrial pellet was homogenized in a small amount of isolation buffer. The mitochondrial suspension was either

directly used for purification of cytochrome c oxidase by a Triton X-100 method or stored at -80 $^{\circ}$ C.

Table 3.	Centrifugation conditions for isola	tion of mitochondria	a from various	tissues (R	CF
= relative	e centrifugal force).				

Tissues	Sediment	RCF (g)	Speed (rpm)	t (min)
Ucort	cell fragments	650	2,000	10
Heart	mitochondria	16,300	10,000	20
Musala	cell fragments	370	1,500	10
Muscle	mitochondria	19,700	11,000	20
Linon	cell fragments	650	2,000	10
Liver	mitochondria	16,300	10,000	20

3.2.2. Purification of cytochrome c oxidase by the Triton X-100 method

Cytochrome c oxidase was purified from isolated mitochondria using the nonionic detergents Triton X-114 and Triton X-100, followed by DEAE-Sephacel chromatography, exchange of the nonionic detergent by cholate, and fractionated precipitation with ammonium sulfate (AmSO₄) [Kadenbach et al., 1986].

phosphate-stock solution:	1 M	KPi, pH 7.4
Triton X-114:	20 %	Triton X-114 (w/v)
washing buffer:	200 mM	KPi, pH 7.4
extraction buffer:	200 mM 5 %	KPi, pH 7.4 Triton X-100 (w/v)
equilibration buffer:	50 mM 0.1 %	KPi, pH 7.4 Triton X-100 (w/v)
elution buffer:	200 mM 0.1 %	KPi, pH 7.4 Triton X-100 (w/v)
AmSO ₄ solution:	saturated and with concentr	buffered to pH 7.4 ated NH ₄ OH at 4°C
anion column chromatography: DEAE-Sephacel		

Extraction by Triton X-114 and Triton X-100

To the mitochondrial suspension (20 mg protein/ml) the phosphate stock solution was added to a final concentration of 200 mM under stirring. Heart mitochondria were solubilized by adding 2 ml of 20 % Triton X-114 and the suspension was incubated for 15 min under stirring. For the mitochondria from liver, kidney, testis, and lung 1 ml of Triton X-114 was applied. Solubilized mitochondria were ultracentrifuged at 250,000 g (48,000 rpm, 60 Ti rotor) for 30 min. The heme aa₃ content of the supernatant was determined with a spectrophotometer (difference spectrum, 3.2.1.4.). Normally no heme aa₃ was detected in the supernatant after Triton X-114 treatment. The cytochrome c oxidase pellet was washed with washing buffer using a potter homogenizer and centrifuged. Cytochrome c oxidase in the pellet was dissolved with Triton X-100 extraction buffer. After centrifugation at 250,000 g (48,000 rpm, 60 Ti rotor) for 20 min a green supernatant (dark brown at high enzyme concentration) was obtained. The heme aa₃ content of the supernatant spectrophotometrically. The extraction step was repeated until all heme aa₃ was extracted from the sediment.

DEAE-Sephacel anion exchange chromatography

The enzyme containing supernatant was 1:4 (v/v) diluted with D.W. and loaded on a preequilibrated DEAE-Sephacel column. Unbound proteins were washed out with two column volumes of equilibration buffer. Cytochrome c oxidase was eluted with elution buffer and fractionated into portions of ca. 2 ml. The green fractions, containing enzyme were combined.

Purification of cytochrome c oxidase by fractionated ammonium sulfate precipitation

1.5 % (w/v) Na-cholate was dissolved in the combined green column fractions and the pH was adjusted to pH 7.4 with 1 N NaOH by pH paper. Saturated ammonium sulfate (AmSO₄) solution was added drop by drop under stirring until a saturation of 28 % was reached and the pH was readjusted. Readjustment of pH was required whenever AmSO₄ was added. The solution was stirred overnight (at least longer than 14 h) and centrifuged for 15 min at 27,000 g (15,000 rpm, JA-20 rotor). AmSO₄ was added to the supernatant to 37 % saturation, stirred for 30 min and centrifuged. Further fractionations were done with 42 % and 46 % AmSO₄ (and 55 % for the lung enzyme). The precipitated proteins (at 28 %, 37 %, 42 %, 46 %, and 55 % AmSO₄ saturation) were dissolved in small amounts of mitochondrial isolation buffer and kept at -80 °C.

3.2.3. Isolation of cytochrome c oxidase by the cholate method

Cytochrome c oxidase from bovine heart was also isolated from Keilin-Hartree particles in the presence of cholate according to Yoshikawa et al. [1977 and 1988].

Isolation of Keilin-Hartree particles

800 g of fresh bovine heart from the slaughterhouse, or of frozen heart which was kept at -80 °C, was cut into 6 pieces. One piece (ca. 130 g) of tissue was homogenized with 100 ml buffer I and 750 ml water/ice by a commercial blender at maximal speed for 10 min.

buffer I:	200 mM	NaPi, pH 7.4
buffer II:	20 mM	NaPi, pH 7.4
buffer III:	100 mM	NaPi, pH 7.4

The homogenate was centrifuged at 4,500 rpm (JA-10 rotor) for 10 min. The supernatants were collected and the pellet was resuspended with buffer II in a final volume of 750 ml and centrifuged at 4,500 rpm for 10 min. The supernatants were combined and the pH was adjusted to pH 5.15-5.2 with 30 % acetic acid. After centrifugation at 4,500 rpm for 25 min, precipitated mitochondrial fragments (Keilin-Hartree particles) were obtained. The pellet was washed with 3 1 of D.W. and centrifuged at 55,000 rpm (JA-10 rotor) for 20 min. The mitochondrial fragments were suspended in buffer III to a protein concentration of 30 mg/ml. In general, a suspension of 340 ml mitochondrial fragments (30 mg/ml) was obtained from 800 g bovine heart.

Isolation of cytochrome c oxidase

Whenever proteins were precipitated by addition of ammonium sulfate, the pH of the suspension was adjusted to pH 7.2-7.4 with NaOH using a pH electrode under continuous stirring.

buffer IV:40 %
100 mMNa-cholate (w/v)
NaPi, pH 7.4buffer V:2 %
100 mMNa-cholate (w/v)
NaPi, pH 7.4

buffer VI:	0.5 % 100 mM	Na-cholate (w/v) NaPi, pH 7.4
buffer VII:	0.34 % 100 mM	Brij 35 (w/v) NaPi, pH 7.4
buffer VIII:	0.21 % 100 mM	Brij 35 (w/v) NaPi, pH 7.4
buffer VIIII:	10 mM	NaPi, pH 7.4

29.6 ml of buffer IV (3.2 % final concentration of cholate) was added to 340 ml of the mitochondrial fragment suspension and $AmSO_4$ (powder) was immediately added to a final saturation of 33 %. After 30 min incubation, the suspension was centrifuged at 11,000 rpm (JA-20 rotor) for 10 min. $AmSO_4$ was added to the supernatant to 50 % saturation, incubated for 10 min, and centrifuged for 10 min at 11,000 rpm. The pellet from 50 % $AmSO_4$ precipitation was dissolved in buffer V to a final volume of 200 ml and fractionated again with $AmSO_4$. The suspension was incubated with $AmSO_4$ for 10 min (for 35 % and 55 % $AmSO_4$ saturation) and for 30 min (for 25 % $AmSO_4$ saturation). The scheme of fractionation with $AmSO_4$ is presented below (COX = cytochrome c oxidase).

Methods

Detergent (buffer)	Final concentration of AmSO ₄		Total volume
2 % Na-cholate (buffer IV)			200 ml
	25 %		
	COX in supernatant		_
		50 %	
		COX in pellet	
0.5 % Na-cholate (buffer V)			200 ml
	25 %		
	COX in supernatant		
		35 %	
		COX in pellet	
0.5 % Na-cholate (buffer V)			135 ml
	25 %		
	COX in supernatant		
		35 %	
		COX in pellet	
0.34 % Brij 35 (buffer VI)			200 ml
	25 %		
	COX in supernatant		
		35 %	
		COX in pellet	
0.21 % Brij 35 (buffer VII)			200 ml

Standing overnight at 4 °C

	25 %		
	COX in supernatant		
		35 %	
		COX in pellet	
0.21 % Brij 35 (buffer VIII)			135 ml
	25 %		
	COX in supernatant		
		33 %	
		COX in pellet	

The final precipitated pellet was dissolved in buffer VIIII as concentrated as possible and dialysed overnight against the same buffer at 4 °C to remove excess detergent. The dialysed cytochrome c oxidase was centrifuged at 19,000 rpm for 20 min and stored at -80 °C after shock freezing with liquid nitrogen.

3.2.4. Spectrophotometric determination of cytochrome concentrations

Difference spectrum

The concentration of heme aa_3 in turbid enzyme solutions or in solubilized mitochondria was calculated from the difference spectrum between air-oxidized and dithionite-reduced enzyme with a spectrophotometer (Uvikon 940, Kontron Instruments, Offenbach). The applied extinction coefficient for cytochrome aa_3 was $\varepsilon_{605-630 \text{ nm (red-ox)}} = 24 \text{ mM}^{-1} \cdot \text{cm}^{-1}$ [von Jagow and Klingenberg, 1972; Büge and Kadenbach, 1986].

measuring buffer:	200 mM	KPi, pH 7.2
	5 %	Triton X-100 (w/v)
		stored at 4 °C

50 µl sample was dissolved in the measuring buffer and incubated for ca 3 min. To remove turbid particles a brief centrifugation was followed. The supernatant was distributed in two quartz cuvettes and the baseline was recorded. A few grains of sodium dithionite were added to the sample cuvette and mixed well. After 2-3 min the difference spectrum was recorded.

Absolute spectrum

The purity and concentration of isolated cytochrome c oxidase were determined from the absolute spectra of air-oxidized and sodium dithionite-reduced enzyme. The value of the ratio E_{280}/E_{420} of the oxidized enzyme was a parameter of its purity [Kadenbach et al., 1986]. The lower value means the purer enzyme.

measuring buffer:	200 mM	KPi, pH 7.2
	2 %	Na-cholate (w/v)
	0.5 %	Na-deoxycholate (w/v)
		kept at 4 °C

The baseline of the spectrophotometer was measured. The air-oxidized spectrum of 1:100 diluted cytochrome c oxidase was measured from 250 to 650 nm against the buffer in the reference cuvette. A few grains of sodium dithionite were added to the sample cuvette, and the reduced spectrum was measured after 2-3 min incubation. The following extinction coefficients were applied.

cytochrome aa ₃ :	ε _{605-630 nm (red-ox)} [von Jagow and F	= Clin	$24 \text{ mM}^{-1} \cdot \text{cm}^{-1}$ genberg, 1972]
	E605-650 nm (red)	=	$40 \text{ mM}^{-1} \cdot \text{cm}^{-1}$
	E421-490 mm (red)	=	$140 \text{ mM}^{-1} \cdot \text{cm}^{-1}$
	ε _{443-490 mm (red-ox)} [Wikström et al.	= , 19	204 mM ⁻¹ · cm ⁻¹ 81]
cytochrome c:	ε _{550 nm (red-ox)} [Papa et al., 1983]	=	$21 \text{ mM}^{-1} \cdot \text{cm}^{-1}$

3.2.5. Determination of protein concentration

A modified biuret method [Kadenbach, 1966] was applied to determine high amounts of protein (from 0.1 to 5 mg), in particular for mitochondrial suspensions.

biuret reagent :	1.5 g	$CuSO_4 \cdot 5 H_2O$
	4.5 g	potassium sodium tartrate
	4.0 g	NaOH
	2.5 g	KI
	dissolved	in 500 ml D.W. and stored at room temperature in the dark

The protein sample was diluted with D.W. to a final volume of 2 ml and 200 μ l 3 M trichloroacetic acid (TCA) was added. After incubation for at least 30 min at room temperature, the suspension was centrifuged at 250 g (1500 rpm, Biofuge 13 from Heraeus Christ) for 10 min. The pellet was dissolved in 2 ml biuret reagent and incubated for further 15 min. After dilution with 2 ml D.W. the absorbance of the sample was measured at 546 nm before (E₀) and after (E_{KCN}) addition of solid KCN in an Eppendorf photometer (Photometer 1101M) with a 2 cm cuvette. The protein concentration was calculated as follows:

 $(E_0 - E_{KCN}) \cdot 7 = mg \text{ protein} / 200 \ \mu l \text{ sample}$

Methods

3.2.6. SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS –PAGE)

The polypeptide pattern of cytochrome c oxidase was examined by SDS-PAGE according to Kadenbach et al. [1983]. The applied system uses 18 % acrylamide and high amounts of urea (6 M) in the separation gel, like that for DNA sequencing.

<buffers></buffers>		
acrylamide solution:	50 % 1.3 %	acrylamide (w/v) N, N'-methylenbisacrylamide (w/v)
separation gel buffer:	0.75 M 7.2 M 0.2 %	Tris-HCl, pH 8.3 urea SDS
stacking gel buffer:	0.125 M 0.125 %	Tris-HCl, pH 6.8 SDS (w/v)
electrophoresis buffer:	25 mM 192 mM 0.1 %	Tris glycine SDS (w/v)
staining solution:	0.25 % 10 % 30 %	Coomassie Brilliant Blue R250 (w/v) acetic acid (v/v) isopropanol (v/v)
destaining solution:	7.5 % 5 %	acetic acid (v/v) ethanol (v/v)
<gels> separation gel: 18 % acrylamide (w/v)</gels>	2.9 g 7.5 ml 10 ml 50 μl 10 μl	urea acrylamide solution separation gel buffer 8.3 % ammonium peroxidisulfate solution TEMED
stacking gel: 10 % acrylamide (w/v)	2 ml 4 ml 25 μl 5 μl	acrylamide solution stacking gel buffer 8.3 % ammonium peroxidisulfate solution TEMED
sample buffer for COX:	62.5 mM 20 % 2-8 % 0.01 % 5 %	Tris-Cl, pH 6.8 glycerol (w/v) SDS (w/v) bromophenol blue (w/v) β-mercaptoethanol (v/v)

41

20-40 μ g enzyme was denatured with 10-20 μ l of sample buffer at room temperature for 2 h under shaking. The readjustment of pH of separation gel buffer was necessary for each gel preparation to get a good resolution. A gel size of 230 x 160 x 0.75 mm (length x width x thickness) was used, because longer gels have in general a better resolution power. Polymerization of the acrylamide gel was started by addition of ammonium peroxidisulfate and TEMED. The stacking gel was molded on the separation gel and a comb was positioned in it. After polymerization (for ca. 90 min) the comb was removed from the gel and wells were rinsed with electrophoresis buffer. The denatured enzyme samples were loaded in the wells and the electrophoresis was run. For better separation electrophoresis was first run for 45 min at low voltage (90 V), followed by separation overnight at 235 V.

Staining of protein bands with Coomassie Blue

Staining and destaining of gels was done at room temperature under shaking. Gels were taken from the apparatus and gently rinsed with D.W. to remove remaining urea. They were soaked in staining buffer and stained for 1 h. Then gels were carefully washed with D.W. and destained overnight under slow shaking in destaining buffer until the protein bands were clearly distinguished from the background.

staining buffer:	10 % 30 % 0.25 %	acetic acid (v/v) isopropanol (v/v) Coomassie Brilliant Blue R250 (w/v) stored after filtration
destaining buffer:	5 % 4.5 %	ethanol (v/v) acetic acid (v/v)

3.2.7. Labelling of SH-groups in cytochrome c oxidase with DACM

With the fluorescence thiol reagent DACM (N-(7-dimethylamino-4-methyl-3coumarinyl) maleinimide) SH-groups in proteins can be detected in a pmol range (Yamamoto et al., 1977). The adduct of DACM to cysteine residues of proteins exhibits a fluorescence if illuminated under UV light (Fig. 5). Cytochrome c oxidase was solubilized in 1.5 % Na-cholate, 50 mM KPi, pH 7.4, and reduced with 25 mM DTE at room temperature for 1 h. The reduced enzyme was precipitated with AmSO₄. The enzyme pellet was dissolved in 20 μ l sample buffer for electrophoresis at a final concentration of 20 μ M. 1 mM DACM, dissolved in aceton, was added (50 times excess to enzyme) to the enzyme suspension. The enzyme was denatured at room temperature for 2 h under shaking and electrophoresed. After SDS-PAGE, the gel was fixed with destaining buffer for SDS-PAGE and photographed under UV light (at 302 nm).



Fig. 5. Chemical structures of DACM and its adducts

3.2.8. Electroblotting of proteins onto nitrocellulose and PVDF membrane

For N-terminal amino acid sequencing and Western Blot analysis, the polypeptides of a gel separated by SDS-PAGE, were transferred onto PVDF or nitrocellulose (Nitrocellulose Protran Cellulosenitrat) membranes by "semi-dry-blotting" at room temperature [Eckerskorn et al., 1988]. For N-terminal amino acid sequencing special care had to be taken to avoid contamination by other proteins and amino acids like glycine which exists everywhere. PVDF membranes (ProblotTM PVDF-Membran, Applied Biosystems, Weiterstadt) were prefered for N-terminal amino acid sequencing of small amounts of protein, since its hydrophobicity prevented blotting-through of proteins, and because more protein is bound after prolonged transfer time,

compared to nitrocellulose. For electroblotting the apparatus "Pegasus Semi-Dry-Blot" with plate electrodes from glass carbon was used [Kyhse-Andersen, 1984].

 buffers for nitrocellulose m	embranes>	
cathode buffer:	25 mM	Tris
	40 mM	α -amino caproic acid
	20 %	methanol (v/v)
anode buffer I:	30 mM	Tris
	20 %	methanol (v/v)
anode buffer II:	300 mM	Tris
	20 %	methanol (v/v)
 buffers for PVDF membra	nes>	
anode buffer:	50 mM	Na-borate, pH 9.0
	20 %	methanol (v/v)
cathode buffer	50 mM	Na-borate, pH 9.0
	5 %	methanol (v/v)

PVDF membranes were washed in methanol for a short time (20 s) to obtain complete wetting of the membrane for soaking with buffer. The remaining methanol was removed by 20 min washing with anode buffer including 3 times change of the buffer. The nitrocellulose membrane was wetted in anode buffer I. The electrophoresed gel was cut into the size of the membrane and shortly washed with D.W., as was done with the plate electrodes of the blotting apparatus. In the so-called "sandwich" procedure was placed above the cathode plate successively: 5 blotting papers, soaked in cathode buffer I, the gel, the nitrocellulose membrane, soaked in anode buffer I, and finally 5 papers soaked in anode buffer II. For blotting onto PVDF membranes only one anode buffer was used. Air bubbles in the "sandwich" were removed by rolling a glass rod under pressure. Finally the cathode plate was put on top of the sandwich and a weight of 2 kg was added. The transfer time was 30-60 min for nitrocellulose membranes and about 5 h for PVDF membranes at 370-410 A/gel (ca. 1 mA/cm²) [Eckerskorn et al., 1988].

Staining with amido black and Coomassie Blue

After blotting, the transfer of proteins on nitrocellulose membranes was controlled by reversible staining with amido black [Kadenbach et al., 1990]. The membranes were stained for 3-5 min in staining buffer I. Destaining was done with D.W. The membranes were directly used for immunodetection with antibodies or stored at 4 °C in wet. For permanent staining of PVDF

membranes with Coomassie Blue, the membranes were put for 1-2 min into staining buffer II after blotting. For destaining the membranes were first washed with D.W. and then several times with 50 % methanol (v/v) until the bands were clearly distinct from the background. In order to remove remnants of urea and glycine, the stained membranes were washed at 4 °C for 24 h in excess D.W. Afterwords the interested bands were cut out and sent for N-terminal amino acid sequencing.

staining solution I:	0.025 % 22 % 7.5 %	amido black 10B(w/v) ethanol (v/v) acetic acid (v/v)
staining solution II:	0.1 % 30 % 10 %	Coomassie Brillant Blue R250 (w/v) isopropanol (v/v) acetic acid (v/v)
destaining solution:	50 %	methanol (v/v)

3.2.9. N-terminal and internal amino acid sequencing

To determine the primary structure of a protein the "Edman-degradation" with an automatic protein sequencer was performed [Edman and Begg, 1967]. The N-terminal amino acid is reacted with phenylisothiocyanate. From the formed phenylthiocarbamoyl derivative the cyclic phenylthiohydantoin- (PTH) derivative of the N-terminal amino acid is cleaved off under mildly acidic conditions. The one amino acid shortened peptide is then reacted for the same cycle. To assure no loss of the peptide during the reagent changes, the peptide is immobilized on a hydrophobic membrane. After each cycle of about 20 min the cleaved PTH-amino acid is washed off and identified by its retention time during combined HPLC, so that the sequence of cycles and the registration of the HPLC chromatogram is computer programmed. For N-terminal sequencing of cytochrome c oxidase subunits, blotted on PVDF membranes, the amino acid sequencer model 477 A (Applied Biosystems, Weiterstadt) was used and performed by Dr. D. Linder, Biochemisches Institut, Klinikum, Universität Gießen and by Prof. F. Lottspeich, MPI für Biochemie, Martinsried.

For internal amino acid sequencing, the gel after SDS-PAGE was stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue (staining buffer II). Destaining was done only with 10 % acetic acid (v/v), since methanol inhibits the analysis of internal amino acid sequences. The desired protein band was excised from the gel and soaked in D.W. to remove urea and excess glycine. The gel band was sent to and analyzed by Prof. F. Lottspeich, MPI für Biochemie, Martinsried. The gel band was incubated with trypsin which cleaves a protein at the carboxyl end of lysine and arginine residues. The cleaved peptide fragments were eluted from the gel and separated by HPLC, and either the mass of individual peptides was determined by MALDI-TOF, or the N-terminal amino acid sequence was determined [Eckerskorn and Lottspeich, 1989].

3.3. Measurement of cytochrome c oxidase activity

3.3.1. Preparation of ferri- and ferro-cytochrome c solutions

Ferrocytochrome c solutions were prepared for proton translocation measurements. 40-50 mg of cytochrome c from horse heart (Sigma) were dissolved in measuring buffer for proton translocation and reduced with sodium dithionite. Excess reductant was removed by gel chromatography on Sephadex G-25 (Pharmacia) which was equilibrated with the same buffer.

measuring buffer:	1 mM	K-Hepes, pH 7.2
for proton translocation	100 mM	choline-Cl
-	5 mM	KCl

The concentration of ferrocytochrome c was determined by the difference spectrum at 550 nm before and after addition of K-hexacyanoferrat-(III). $\varepsilon_{550 \text{ nm (red-ox)}} = 21 \text{ mM}^{-1} \cdot \text{cm}^{-1}$. The reduced cytochrome c solution was freshly prepared for each measurement.

For respiration measurements of solubilized and reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase, ferri-cytochrome c solutions were prepared. Cytochrome c was dissolved in D.W. and the exact concentration was determined by a spectrophotometer.

3.3.2. Purification of asolectin and XAD-2

Asolection (L- α -phosphatidylcholine, type IV-S from soyabean, Sigma) was purified to eliminate oxidized products [Kagawa and Racker, 1971]. 5 g asolectin were dissolved in 100 ml pure aceton, stirred at 4 °C for 48 h and filtrated. The undissolved remnant was washed with aceton and dissolved in 20 ml diethylether. The suspension was filtrated again. The solvent of the clear solution was evaporated by a rotavapor and the asolectin was obtained in solid form. The purified asolectin was kept at -20 °C under argon gas.

Methods

XAD-2 was purified before use. 5 g Amberlite XAD-2 from Serva was mixed with 100 ml of 10 mM NaCl, 100 mM Na₂CO₃ and stirred at room temperature for 15 min at low speed [Müller et al., 1986]. XAD-2 beads were filtrated and washed with 1 l of D.W. The beads were further stirred in 100 ml methanol for 15 min. Again the XAD-2 was filtrated and washed with 1 l D.W. This washing step was repeated. The purified XAD-2 was kept at 4 °C in D.W.

3.3.3. Preparation of cytochrome c oxidase with regulatory properties

For the preparation of cytochrome c oxidase with regulatory properties, the 10 bound cholate molecules of the isolated enzyme [Napiwotzki et al., 1997 and 1998] had to be exchanged by nucleotides and cardiolipin had to be added [Arnold and Kadenbach, 1997]. The ethanol of cardiolipin (5 mg/ml in ethanol, Fluka) was evaporated by N₂ gas. 1 % cardiolipin (w/v) was dissolved in solubilization buffer containing 0.5 mM ATP. 3 μ M cytochrome c oxidase were dissolved in cardiolipin containing solubilization buffer.

solubilization buffer:	50 mM	KPi, pH 7.4
	1 %	Tween 20 (w/v)
	1 mM	EDTA

To remove the bound cholate from the nucleotide binding sites of cytochrome c oxidase the enzyme suspension was dialysed against 400 volumes of solubilization buffer in the presence of 0.5 mM ATP at 4 °C for 4 h. The buffer was changed and dialysis was continued overnight.

3.3.4. Reconstitution of cytochrome c oxidase for activity measurements

reconstitution buffer I:	10 mM	K-Hepes, pH 7.4
	40 mM	KCl
	1.5 %	Na-cholate (w/v)

Cytochrome c oxidase was reconstituted in asolectin vesicles using the hydrophobic Amberlite XAD-2. 40 mg/ml asolectin lipids, containing 5 % cardiolipin, were sonicated with reconstitution buffer I several times for 1 min with 2 min intervals (ca. 25 % output, Branson Sonifier) until the asolectin was dissolved, i.e. the suspension became clear. The asolectin suspension was put in an ice bath during sonication to avoid heating up. Then 5 μ M cytochrome c oxidase and 5 mM ATP or 5 mM ADP were mixed with the asolectin suspension. The

detergent (cholate) was removed by incubation with XAD-2 (100 mg/ml) at 4 °C for 22 h under shaking [Shechter and Bloch, 1971].

3.3.5. Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase

To investigate the effect of phosphorylation on the enzyme activity, cytochrome c oxidase was incubated with cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA) and ATP. The solubilized and reconstituted enzyme were incubated at 30 °C for 20 min and at 37 °C for 40 min, respectively, with 50 μ M cAMP, 300 U/ml PKA, and an ATP-regenerating system (10 mM K-phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP), 2 U/ml pyruvate kinase (PK), 5 mM MgSO₄). For the time dependency of phosphorylation on enzyme activity, the solubilized enzyme was incubated at 30 °C for 0-60 min.

Solubilized cytochrome c oxidase (final concentration 2.5 μ M) was dephosphorylated by incubation with 500 U/ml catalytic subunit of protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) and 100 mM MnCl₂. Dephosphorylation was performed either with the enzyme isolated in the presence of 10 mM KF and 2 mM EGTA, or with enzymes isolated in the absence of KF and EGTA but afterward phosphorylated by incubation with PKA.

3.3.6. Measurement of enzyme activity by the polarographical method

Oxygen uptake was measured polarographically with a Clark-type electrode [Kielly, 1963; Ferguson-Miller et al., 1978] in a closed system at 25 °C. At 700 mV the following chemical reactions occur at the electrodes:

cathode: $O_2 + 2 H^+ + 4 e^- \longrightarrow 2 OH^$ anode: $4 Ag + 2 OH^- \longrightarrow 2 Ag_2O + 2 H^+ + 4 e^-$

The measured current corresponds to the oxygen concentration in the measuring cell. To calibrate the electrode, the measuring cell was filled with oxygen saturated deionized water of 25 °C. Corresponding calibration was done with measuring buffer. The calculation of oxygen content in water was based on Gmelin [1958], that of the measuring buffer by correlation of the currents measured in water and measuring buffer. The time dependent changes of the current was documented by a recorder. The turnover number (TN) of cytochrome c oxidase was defined as:

TN = $\frac{\text{consumed oxygen (1/4 O_2) (\mu M)}}{\text{concentration of heme aa}_{3}, (\mu M) \cdot \text{time (s)}}$

The ascorbate respiration of cytochrome c oxidase (final concentration 50-150 nM heme aa_3) was measured at increasing cytochrome c concentrations (0-20 μ M). Respiratory control ratios (RCR) were determined at a constant concentration of cytochrome c (10 μ M). The calculation of all kinetic measurements and the graphical presentation were done using the program "Origin 5.0".

Activity measurement of cytochrome c oxidase with regulatory properties

The activity of cytochrome c oxidase with regulatory properties (solubilized enzyme) (final concentration 150 nM), was measured with 18 mM K-ascorbate, 5 mM ATP or 5 mM ADP in 50 mM KPi, pH 7.4, 1 % Tween-20, 1 mM EDTA at increasing concentrations of cytochrome c. If indicated, an ATP-regenerating system (10 mM PEP, 2 U/ml PK, and 5 mM MgSO₄) was included for keeping maximal ATP/ADP-ratios, since already 2 % of ADP completely released the allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase [Arnold and Kadenbach, 1997]. If mentioned, 0.7 mM N,N,N',N'-tetramethyl-p-phenylenediamine-hydrochloride (TMPD), an electron carrier between ascorbate and cytochrome c, was added during measurement.

Activity measurement of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase

Proteoliposomes (50 nM heme aa_3) were suspended in 10 mM K-Hepes, pH 7.4, 40 mM KCl. With 18 mM K-ascorbate, and 5 mM ATP or 5 mM ADP, the oxygen consumption was measured at increasing concentrations of cytochrome c. For the uncoupled respiration, 1 μ M valinomycin and 3 μ M CCCP were added into the measuring vessel before titration with cytochrome c.

Determination of respiratory control ratio (RCR)

RCRs of proteoliposomes were calculated from the ratios of respiration rates under uncoupled and coupled conditions. Proteoliposomes (50 nM heme aa_3) were suspended in 10 mM K-Hepes, pH 7.4, 40 mM KCl with 18 mM K-ascorbate, 5 mM ATP or 5 mM ADP. The oxygen consumption was measured at 10 μ M cytochrome c in the presence (uncoupled) and

absence (coupled) of 1 μ M valinomycin and 3 μ M CCCP (carbonylcyanide m-chlorophenylhydrazone).

RCR = respiration in the presence of uncoupler - basal respiration respiration in the absence of uncoupler - basal respiration

3.4. Measurement of proton translocation

3.4.1. Reconstitution of cytochrome c oxidase for proton translocation measurements

For measurement of proton translocation in cytochrome c oxidase proteoliposomes, high buffer capacity inside and low buffer capacity outside of the vesicles are required.

reconstitution buffer II:	100 mM 1.5 % 10 %	K-Hepes, pH 7.2 Na-cholate DTE
dialysis buffer I:	10 mM 27 mM 73 mM 0.5 %	K-Hepes, pH 7.2 KCl saccharose DTE
dialysis buffer II:	1 mM 30 mM 79 mM 0.5 mM	K-Hepes, pH 7.2 KCl saccharose DTE

The enzyme was reconstituted in asolectin vesicles according to Frank and Kadenbach [1996]. 3 μ M cytochrome c oxidase containing proteoliposomes were prepared with reconstitution buffer II as described under 3.3.4. If not otherwise indicated, 1 % (0.4 mg/ml) cardiolipin was added before sonication. To investigate its effect on proton translocation of cytochrome c oxidase, 0-1.5 % 3-palmitoyl-sn-glycerol was added before sonication in the presence and absence of 1 % cardiolipin. After reconstitution the proteoliposomes were dialysed against 400 volumes of dialysis buffer I at 4 °C for 4 h, followed by overnight dialysis against 400 volumes of dialysis buffer II, in order to decrease the buffer capacity outside of the proteoliposomes.

3.4.2. Proton translocation measurements using a pH electrode

The H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase was measured by the reductant-pulse method. Into a thermostatic (25 °C) open vessel, stirred mechanically from the top, was given 1.4 ml 1 mM K-Hepes, pH 7.2, 100 mM choline-Cl, 5 mM KCl. After addition of 80 μ l proteoliposomes (0.2 μ M heme aa₃) and 1 μ g/ml valinomycin, the pH of the measuring system was adjusted to the pH of the ferrocytochrome c solution with a microcombination pH electrode (InLab®423, Mettler Toledo) connected to a Beckman Expandometric IV pH meter. After addition of 4.9-7.6 nmol ferrocytochrome c (8 enzyme turnover), the pH changes were recorded. The redox-linked pH changes, elicited by pulses of ferrocytochrome c, were calibrated with small aliquots (2-3 μ l) of 10 mM HCl. The alkalinization due to water formation was measured in the presence of 3 μ M CCCP. For calculation of H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometries, the peak of acidification after addition of ferrocytochrome c was used [Frank and Kadenbach, 1996].

For investigation of the effects of fatty acids and their derivates on proton translocation of cytochrome c oxidase, they were preincubated at 4 °C for 30 min (0-75 min for palmitate) with the proteoliposomal suspension. Before measurement, the temperature of the mixture was adjusted for 5 min at 25 °C. Because of their low solubilities, the Na-salts of fatty acids were dissolved in alkaline solvent at high temperature. Laurate (C12), myristate (C14), palmitate (C16), stearate (C18), oleate (C18-1, Δ^9) were dissolved in hot 1 mM NaOH. The solutions of cetylalcohol (1-hexadecanol) and palmitoyl CoA were prepared in ethanol and in D.W., respectively.

3.4.3. Proton translocation measurement using a stopped-flow spectrophotometer

Proton pumping experiments using a stopped-flow spectrophotometer [Sarti et al., 1985a] were performed in collaboration with Maarten Ruitenberg in the group of Prof. K. Fendler, MPI of Biophysics, Department of Biophysical Chemistry, Frankfurt/Main. The proteoliposome suspension (750 nM heme aa₃, 12.5 μ M valinomycin, and 85.7 μ M phenol red) was mixed with 31.25 μ M reduced cytochrome c (ca. 10 TN) by pressure in a thermostatic chamber. The absorbance changes of phenol red were measured in the presence and absence of 6 μ M CCCP at 555.6 nm, a wavelength that was strictly isosbestic for the respective cytochromes. As a control, the change of the absorbance with oxidized cytochrome c was measured. The pH of all solutions used in the experiments was carefully adjusted to pH 7.300, not to give any absorbance changes unconnected with the enzymatic reduction. Calibration of the observed signal was performed by

the change in absorbance of trypsin-catalyzed hydrolysis of N- α -tosyl-L-arginyl-O-methyl ester (TAME, Sigma) as described by Sarti et al. [1985b]. TAME is hydrolyzed by trypsin as follows:

 $RCOOCH_3 + 2 H_2O \xrightarrow{\text{trypsin}} RCOO^- + CH_3OH + H_2O + H^+$

3.4.4. Proton conductivity measurement of proteoliposomes

The K⁺ diffusion potential-driven proton conductivity of liposomes was measured with a pH electrode as described [Papa et al., 1987; Steverding and Kadenbach, 1990]. 80 μ l of cytochrome c oxidase vesicles containing inside 100 mM K-Hepes were suspended in measuring buffer for proton translocation (1 mM K-Hepes, pH 7.2, 100 mM choline-Cl and 5 mM KCl) to a final volume of 1.4 ml. This resulted in a potassium ion gradient of about 100 mM inside and 8 mM outside of the vesicles. By addition of 1 μ M valinomycin potassium ions move from the inside of the vesicles to the outside driven by the concentration gradient. A steeper increase of pH change after addition of valinomycin indicated a higher proton conductivity. The system was calibrated with 2 μ l of 10 mM HCl.

3.5. Immunochemical methods

Colorimetric detection of immunoreactivity in Western Blots using alkaline phosphatase

The sequence of manipulations for immunochemical detection with alkaline phosphatase [DeBlas and Cherwinski, 1983; Blake et al., 1984] is the following:

- 1. separation of protein samples by SDS-PAGE
- 2. protein transfer on nitrocellulose
- 3. blocking of the membrane with 1 % BSA (w/v)
- 4. incubation with primary antibody
- 5. incubation with alkaline phosphatase conjugated secondary antibody
- 6. color detection by NBT and BCIP

Western Blot analysis is based on an antigen-antibody reaction. The primary antibody and the secondary antibody recognize and bind to the antigen protein and the primary antibody, respectively.

PBS:	150 mM 20 mM	NaCl NaPi, pH 7.4
washing buffer: (PBS-T)	0.5 %	Tween 20 (w/v) in PBS
blocking reagent:	1 %	BSA (w/v) in PBS
coloring buffer:	0.1 M 0.1 M 0.05 M	Tris-HCl, pH 9.5 NaCl MgCl ₂
stock solution : for the color detection	100 mg 50 mg	NBT/1.5 ml 70 % DMF (v/v) BCIP/1 ml DMSO kept at -20 °C in aliquots
coloring reagent:	75 ml 330 μl 250 μl	coloring buffer NBT BCIP

To avoid contamination of other proteins, careful treatments in the whole procedure were required. The subunits of cytochrome c oxidase were separated by SDS-PAGE and blotted onto nitrocellulose (see in 3.2.8.). After electroblotting, the membrane was stained with staining buffer I, to confirm that all proteins were transferred onto the membrane. The membrane was immediately destained with D.W. after the blotted bands became visible. The membrane was incubated with blocking reagent at room temperature for 2 h or at 4 °C overnight. Covering of the membrane surface with bovine serum albumin (BSA) reduced nonspecific interactions of antibodies and other non-antigenic proteins. The membrane was washed 2 times for 10 min with PBS-T buffer and incubated with the primary antibody. 1 µg/ml monoclonal antibodies against phosphoserines and against phosphothreonines raised from mice (Calbiochem), were incubated with the membranes in PBS buffer at room temperature for 1-2 h under shaking. Nonspecifically bound antibodies on the membrane were removed by washing 2 times for 5 min with PBS-T and 2 times with PBS. For 1-2 h the secondary antibody, anti-mouse IgG conjugated with alkaline phosphatase, was incubated with the membranes in 1:1000 dilution with PBS. The membrane was washed again as above. By incubation of the membrane with freshly prepared coloring reagent the protein bands appeared in color on the membrane. To stop the color reaction, the membrane was washed with D.W.

4. Results

4.1. Search for the cDNA of a new isoform of subunit IV (IV-2)

The expression of two isoforms of subunit V in yeast, (Va and Vb), which are homologous to mammalian subunit IV, is known [Poyton et al., 1988]. The expression of two isoforms is regulated by the oxygen concentration in the growth medium [Allen et al., 1995]. Recently two isoforms of subunit IV were identified in cytochrome c oxidase from tuna fish [Hüttemann, 2000], which has the same 13 subunit composition like the mammalian enzyme [Arnold et al., 1997]. The presence of isoforms in yeast and fish, as well as indirect studies by immunohistochemistry in rat [Kuhn-Nentwig and Kadenbach, 1985] and human tissues [Nakagawa and Miranda, 1987; Romero et al., 1990] strongly suggest the existence of subunit IV isoforms also in mammals and birds.

Table 4. Expected cDNA sizes after the amplification of 3'-regions with variable primers.

Primer	Sequence	Expected 3'-region cDNA size
IV+1	5'-GATTAYCCNYTNCCNGA-3'	ca. 520 bp
IV+3.3	5'-GAGTSTTTYGCNGARATGAA-3'	ca. 350 bp
IV+4.8	5'-AAAGMGTATGYTNGAYATG-3'	ca. 240 bp

In order to seek for the cDNA of a second subunit IV (IV-2) in mammals and birds, 3'-RACE-PCR screening with multiple degenerated primer sets was performed. The primers were designed from the conserved regions of the known human, bovine, and rat subunit IV (Fig. 6). 3'untranslated regions (ca 110 bp), poly-A tails (ca 20 bp), and the appended sequences of Q_I primers (17 bp) were expected to be amplified by PCR together with the 3'-coding region of subunit IV. The expected size of 3'-region cDNA after amplification with different primers are presented in table 4.

																									IV	7+1	1			
									1	.0									2	0									З	0
Human	-	-	Α	н	Е	S	v	v	к	S	Е	D	F	S	г	Ρ	Α	Y	м	D	R	R	D	н	Ρ	Г	Ρ	Е	v	Α
Bovine	-	-	Α	н	G	S	v	v	к	S	Е	D	Y	Α	г	Ρ	S	Y	v	D	R	R	D	Y	Ρ	г	Ρ	D	v	Α
Rat	-	-	Α	г	G	S	v	v	к	S	Е	к	Y	Α	г	Ρ	S	Y	v	D	R	R	D	Y	Ρ	г	Ρ	D	v	Α
Tuna-1	-	-	G	G	н	G	v	Α	к	v	Е	Е	Y	т	г	Ρ	Α	Y	F	D	R	R	Е	N	Ρ	Г	Ρ	D	I	С
Tuna-2	Α	S	н	D	L	Е	v	Α	Е	S	v	D	М	S	ĸ	Ρ	г	Y	W	D	R	г	D	т	Ρ	L	Ρ	D	R	Ρ
										40									I	50									,	60
Human	н	v	к	н	г	s	А	s	0	ĸ	А	г	к	Е	к	Е	к	А	s	W	s	s	г	s	м	D	Е	к	v	Е
Bovine	н	v	к	N	ь	s	Α	s	õ	к	Α	ь	к	Е	к	Е	к	Α	s	W	s	s	Г	s	Ι	D	Е	к	v	Е
Rat	н	v	к	L	г	S	Α	S	õ	к	Α	г	к	Е	к	Е	к	A	D	W	S	S	L	S	R	D	Е	к	v	0
Tuna-1	Y	v	о	А	г	S	Р	Е	õ	о	s	г	к	Е	к	Е	к	G	s	W	A	A	г	S	N	Е	Е	к	I	Ã
Tuna-2	Y	к	Ē	D	г	т	A	Α	D	ñ	S	г	ĸ	Q	к	Е	ĸ	G	Ρ	W	G	Q	L	S	к	Е	Е	ĸ	I	Α
																					Г	V+	-3.	3						
	_		_	_		_		_		70	_	_			_	-	-			80							_		_	90
Human	Г	Y	R	I	ĸ	F	ĸ	E	S	F	A	E	М	N	R	G	S	Ν	E	W	ĸ	Т	V	V	G	G	A	М	F	F
Bovine	г	Y	R	г	к	F	к	Е	S	F	Α	Е	М	Ν	R	S	т	Ν	Е	W	к	т	v	v	G	Α	Α	М	F	F
Rat	г	Y	R	Ι	G	F	N	Е	S	F	Α	Е	М	N	R	G	т	Ν	Е	W	к	т	v	v	G	м	Α	М	F	F
Tuna-1	г	Y	R	Ι	S	F	к	Q	S	F	Α	Е	М	N	к	G	S	S	Е	W	к	S	v	v	G	G	М	Г	F	F
Tuna-2	г	Y	R	г	М	F	С	Q	т	Y	S	Е	М	ĸ	Q	Ρ	S	S	Е	W	к	т	v	F	G	G	Ι	F	Ι	F
									1	00									1:	10									1:	20
Human	I	G	F	т	А	г	v	I	м	W	Q	к	н	Y	v	Y	G	Р	г	Р	Q	s	F	D	к	Е	W	v	А	к
Bovine	I	G	F	т	А	г	г	г	I	W	Ē	к	н	Y	v	Y	G	Р	I	Р	H	т	F	Е	Е	Е	W	v	А	к
Rat	I	G	F	т	А	г	v	г	I	W	Е	к	s	Y	v	Y	G	Р	I	Р	н	т	F	D	R	D	W	v	А	м
Tuna-1	I	G	F	т	G	г	v	v	г	W	Q	R	к	Y	v	Y	G	А	v	Р	н	т	F	D	Р	Е	Y	к	А	к
Tuna-2	L	G	F	т	G	г	v	v	W	W	Q	A	L	Y	v	Y	Ρ	Ρ	R	Ρ	R	т	F	D	D	Е	W	ĸ	A	ĸ
			1	V	+4	.8			1	2 0									1.	10										
Thuman	~		77	Б	м	т	Ъ	3.5	т. т	30	ът	ъ	Ŧ	~	a	Ŧ	~	a	т. Т.	±0 1.7	Б	37		77	ът		T.7	77	77	
Rowino	Š	ட	T V	7	M	<u><u> </u></u>	늰	M	r. v	v 17	7	P	÷	Š	G	ц Ц	A C	2	r. v	747	D T	ı v	Ē	r. v	N	5	747	r. v	r. v	
Dovine Dovine	Š	Ť	v	л Р	м	т	л П	м	r v	v z	A M	r D	- -	Š	G	r V	с С	А 7	r v	747 1747	ע	ı v	л П	r. V	NT NT	ь Г	747 1747	r. V	r v	
rac Tuna-1	Ч Ч	T.	~	л D	м	Т	л П	м	л Л	т	M	r D	т 77	Ч Ч	G	r v	2 C	А 7	л Л	WV TAT	ת	ı v	л Б	л. N	N	<u>Б</u>	WV TAT	r. v	r v	
Tuna 2	<u>Б</u>	ц т	V V	л	м	т т	л П	м	л П	т 77	M	r D	v T	ъ Б	G	г Г	5 0	A 7	п v	VV TAT	л Ц	ı v	ъ Б	N	г Г	Š	VV TAT	r. v	r	
I ulla - 2	Υ.	ш	r	л	м	ш	U	м	к	v	TA	r	Τ.	-	G	Г	D	А	r	VV	D	т	-	r	Г	v	VV	r	-	

Fig. 6. Amino acid sequence alignment of matured subunit IV from human [Zeviani et al., 1987], bovine [Sacher et al., 1979], rat [Gopalan et al., 1989; Goto et al., 1989], and tuna [Hüttemann, 2000].

Designed degenerated primers IV+1, IV+3.3 and IV+4.8 were deduced from boxed amino acid sequences.

4.1.1. Cloning and sequencing of subunit IV cDNA from rat

cDNAs were prepared from mRNAs of rat liver, heart, and muscle by RT-PCR. To get the 3'-region of subunit IV-2 cDNA, mRNA was amplified by Touch-down-PCR with primers IV+1 and Q_0 . Fig. 7 shows the products of the outer-PCR from liver (lane 8), heart (lane 9), and muscle (lane 10). The ca. 350 bp cDNAs were extracted from the gel and amplified with primers IV+4.8 and Q_1 by a following nested-PCR.



Fig. 7. Outer-PCR for the amplification of cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV from rat liver, heart, and muscle.

cDNAs were amplified with primers IV+3.3 (75 pmol) and Q_0 (15 pmol) in 50µl volume by Touch-down-PCR: at 94 °C for 45 S (denaturation) with 1 cycle; for 45 s at 60 °C down to 48 °C for every 2 cycles with 2 °C decrease (annealing); at 72 °C for 50 s with 35 cycles (elongation). Each 20 µl

of amplified PCR products were electrophoresed on an agarose gel containing 1.2 % ethidium bromide. The fractions from lane 8, 9, and 10, indicated by an arrow, were extracted and amplified by a following nested-PCR. Lane 8: liver; lane 9: heart; lane 10: muscle; lane 1-7: products from 3'-RACE-PCR of subunit VIa of cytochrome c oxidase from turkey tissues. M: DNA molecular size ladder.

The amplified DNA from the nested-PCR is presented in Fig. 8. Since the part of 3'untranslated regions between IV-1 and IV-2 cDNA was expected to vary, different sized fragments were extracted. The fragments of 400 bp and 350 bp from muscle, 350 bp, 300 bp, and 250 bp from liver and 300 bp, 250 bp, and 220 bp from heart were selected. The extracted DNAs were cloned into pBluescript KS- plasmids and the plasmids were transferred into *E*. *coli* XL-1-Blue by electroporation (see in 3.1.9.). The transformed cells were cultivated on the LB agar medium at 37 °C overnight.



Fig. 8. Nested-PCR for the amplification of cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV cDNA from rat muscle, liver and heart.

1µl of 1:100 diluted outer-PCR product (Fig. 7) was amplified with primers IV+4.8 and Q_I by Touch-down-PCR as described in Fig. 7. The amplified products were electrophoresed on agarose gels. The selected cDNA fractions cloned into were KSplasmids. pBluescript Fraction 1-2: 400 and 350 bp from lane 2; fraction 3-4: 300

and 250 bp from lane 3; fraction 5: 350 bp from lane 4; fraction 6: 250 bp from lane 6; fraction 7: 300 bp from lane 7; fraction 8: 220 bp from lane 8; lane 1-2: muscle; lane 3-4: liver; lane 5-8: heart; M: DNA molecular size ladder.

10-20 bacterial colonies were selected from each transformed cell which was grown on the agar plate. The selected cells were further cultivated in LB medium. Plasmids were isolated from the cultivated *E. coli* by the TENS method (see in 3.1.10) and incubated with the restriction enzyme Pvu II (see in 3.1.11.). The digested plasmids were electrophoresed on agarose gels. Among the obtained fragments after digestion some which are expected to contain a subunit IV-2 cDNA (as inserted DNA) were selected. The plasmids containing the selected fragments were used directly for sequencing-PCR with "ABI PRISM dRhodamine Terminator Cycle Sequencing Ready Reaction Kit". The sequences were analyzed by the "ABI prism 310 Genetic Analyzer". Most fragments did not contain cDNAs of subunit IV-2, since their sequences were not homologous to subunit IV-1 cDNA except fragments A to E. The fragments A to E turned out to be subunit IV-1 cDNA (Fig. 14).



Fig. 9. Characterization of the cloned plasmids of 3'-region subunit IV cDNA from rat liver (C) heart (A) and muscle (B) by incubation with Pvu II.

Plasmid DNAs were prepared by the TENS method. The inserted DNA and the 450 bp of vector DNA were cleaved by Pvu II (Fig. 3). The digested plasmids were seperated on agarose gels. Fragments (A to E) indicated by arrows are corresponding to the subunit IV-1 cDNA. Lanes 1-5: fraction 4 from nested-PCR (Fig. 8); lanes 6-7: fraction 3; lanes 8-11: fraction 8; lane 12: fraction 7; lanes 13-15: fraction 2; M: DNA molecular size ladder.

4.1.2. Cloning and sequencing of subunit IV cDNA from turkey

cDNAs were prepared from mRNAs of turkey liver, heart, and muscle by RT-PCR and amplified by Touch-down-PCR with primers IV+1 and Q_0 to get the 3'-region of subunit IV-2 cDNA. Fig. 10 presents the products of the outer-PCR from heart (lane 1), muscle (lane 2), and liver (lane 3). The ca. 600-800 bp cDNAs were extracted from the gel and amplified by the following 1st nested-PCR with primers IV+3.3 and Q_I (Fig. 11).



Fig. 10. **Outer-PCR** for the amplification of cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV cDNA from turkey heart, muscle, and liver. cDNAs were amplified with primers IV+1 and Q_O by Touch-down-PCR (described in detail in Fig. 7). The amplified PCR products were electrophoresed on an agarose gel. The fractions from 600 to 800 bp regions, indicated by an arrow, were extracted and amplified by the following 1st nested-PCR. Lane 1: heart; lane 2:

muscle; lane 3: liver; M: DNA molecular

Fig. 11 presents the amplified DNAs from the 1st nested-PCR which was performed with IV+3.3 and Q_I primers. The regions of ca 300-350 bp from liver, heart and muscle were extracted from the gel and further amplified by the 2nd nested-PCR with primers IV+4.8 and Q_I .

size ladder.



Fig. 11. 1st nested-PCR for the amplification of cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV cDNA from turkey liver, muscle, and heart.

The outer-PCR products (Fig. 10) were amplified with primers IV+3.3 and Q_I by Touch-down-PCR (described in detail in Fig. 7). The amplified PCR products were electrophoresed on an agarose gel. The fraction of ca 300-350 bp from each lane marked by an arrow, were extracted and amplified by the following 2nd nested-PCR. Lane 1: liver; lane 2: muscle; lane 3: heart; M: DNA molecular size ladder.

Results

The amplified DNAs from the 2^{nd} nested PCR are shown in Fig. 12. Since the part of 3'-untranslated regions between IV-1 and IV-2 cDNA was expected to vary, different sized fragments were extracted. The fragments of 200 bp, 210 bp, and 250 bp from liver, 250 bp and 300 bp from muscle and two of 280 bp from heart were selected. The extracted DNAs were cloned into pBluescript KS- plasmids and the plasmids were transferred into *E. coli* XL-1-Blue by electroporation (see 3.1.9.). The transformed cells were cultivated on the LB agar medium at 37 °C overnight.



Fig. 12. 2nd nested-PCR for the amplification of cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV cDNA from turkey liver, muscle, and heart. The outer-PCR products (Fig. 11) were amplified with primers IV+4.8 and Q_I by Touch-down-PCR (described in detail in Fig. 7). The amplified products were electrophoresed on an agarose gel. The selected DNA fractions are cloned into pBluescript KS-. Fraction 1: 200 bp from lane 1; fraction 2-3: 250 and 210 bp from lane 2; fraction 4-5: 300 and 250 bp from lane 4; fraction 6: 280 bp from lane 5; fraction 7: 280 bp from lane 6. Lanes 1-2: liver; lanes 3-4: muscle; lanes 5-6: DNA molecular heart; M: size ladder.

10-20 bacterial colonies were selected from each transformed cell which was grown on the agar plate. The selected cells were further cultivated in LB medium. Plasmids were isolated from the cultivated *E. coli* by the TENS method (see in 3.1.10) and incubated with the restriction enzyme Pvu II (see in 3.1.11.). The digested plasmids were electrophoresed on agarose gels (Fig. 13). Among the fragments obtained after digestion some which are expected to contain a subunit IV-2 cDNA (as inserted DNA) were selected. The plasmids containing the selected fragments were used directly for sequencing-PCR with "ABI PRISM dRhodamine Terminator Cycle Sequencing Ready Reaction Kit". The sequences were analyzed by the "ABI prism 310 Genetic Analyzer". Most fragments did not contain cDNAs of subunit IV-2, since their sequences were not homologous to the subunit IV-1 cDNA except fragments F to I turned out to be the subunit IV-1 cDNA (Fig. 14).



Fig. 13. Characterization of the cloned plasmids of 3'-region subunit IV cDNA from turkey heart (A), muscle (B), and liver (C) by incubation with Pvu II. Plasmid DNAs were prepared by the TENS method. The inserted DNA and the 450 bp of vector DNA were cleaved by Pvu II (Fig. 3). The digested plasmids were seperated on agarose gels. Fragments (F to I) marked by arrows correspond to the subunit IV-1 cDNA. Lanes 1-5: fraction 6 from the 2nd nested-PCR (Fig. 12); lanes 6-9: fraction 4; lane 10: fraction 5; lanes 11-15: fraction 2; lanes 16-18: fraction 3; M: DNA molecular size ladder.

The cDNA sequences of fragments A to I (from Fig. 9 and 13) are presented with the known subunit IV (IV-1) sequences in Fig. 14. In most cases, the sequences of the fragments start from the primer IV+4.8 site except the fragment B. Two nucleotides at 5'-region are missing in the fragment B. Fragments F and G from turkey heart and muscle, respectively, have the full length sequences of the 3'-coding and 3'-untranslated regions including the poly A tail. The fragments H and I (from turkey liver) have also the full 3'-coding region of subunit IV-1, but not the poly A tail and the poly A adenylation site. In contrast, all fragments from rat (A to E) contain the incomplete 3'-coding regions of subunit IV-1 cDNA. This incompletion of cDNA from turkey and specially from rat might be caused by the improper preparation and/or isolation (TENS method) of the vector plasmids.

[Rat]

known IV	(A-E)	1	M L A T R A L S L I G K R A I S ATGTTGGCTACCAGGGCACTTAGCCTAATTGGCAAGAGAGCCATTTCTAC
Bequenceu IV	(R-1)	51	T S V C L R A H G S V V K S E D Y TTCGGTGTGCCTTCGGGCACATGGGAGTGTTGTGAAGAGTGAAGACTATG
		101	A L P S Y V D R R D Y P L P D V A CTCTCCCATCTTATGTTGATCGGCGTGACTACCCCTTGCCTGATGTGGCC
		151	H V K L L S A S Q K A L K E K E CACGTCAAGCTGCTGTCTGCCAGCCAGAAGGCCCTGAAGGAGAAGGAGAA
		201	K A D W S S L S R D E K V Q L Y R GGCCGACTGGAGCAGCCTTTCCAGGGATGAGAAAGTCCAATTGTACCGCA
		251	I Q F N E S F A E M N K G T N E W TCCAGTTTAACGAGAGCTTCGCTGAGATGAACAAGGGCACCAATGAGTGG
		301	K T V V G L A M F F I G F T A L AAGACAGTGGTGGGCCTGGCCATGTTCTTCATCGGCTTCACTGCGCTTGT
		351	V L I W E K S Y V Y G P I P H T F GCTGATCTGGGAGAAGAGCTACGTGTATGGCCCCATCCCTCATACCTTTG
		401	IV+4.8 D R D W V A M Q T K R M L D M K V ATCGTGACTGGGTGGCCATGCAGACCAAGCGGATGCTGGACATGAAGGTC
	(A)		ACCAAGCGGATGCTGGACATGAAGGTC
	(в)		CAAGCGGATGCTGGACATGAAGGTC
	(c)		ACCAAGCGGATGCTGGACATGAAGGTC
	(D)		ACCAAGCGGATGCTGGACATGAAGGTC
	(E)		ACCAAGCGGATGCTGGACATGAAGGTC
			N P I Q G F S A K W D Y N K N E
		451	AACCCCATTCAGGGCTTCTCCGCCAAGTGGGACTACAACAAGAATGAAT
	(A)		AACCCCATTCAGGGCTTCTCCGCCAAGTGG
	(в)		AACCCCATTCAGGGCTTCTCCGCCAAGTGGGACTACAACAAGAATGAA
	(c)		AACCCCATTCAGGGCTTCTCCGCCAAGTGGGACTACAACAAGAATGAAT
	(D)		AACCCCATTCAGGGCTTCTCCGCCAAGTGGGACTACAACA
	(E)		AACCCCATTCAGGGCTTCTCCGCCAAGTGGGACTACAACAAGAATGAA
	(C)	501	W K K - GAAGAAGTGAGAGCCTGCTGCTGTGGGGCTCCTCCCTCCC
		551	GCATGCTGGAAGCTGCTGTGTCCAATGGTCCATGTT <u>AATAAA</u> TGACCAGT
		601	TTACGTGGAAAAAAAAAA

[Turkey]

known IV-1 sequenced IV	(F-I)	1	M L A S R A F S L I G R R A L S ATGTTGGCTTCAAGAGCATTCAGCCTCATTGGGAGAAGAGCCCTTTCCAC
1	()	51	T S I C V R A H G H A G V V K A E CTCCATCTGTGTGAGGGCACATGGGCATGCTGGTGTTGTCAAAGCAGAGG
		101	D F S H P A Y V D R R D V P L P E ATTTCAGCCATCCAGCATACGTTGATCGCCGTGATGTTCCCCTGCCAGAA
		151	A A R V K E L S A Q Q K A L K E GCGGCCTTTGTAAAGGAGCTCTCTGCTCAGCAGAAGGCTCTGAAAGAAA
		201	K E K P S W T A L S V D E K V E L GGAAAAGCCATCTTGGACCGCTTTGTCTGTTGATGAGAAAGTTGAATTGT
		251	Y P I K F N E S Y A E M N K G T N ACCGTATCAAATTCAATGAGAGCTATGCAGAAATGAACAAAGGAACAAAT
		301	E W K T V L G G V L G G L G V S GAGTGGAAGACCGTCCTTGGTGGAGTGCTTTTCTTTCTTGGCGTATCTGG
		351	G L I L I W Q K M Y M Y G P I P H CCTCATCCTCATTTGGCAGAAAATGTATATGTACGGCCCCTATTCCGCACA TV+4.8
			TFSDEWLSMQTKRMLDM
		401	CCTTCTCTGATGAGTGGCTGTCAATGCAGACAAAGAGAATGTTGGACATG
	(F)		ACAAAGAGAATGTTGGACATG
	(G)		ACAAAGAGAATGTTGGACATG
	(н)		ACAAAGAGAATGTTGGACATG
	(I)		ACAAAGAGAATGTTGGACATG
			R I N P V Q G I S S Q W D Y E K
		451	CGAATTAATCCCGTCCAGGGCATCTCTTCCCAGTGGGATTACGAGAAGAA
	(F)		CGAATTAATCCCGTCCAGGGCATCTCTTCCCAGTGGGATTACGAGAAGAA
	(G)		CGAATTAATCCCGTCCAGGGCATCTCTTCCCAGTGGGATTACGAGAAGAA
	(н)		CGAATTAATCCCGTCCAGGGCATCTCTTCCCAGTGGGATTACGAGAAGAA
	(I)		CGAATTAATCCCGTCCAGGGCATCTCTTCCCAGTGGGATTACGAGAAGAA
			N E W K K -
		501	CGAGTGGAAGAAATGAAGCAGCTCAGCGGAACCTGCTCTGCTTGAATATG
	(F)		CGAGTGGAAGAAATGAAGCAGCTCAGCGGAACCTGCTCTGCTTGAATATG
	(G)		CGAGTGGAAGAAATGAAGCAGCTCAGCGGAACCTGCTCTGCTTGAATATG
	(н)		CGAGTGGAAGAAATGAAGCAGC
	(I)		CGAGTGGAAGAAATGAAGCAGCTCAGCGGAACCTGCTCTGCTTGAATA
		551	AATGATTCCATCACCTGTGTGTGTGACCTCGTTGCTTATGTACTGGAACAAT
	(F)		AATGATTCCATCACCTGTGTGTGTGACCTCGTTGCTTATGTACTGGAACAAT
	(G)		AATGATTCCATCACCTGTGTGTGTGACCTCGTTGCTTATGTACTGGAACAAT
		601	CTCTTCACCTAAATAGATGAAAATAAACATCTGGTTAACTTGAAAAAAAA
	(F)	601	CTCTTCACCTAAATAGATGAAAATAAACATCTGGTTAACTTGAAAAAAAA
Fig. 14. Comparison of the cDNA sequences of screened subunit IV with the known subunit IV (IV-1) from rat [Goto et al., 1989] and turkey [Hüttemann, 2000]. The sequences of the mature proteins are presented above the cDNA sequences. The polyadenylation sites are underlined. Most screened sequences except that of fragment B start

polyadenylation sites are underlined. Most screened sequences except that of fragment B, start from the primer IV+4.8 site (in boxes) which was used for the nested-PCR.

The failure in finding the subunit IV-2 cDNA might have the following reasons: (1) The designed primers, IV+1, IV+3.3, and IV+4.8 for the amplifications were not proper (little homology to cDNA of subunit IV-2), (2) The subunit IV-2 cDNA was not synthesized during the RT-reaction, because of secondary structures of subunit IV-2 mRNA, and/or (3) the subunit IV-2 of cytochrome c oxidase does not exist in mammals and birds.

Later, however, the cDNA of the new isoform of subunit IV (IV-2) was found in human, rat, mouse [Hüttemann et al., 2001], and cow [Hüttemann et al., in preparation] by Dr. Maik Hüttemann. Deduced amino acid sequences of subunits IV-2 from human, mouse, rat, and cow are compared with the amino acid sequences of subunit IV-1 in Fig. 15 [Hüttemann, personal communication]. The cDNA sequences of subunit IV-2 among human, rat, and mouse are 63-78 % identical, which is lower than the identity among the subunit IV-1 isoforms (69-88 %). These low homologies for the mammalian sequences of subunit IV-2 cDNA might be the reason for the failure of the above performed screening. Interestingly three conserved cysteine residues are present in subunit IV-2 in human, rat, and mouse and two cysteine residues in cow, but no cysteine is present in the mature subunit IV-1. The expression of subunit IV-2 transcripts was observed in the lung of adult and fetal human and adult rat, as well as in the muscle of fetal human by Northern Blot analysis [Hüttemann et al., 2001]. Other adult tissues showed only weak or undetectable transcription levels. In contrast to the IV-2 isoform, subunit IV-1 was ubiquitously transcribed in all tissues, including lung.

		-20)	-10	-1	∥ 1 _	10	20
Human	IV-1	MLAT	RVF-SL	VGKRAIS	-TSVCVR	AHE	SVVKSEDI	SLPAYMDRR
Mouse	IV-1	MLASE	RAL-SL	IGKRAIS	- TSVCLR	AHG	SVVKSED	ALPTYADR
Rat	IV-1	MLATE	RAL-SL	IGKRAIS	- TSVCLR	<u>AH</u> G	SVVKSED	ALPSYVDRR
Cow	IV-1	MLATH	RVF-SL	I <u>G</u> RR <u>AIS</u>	- <u>TSVCVR</u>	<u>AH</u> G	SVVKSED	ALPSYVDR
Human	IV-2	ML - PR	AAWSL	VLRK <u>G</u> GG	GR-R <u>GMH</u>	SEGTI	RG-GGKM	SPYTNCYAQ <mark>R</mark>
Mouse	IV-2	MF-SR	RAARSL	VMRTGLR	TRGTGTH:	PGDAA	GS-QRRM	T <u>PY</u> VDCY <mark>AQ</mark> R
Rat	IV-2	MF-SR	RATRSL	vmkt <u>g</u> gl	-RTQ <u>G</u> T <u>H</u>	PGSAA	SSSQRRM	T <u>PY</u> VDCYAQ <mark>R</mark>
Cow	IV-2	MT – FR	RAAWSL	TLRQ <u>G</u> GL	G-IRGIH	PGSTA	HG-KEK <u>M</u> I	P <u>PY</u> TNYHAQ <mark>R</mark>
								Ŷ
		P _{deg} +1	30	40		50	60	$P_{deg}+2$ 70
Human	IV-1	DHPLPEVA	HVKHL	SASQK <mark>AL</mark>	KEKEKAS	SSLSM	DEKVELY	RIKFKESFAE
Mouse	IV-1	DYPLPDVA	HVTML	SASQK <mark>AL</mark>	KEKEK <mark>A</mark> D	N <mark>SS</mark> LSR	DEKVQLYI	RIQFNESFAE
Rat	IV-1	DYPLPDVA	HVKLL	SASQK <mark>AL</mark>	KEKEK <mark>A</mark> D	V <mark>SS</mark> LSR	DEKV <mark>Q</mark> LYI	RIQFNESFAE
Cow	IV-1	DYPLPDVA	HVKNL	SASQK <mark>AL</mark>	KEKEKAS	NSS <mark>L</mark> SI	DEKVELYI	RLKFKESFAE
Human	IV-2	YY <mark>PMP</mark> EEF	FCTEL	NAEEQ <mark>AL</mark>	KEKEKGS	TQLTH	IAEKVALYI	RLQ <mark>F</mark> NETFAE
Mouse	IV-2	SYPMPDER	FCTEL	SEEQR <mark>AL</mark>	KEKEK <mark>G</mark> S	NT <u>Q</u> LSÇ	AEKVALYI	RLQFHETFAE
Rat	IV-2	SYPMPDEF	YCTEL	SEEQRAL	KEKEK <mark>G</mark> S	VAQLSÇ	AEKVALYI	RLQFHETFAE
Cow	IV-2	SYPMPEEF	FCMEL	NAEQR <mark>AL</mark>	KEKEK <mark>G</mark> SV	NTQLSH	AEKVALYI	RLQFHQTFAE
			♠					
		_	80	90	:	100	110	120
Human	IV-1	MNRGSNEW	KTVVG	GAMFFIG	FTALVIM	VQKHYV	YGPLPQSI	dkewv <mark>a</mark> kot
Mouse	IV-1	MNRGTNEW	KTV <mark>V</mark> G	MAMFFIG	FTALVLI	VEKSYV	YGPIPHTI	TDRDWVAMQT
Rat	IV-1	MN <mark>KGTNEW</mark>	KTVVG	LAMFFIG	FTALVLI	VEKSYV	YGPIPHTI	TDRDWVAMQT
Cow	IV-1	MNRSTNEW	KTVVG	AAMFFIG	FTALLLI	VEKHYV	YGPIPHTI	FEEEWV <mark>A</mark> KQT
Human	IV-2	MNRRSNEW	νκτν <mark>Μ</mark> G	CVFFFIG	FAALVIW	VQRVYV	FPPKPITI	LTDERK <mark>AQQ</mark> L
Mouse	IV-2	MNHR SNEW	VKTVMG	CVFFFIG	FTALVIW	QRVYV	FPKKVVTI	LTEERK <mark>AQQ</mark> L
Rat	IV-2	MNHRSNEW	KTVMG	CVFFFIG	FTALVIW	<u>QRV</u> YV	FPKKVVTI	LTEERK <mark>AQQ</mark> L
Cow	IV-2	MNRRSNEW	KTVMG	CVF <mark>FF</mark> CG	FTGLIW	VQRVYV	FRKKPITI	LTDEWK <mark>AQQ</mark> L
		* **	· *	♠				
		1	30	140	P _{deg} -1 150	D		
Human	IV-1	KRMUDMKV	NPIOG	LASKWDY	EKNEWKK			
Mouse	IV-1	KRMLDMKA	NPIQG	FSAKWDY	DKNEWKK			
Rat	IV-1	KRMLDMKV	NPIQG	FSAKWDY	NKNEWKK			
Cow	IV-1	KRMLDMKV	7APIQG	FSAKWDY	DKNE <mark>WK</mark> K			
Human	IV-2	Q <mark>R</mark> MLDMKV	/NPVQG	LASHWDY	EKKQ <mark>WK</mark> K			
Mouse	IV-2	QRLLDMKS	SNPIQG	LAAHWDY	EKKE <mark>WKK</mark>			
Rat	IV-2	<u>Q</u> RLLDLKS	SNFLQG	LSAH <mark>WD</mark> Y	EKKE <mark>WK</mark> K			
Cow	IV-2	QRILDMKO	SNPVQG	LASRWDY	ERKE <mark>WKK</mark>			

Fig. 15. Alignment of cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV-1 precursor proteins from human [Zeviani et al., 1987], mouse [Grossman and Akamatsu, 1990], rat [Gopalan et al., 1989], and cow [Sacher et al., 1979] with the new subunit IV-2 isoform from human, mouse, rat [Hüttemann et al., 2001], and cow [kindly offered by Maik Hüttemann].

Identical amino acids in both isoforms are shown in white on black. The beginning of mature subunits IV is indicated only for the IV-1 isoform. Underlined amino acids are identical in only one isoform and do not occur in the other one. Arrows indicate the positions and directions of degenerate primers that yielded the correct PCR product in rat. Vertical arrows show the highly conserved cysteine residues present only in the new isoforms. Triangles show the exon-exon junctions for both human sequences. The boxed sequence represents the transmembraneous region [Tsukihara et al., 1996]. Amino acids proposed to be involved in ATP/ADP binding at the matrix side are marked with an asterisk.

4.2.1. Comparison of bovine cytochrome c oxidase subunit patterns

To get more informations about isoforms of cytochrome c oxidase, the enzymes were isolated from bovine heart, kidney, lung, and testis, and the subunit compositions were analysed by SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The Coomassie Blue stained polypeptide pattern of the enzymes from bovine tissues which were isolated by the Triton X-100 method are presented in Fig. 16. With subunits VIa and VIII, different isoforms are clearly identified in different tissues by electrophoretic mobilities. Subunit VIa of the bovine heart enzyme (VIaH) has an apparent higher molecular mass (lower electrophoretic mobility) than that of bovine kidney (VIaL). The enzymes from bovine testis and lung contain mainly the liver type of subunit VIa (VIaL). The identity of the double band of the testis enzyme in the region of the heart-type of VIa is not known. Subunit VIII of the testis enzyme consists of both, heart type (VIIH) and liver type of subunit VIII (VIIIL), occurring at similar amounts. In contrast, the enzyme from bovine heart contains only subunit VIIIH, and the enzymes from kidney and lung contain only subunit VIIIL, as previously described for the isozymes from chicken [Merle and Kadenbach, 1980], bovine [Merle and Kadenbach, 1982], and pig [Kuhn-Nentwig and Kadenbach, 1985].



Fig. 16. Comparison of the subunit pattern of isolated cytochrome c oxidases from bovine heart, kidney, testis, and lung.

SDS-PAGE and Coomassie Blue staining were performed as described in 3.2.6.

Lane 1: heart, 48 % AmSO₄ Lane 2: kidney, 48 % AmSO₄

Lane 3: testis, 48 % AmSO₄

Lane 4: testis, 37 % AmSO₄

Lane 5: lung, 37 % $AmSO_4$ Lane 6: lung, 28 % $AmSO_4$ Lane 7: lung, 46 % $AmSO_4$ Lane 8: lung, 55 % $AmSO_4$

4.2.2. Searching for subunit IV-2 in bovine lung cytochrome c oxidase

The cDNA of the second isoform of subunit IV (IV-2) in animals was first identified in tuna tissues [Hüttemann, 2000]. In further studies, the expression of subunit IV-2 mRNA was detected mainly in rat lung by Northern Blot analysis and by *in situ* hybridization [Hüttemann et al., 2001]. To prove the expression of subunit IV-2 in bovine tissues and to investigate its regulatory properties, cytochrome c oxidase was isolated from bovine lung, using the Triton X-100 method. The subunits of the bovine lung enzyme were separated by SDS-PAGE and blotted on PVDF membrane. After staining with Coomassie Blue, subunit IV was excised from the membrane and the N-terminal amino acid was sequenced by Prof. F. Lottspeich (MPI für Biochemie, Martinsried). As shown in Fig. 17, very similar N-terminal amino acid sequences were found for subunit IV from bovine lung and for the known bovine subunit IV (IV-1). In some positions different amino acids were found, which might have originated from contaminating impurities. In order to exclude that subunit IV-2 from lung is N-terminally blocked, internal amino acid sequences were determined from proteolytic fragments of the lung subunit IV by Prof. F. Lottspeich. The molecular masses of the digested fragments, determined by MALDI-TOF, were identical to those of the expected proteolytic fragments of bovine heart subunit IV (data not shown). These results indicate that either cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV-2 is not expressed in bovine lung at the protein level, or its amount in the isolated enzyme is too low to be detected by amino acid sequencing methods.

	1									10										20							27
Lung	Α	Е	G	s	v	v	к	s	Е	D	Y	G	г	G	Q	Y	v	F	т	F	(A)	Y	Ρ	?	(P)	v	F
							Q)	W	P)) A		Α	Ρ	(P)) S	м		D		D		D			(E)		v
		*																	*	*	*			*		*	
IV-1	Α	н	G	s	v	v	к	s	Е	D	Y	Α	г	Ρ	s	Y	v	D	R	R	D	Y	Ρ	г	Ρ	D	v
IV-2	Α	н	G	-	-	-	к	Е	к	М	Ρ	Ρ	Y	т	N	Y	н	Α	Q	R	S	Y	Ρ	м	Ρ	Е	Е

Fig. 17. Comparison of N-terminal amino acid sequences of cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV from bovine lung with subunits IV-1 and IV-2 from bovine. When two amino acids were detected at the same Edman degradation step, the second is presented on the lower line with minor amino acids in parentheses. Amino acids of subunit IV-1, not found in the sequence of subunit IV from lung, are indicated by asterisks.

The protein sequence of subunit IV-2 deduced from the cDNA sequence of bovine, have two cysteines, which do not occur in subunit IV-1 [Hüttemann et al., 2001] (Figure 15). Therefore the possible occurrence of subunit IV-2 in the isolated enzyme from bovine lung was investigated by using an SH-reagent. The fluorescent reagent N-(7-Dimethylamino-4-

methyl-3-cumarinyl)-maleinmide (DACM) reacts with free –SH groups of proteins, which are visualized by illumination with UV light [Yamamoto et al., 1977]. The heart, kidney, and lung enzymes were solubilized with Na-cholate and reduced by incubation with dithiothreitol (DTE) (see in 3.2.7.). The reduced enzymes were precipitated, resolubilized in electrophoresis sample buffer with 1 mM DACM, and subunits were separated by SDS-PAGE. The polypeptides which reacted with their free –SH bonds were visualized under UV light, as presented in Fig. 18. Fluorescence at the position of subunit IV-2 is detected in all enzymes with decreasing intensity from lung, kidney, to heart. This suggests that subunit IV-2 exists mainly in the isolated lung enzyme and to a lower extent in kidney and heart. The less pure enzyme (lane 9, 28 % AmSO₄ precipitate) illuminates more strongly. Subunit IV-2 seems to have been gradually eliminated during the purification steps. The final purified lung enzyme appears to contain too small amounts of subunit IV-2 to be detected by amino acid sequencing.



Fig. 18. Detection of fluorescent subunit IV-2 of bovine heart, kidney, and lung cytochrome c oxidases by DACM.

Cytochrome c oxidases from bovine tissues isolated by the Triton X-100 method, were solubilized in 1.5 % of Na-cholate and incubated with 50 mM DTE at room temperature for 1 h. The enzymes were precipitated at 35 % $AmSO_4$ saturation and centrifuged. 20 µg of precipitated enzymes were solubilized in electrophoresis sample buffer with 1 mM DACM. After SDS-PAGE the fluorescent polypeptides were visualized under UV light (at 302 nm).

Lane	1:	Coomassie	Blue	staining	of lane 4
------	----	-----------	------	----------	-----------

VIIc VIII

Lane 2: kidney, 37 % AmSO ₄	Lane 7: heart, 46 % AmSO ₄
Lane 3: kidney, 42 % AmSO ₄	Lane 8: lung, 37 % AmSO ₄
Lane 4: kidney, 46 % AmSO ₄	Lane 9: lung, 28 % AmSO ₄
Lane 5: heart, 37 % AmSO ₄	Lane 10: lung, 46 % AmSO ₄
Lane 6: heart, 42 % AmSO ₄	Lane 11: lung, 55 % AmSO ₄

4.2.3. Comparison of subunit patterns of turkey cytochrome c oxidases

Cytochrome c oxidases were purified from turkey liver, heart, and skeletal muscle by the Triton X-100 method and their subunit compositions were analysed by SDS-PAGE. The patterns of Coomassie Blue stained polypeptides are presented in Fig. 19. Subunit VIa of cytochrome c oxidases from all turkey tissues shows apparently the same molecular mass. This is in contrast to mammalian cytochrome c oxidase isozymes, which always have different subunits VIa in skeletal muscle (VIaH) and non-skeletal muscle tissues (VIaL) [Linder et al., 1995]. The band marked with an asterisk (VIa*) is the cleaved subunit VIa of the bovine heart enzyme which was isolated by the cholate method [Yoshikawa et al., 1977 and 1988]. The enzyme isolated by the cholate method usually has two bands of subunit VIaH, due to cleavage of 3 N-terminal amino acids (Arnold, Kadenbach, and Lottspeich, unpublished results). Subunit VIII has a lower apparent molecular mass in turkey liver (VIIIL) compared to turkey muscle (VIIIH). In turkey heart mainly subunit VIIIH occurs but a small amount of the liver type is also visible.



Fig. 19. Subunit patterns of isolated cytochrome c oxidases from turkey liver, heart, and skeletal muscle and from bovine heart.

SDS-PAGE and Coomassie Blue staining were performed as described under 3.2.6.

Lane 1: turkey liver, 46 % AmSO₄, Triton X-100 method.

Lane 2: turkey heart, 46 % AmSO₄, Triton X-100 method.

Lane 3: turkey skeletal muscle, 46 % AmSO₄, Triton X-100 method.

Lane 4: bovine heart enzyme, Cholate method.

In order to prove the identity of cytochrome c oxidase subunit VIa in turkey liver, heart, and skeletal muscle, their amino acid sequences were determined. The gel bands, separated by SDS-PAGE were blotted onto a PVDF membrane and subunit VIa was excised. The N-terminal amino acids of subunit VIa were sequenced by Dr. D. Linder (Gießen) (Fig. 20). For internal amino acid sequencing, subunit VIa was excised from Coomassie Blue stained gels and sequenced directly (liver and heart), or after digestion with endoproteinase Lys-C, and separation of fragments by HPLC by Prof. F. Lottspeich. Identical N-terminal amino acid sequences were found for subunit VIa from all three turkey tissues. Internal amino acid sequences were also determined from proteolytic fragments of subunit VIa of the skeletal muscle enzyme (Fig. 20). These sequences were identical with the deduced amino acid sequence of the turkey cDNA for subunit VIa, determined by Maik Hüttemann [Hüttemann et al., 2000]. Comparison of the sequenced data with the amino acid sequences of subunits VIaL and VIaH from mammals (Fig. 21) clearly demonstrates that subunit VIa from turkey liver, heart, and skeletal muscle, corresponds to the mammalian subunit VIaL (liver type). The average identity between turkey subunit VIa and mammalian subunit VIaL is 71 % and between turkey subunit VIa and mammalian subunit VIaH is 63 %.

<N-terminal sequences>

	1								1	L 0									2	20			
Liver	Α	Α	Α	Α	Α	н	\mathbf{E}	G	G	G	Α	R	г	W	к	т	г	?	\mathbf{F}	v	•	•	•
Heart	Α	Α	Α	Α	Α	н	\mathbf{E}	G	G	G	Α	R	г	W	к	т	г	?	\mathbf{F}	v	•	•	•
Muscle	Α	Α	Α	Α	Α	н	Е	G	G	G	Α	R	г	W	к	•	•	•					

<Internal sequences>

		4	44					!	50				5	55										
Muscle	•	•	н	Е	R	Ρ	Е	F	I	R	Y	Α	н	г	R	Ι	R	•	•	•				
		ļ	59					(65															
	•	•	т	к	Ρ	F	Ρ	W	G	D	G	\mathbf{N}	к	•	•	• '	k							
		•	70				5	75				8	30				8	35						
	•	•	т	\mathbf{L}	F	н	Ν	Ρ	н	т	Ν	Α	г	Ρ	т	G	Y	Е	D	Е	Ν	•	•	•

Fig. 20. N-terminal and internal amino acid sequences of cytochrome c oxidase subunit VIa from turkey liver, heart, and skeletal muscle.

The amino acid sequences were determined directly from bands of subunit VIa, separated by SDS-PAGE and blotted onto PVDF membranes (liver and heart), or after digestion of gel bands with endoproteinase Lys-C, separation by HPLC and sequencing (muscle). One fragment was identified by mass (*).

				-26	-20	-10		-1
Rat-L				MAS	AVLSASI	RVSGLLGR	ALPRVG	RPM
Human-L				MAS	AVLSASI	RVSRPLGR	ALPGLRI	RPM
Turkey								м
Rat-H						MAI	PLKVLSI	RSM
Bovine-H						MSL	PLKSLSE	RGL
							*	
	1	_0	20		30	40		50
Rat-L	SSGAHG	EGSARIW	KALTYF	VALPGV	VG <mark>V</mark> SMLI	NVFLKSRI	EEHERPI	SFV
Bovine-L	SSGAH <mark></mark> G	EGSARMW	KALTLF	VALPGV	VG <mark>V</mark> SMLI	NVFMKSHI	GEEERPI	SFV
Human-L	SSGAHG	EGSARMW	KTLTFF	VALPGV	VAVS <mark>M</mark> LI	NVYLKSHI	GEHERPI	SFI
Turkey	AAAAA <mark></mark> H	GCGARLW	KTLSFV	VALPAV	VG <mark>V</mark> C <mark>M</mark> LI	NCYLKAQ	-KHERPI	SFI
Rat-H	ASAS <mark>KG</mark> DH	GAGANTW	RLLTFV	LALPS	VALCSLI	NCWMHA	G <mark>H</mark> HERPI	SFI
Bovine-H	ASAA <mark>KG</mark> DHO	GTGARTW	RFLTFG	LALPS	VA <mark>L</mark> CTLI	NSWLHS	G <mark>H</mark> RERP <i>I</i>	\FI
Human-H	ASAA <mark>KG</mark> GH	GAGARTW	RLLTFV	LALPS	VALCTFI	NSYLHS	GHRPRPH	SFR
		* *	*	*** *	* :	*	* *	*
	60	70		80				
Rat-L	AYPHLRIRI	KPFPWGD	GNHTLF	HNPHVI	NPLPTG	ZE <mark>DE</mark>		
Bovine-L	AYPHLRIRS	SKPFPWGD	GNHTLF	HNPHVI	NPLPTG	ZE <mark>DE</mark>		
Human-L	AYPHLRIR	KPFPWGD	GNHTLF	HNPHVI	NPLPTG	ZE <mark>DE</mark>		
Turkey	RYAHLRIR	KPFPWGD	GNKTLF	HNPHTI	NALPTG	ZE <mark>DE</mark> N		
Rat-H	PYHHLRIRI	KPFSWGD	GNHTLF	HNPHVI	NPLPTG	ΖEQP		
Bovine-H	PYHHLRIRI	KPFSWGD	GNHTFF	HNPRVI	NPLPTG	YEK P		
Human-H	EYQHLRIRI	KPVPWGD	GNHTLF	HNSHVI	NPLPTG	ZEH <mark>P</mark>		
	* *****	** ***	** * *	** *	* ****	* *		

Fig. 21. Comparison of the amino acid sequences of cytochrome c oxidase subunit VIa (L: liver type, H: heart type) from different species [taken from Hüttemann et al., 2000]. Identical amino acids in all tissues and species are marked by asterisks. Identical amino acids of mature proteins in all liver type or heart type, which do not occur in the other isotype, including the two amino acid gaps in VIaL and VIaH, are indicated white on black. The transmembraneous region is boxed. The conserved Arg¹⁷ in VIaH, representing one of three amino acids of the bovine heart subunit involved in the binding of ADP [Tsukihara et al., 1996], is indicated by an arrow and differs from a conserved lysine in VIaL.

4.3. Phosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase subunits

4.3.1. Identification of phosphorylated subunits of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase with antibodies against phosphoserine and phosphothreonine

Previous studies indicated that the allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase occurs only in the cAMP-dependent phosphorylated enzyme [Bender and Kadenbach, 2000]. Therefore it was of interest to investigate phosphorylated sites in the enzyme using antibodies against phosphoserine and phosphothreonine. Cytochrome c oxidases from bovine heart were isolated in the presence and absence of KF (an nonspecific inhibitor of protein phosphatases) and EGTA by the Triton X-100 method as well as by the cholate method. After SDS-PAGE, Western Blot analysis was performed with the antibodies. As shown in Fig. 22, different enzyme preparations show different staining of subunits with the two antibodies. Most subunits except Va and Vb react with both antibodies. The staining of subunits II/III, IV, and VIIa with both antibodies is stronger in enzymes which were isolated with KF and EGTA, either by the Triton X-100 or the cholate method, than in enzymes which were isolated without KF and EGTA. Very intensive staining with phosphothreonine antibody of subunit IV in the enzymes purified with KF and EGTA, is remarkable. Subunit VIb is only stained in the enzyme isolated by the Triton X-100 method in the absence of KF and EGTA. Except the enzyme prepared with KF and EGTA by the Triton X-100 method, all other preparations show almost the same staining intensity of subunits VIc, VIIa and VIIb. The N-terminal cleaved subunit VIa (VIa*) of the enzymes isolated by the cholate method, are shown by staining with Coomassie Blue on the gel (lane 1) and also by staining with antibodies on the membranes. Interestingly, the degradation of VIa seems to be blocked partially by addition of KF and EGTA during the purification. Some cross reactivity seems to exist between the two antibodies.



Fig. 22. Western Blot analysis of different bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase preparations with antibodies against phosphoserine (lane 2-5) and phosphothreonine (lane 6-9).

Immunodetection of the subunits with antibodies was performed as described in 3.5.

Lane 1: Coomassie Blue staining, cholate method, without EGTA and KF

Lanes 2-9: Immunostaining. Conditions of enzyme isolation:

Lane 2 and 6: Triton X-100 method, without EGTA and KF

Lane 3 and 7: Triton X-100 method, with EGTA and KF

Lane 4 and 8: cholate method, with EGTA and KF

Lane 5 and 9: cholate method, without EGTA and KF

4.3.2. Possible phosphorylation sites in the subunits of bovine heart cytochrome c <u>oxidase</u>

Fig. 22 suggests the existence of phosphorylated serines and threonines in the subunits of cytochrome c oxidase *in vivo*. The sites in subunits of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase which could be phosphorylated by protein kinases [Pearson and Kemp, 1991] were picked out. Many possible phosphorylation sites were identified in all subunits, as shown in Fig. 23. The consensus sequences for cAMP-dependent protein kinases (PKAs) are boxed, and for cGMP-dependent protein kinases and calcium activated protein kinases (PKCs) are underlined and overlined. The consensus sequences for cGMP-dependent protein kinases and PKCs are not distinguished in Fig. 23, because they are almost identical. The phosphorylated amino acids are denoted by asterisks. Only three consensus sequences for cAMP-dependent protein kinases and pKCs.

Subunit I

М	F	I	N	R	W	L	F	1 <u>S</u> '	0 Г 1	N	Н	K	D	I	G	Т *	L	2 Y	20 L	L	F	G	A	W	A	G	Μ	3 V	30 G	Т	A	L	S	L	L	I	R	40 A E
L	G	Q	Ρ	G	т	L	L	5 G 1	0 D I	D	Q	I	Y	N	V	V	v	6 T	50 A	н	A	F	v	М	I	F	F	M	70 V	М	Ρ	I	М	I	G	G	F	80 G N
W	L	V	Ρ	L	М	I	G	9 A	0 P I	D I	M	A	F	Ρ	R	М	N	10 N	00 M	S	F	W	L	L	P	P	S	11 F	LO L	L	L	L	A	S	S	М	V	120 E A
G	A	G	Т	G	W	т	V	13 Y :	0 P 1	Ρ	L	A	G	N	L	A	Н	14 A	l0 G	A	S	v	D	L	т	I	F	15 S	50 L	н	L	A	G	V	S	S	I	160 L G
A	I	N	F	I	т	Т	I	17 I 1	0 N I	M	K	Ρ	P	A	М	S	Q	18 Y	30 Q	Т	Ρ	L	F	v	W	S	v	19 M	90 I	Т	A	V	L	L	L	L	S	200 L P
								21	0									22	20									23	30									240
V	L	A	A	G	Ι	Т	М	LI	L <u>;</u>	Г *	D	R	Ν	L	Ν	Ť	Т	F	F	D	Ρ	A	G	G	G	D	Ρ	I	L	Y	Q	Н	L	F	W	F	F	GН
Ρ	E	V	Y	I	L	I	L	25 P (0 G 1	F	G	М	I	S	Н	I	V	26 T	50 Y	Y	<u>s</u>	G	K	K	Е	Ρ	F	27 G	70 Y	М	G	М	V	W	A	М	М	280 S I
G	F	L	G	F	I	V	W	29 A 1	O H I	H	M	F	Т	V	G	М	D	30 V	00 D	Т	R	A	Y	F	T	S	A	31 T	LO M	I	I	A	I	Ρ	Т	G	V	320 <u>K V</u>
F	S	W	L	A	т	L	Н	33 G (0 G 1	N	I	K	W	S	Ρ	A	М	34 M	10 W	A	L	G	F	I	ŕ	L	F	35 T	50 V	G	G	L	Т	G	I	V	L	360 A N
S	* S	L	D	I	V	L	н	37 D '	0 Г 1	Y	Y	v	v	Â	Н	F	н	38 Y	80 V	L	S	М	G	A	v	F	A	39 I	90 M	G	G	F	V	н	W	F	Ρ	400 L F
S	G	Y	Т	L	N	D	Т	41 W 2	0 A I	ĸ	I	н	F	A	I	М	F	42 V	20 G	v	N	М	т	F	F	P	0	43 H	30 F	L	G	L	S	G	М	Ρ	R	440 R Y
								45	0									46	50									47	70									480
S	D	Y	Ρ	D	A	Y	Т	M	W 1	N	т	I	S	S	М	G	S	F	I	S	L	Т	A	V	М	L	М	v	F	I	I	W	Е	A	F	A	S	KR

								49	90									5(00									51	LO			51	14
E	V	L	* T	V	D	L	Т	Т	Т	N	L	E	W	L	N	G	С	Ρ	Ρ	Ρ	Y	Н	Т	F	Е	Е	Ρ	Т	Y	V	N	L	к

Subunit II

М	A	Y	Ρ	М	Q	L	G	1 F	0 Q I) I	Υ	S	Ρ	I	М	Е	20 E I	C L	Н	F	Н	D	Н	Т	L	3 M	0 I 7	7	F	L	I	S	S	L	V	4 L	0 Y
								5	0	L.							60	D								7	0									8	80
I	I	S	L	М	L	<u>Т</u> *	Т	K	L	C F	ΙT	s *	Т	Μ	D	A	QI	ΞV	E	Т	I	W	Т	I	L	Ρ	A :	[I	L	Ι	L	I	A	L	Ρ	s *
L	R	I	L	Y	М	М	D	9 E	0 1 I	11	I P	S	L	<u>Т</u> *	V	K	100 T N) 1 G	Н	Q	W	Y	W	S	Y	11 E	0 Y 1	c :	D	Y	Е	D	L	S	F	12 D	20 S
								13	0								140	D								15	0								-	160)
Y	М	I	P	т	S	E	L	13 K	P (∃ E	: L	R	L	L	Е	v	140 D 1) NR	. V	v	L	Ρ	М	Е	М	15 <u>T</u>		2]	M	L	V	* S	S	Е	D	160 V) L
Y	М	I	Ρ	Т	S	E	L	13 K 17	0 P (0	Ξ E	L	R	L	L	E	V	140 D N 180) NR	. V	V	L	Ρ	М	Е	М	15 <u>T</u> * 19	0 I] 0	2]	M	L	V	* S	S	Е	D	160 V 20) L)0
Y H	M	I W	P A	T V	S P	E	L L	13 K 17 G	0 P (0 L 1	ΞE C I	I I I I I	R A	L I	L P	E G	V R	140 D M 180 L M) NR) NQ	. V <u>T</u>	V T	L L	P M	M <u>S</u>	E	M R	15 <u>T</u> 19 P	0 <u>I</u> 0 G 1	<u></u>	M Y	L Y	V G	* S Q	S C	E	D E	160 V 20 I) L 00 C
Y H	M	I W	P A	T V	S	E	L L	13 K 17 G 21	0 P (0 L 1 0	G E		R A	L	L P	E G	V <u>R</u>	14(D M 18(<u>L M</u> 22() NR N <u>Q</u>	. V <u>T</u>	V T	L L	P M	M <u>S</u> *	E S 7	M R	15 <u>T</u> 19 P	0 <u>1</u> 0 G 1	<u> </u>	M Y	L Y	V G	× S Q	S	E	D E	160 V 20 I) L 0 C

Subunit III

								1	0									2	0									3	0									4	ŧΟ
М	Т	Η	Q	Т	Η	A	Y	Η	Μ	V	Ν	Ρ	S	Ρ	W	Ρ	L	Т	G	A	L	S	A	L	L	Μ	Т	S	GΙ	_	Т	М	W	F	Η	F	Ν	S	М
								5	50									6	0						_			7	0									8	30
Т	L	L	М	Ι	G	L	Т	Т	Ν	М	L	Т	М	Y	Q	W	W	R	D	V	Ι	R	Ε	s *	<u>]</u> *	F	Q	G	ΗI	ł	Т	Ρ	A	V	Q	K	G	L	R
								9	90									10	0									11	0									12	20
Y	G	Μ	Ι	L	F	Ι	Ι	S	Ε	V	L	F	F	Т	G	F	F	W	A	F	Y	Η	S	S	L	A	Ρ	Т	ΡI	Ξ	L	G	G	С	W	Ρ	Ρ	Т	G
								13	80									14	0									15	0									16	50
Ι	Η	Ρ	L	Ν	Ρ	L	Ε	V	Ρ	L	L	Ν	Т	S	V	L	L	A	S	G	V	S	Ι	Т	W	A	Η	Η	S I	_	М	Ε	G	D	R	K	Η	Μ	L
								17	0									18	0									19	0									20	00
Q	A	L	F	Ι	Т	I	Т	L	G	V	Y	F	Т	L	L	Q	A	S	Ε	Y	Y	Ε	A	Ρ	F	Т	Ι	S	D	5	V	Y	G	S	Т	F	F	V	A
								21	.0									22	0									23	0									24	ŧ0
Т	G	F	Η	G	L	Η	V	I	Ι	G	S	Т	F	L	Ι	V	С	F	F	R	Q	L	Κ	F	Η	F	Т	SI	NI	ł	Η	F	G	F	Е	Α	G	А	W
								25	50									26	0								*												
Y	W	Н	F	v	D	v	v	W	L	F	L	Y	V	S	I	Y	W	W	G	S																			

Subunit IV

								10									2	20									3	0									4	0
А	Η	G	S	V	V	Κ	S	ΕI	Y Y	Α	L	Ρ	S	Y	V	D	R	R	D	Y	Ρ	L	Ρ	D	V	А	Η	V	Κ	Ν	L	S	А	S	Q	Κ	А	L
																																*		*				
								50									F	50									7	0									6	0
																		0										0									0	
Κ	Е	Κ	Е	Κ	A	D	W	SS	L	S	R	D	Е	K	v	Q	L	Y	R	I	Q	F	Ν	Е	S	F	A	E	М	Ν	К	G	Т	Ν	Е	W	ĸ	Т

78

								9	0									10	00									11	LO									12	20
V	V	G	A	A	М	F	F	Ι	G	F	Т	A	L	L	L	Ι	W	Ε	K	Η	Y	V	Y	G	Ρ	Ι	Ρ	Η	Т	F	Ε	Ε	Ε	W	V	A	Κ	Q	T
								13	0									14	10						14	17													×
K	R	Μ	L	D	М	K	V	A	Ρ	Ι	Q	G	F	s *	A	Κ	W	D	Y	D	K	Ν	Ε	W	K	K													

Subunit Va

								-	10									2	20										30									4	40
S	Η	G	S	Η	Е	Т	D	Е	Е	F	D	A	R	W	V	Т	Y	F	Ν	Κ	Ρ	D	Ι	D	Α	W	Е	L	R	Κ	G	М	Ν	Т	L	V	G	Y	D
																*																		*					
								ŗ	50									6	50										70									8	80
L	V	Ρ	Е	Ρ	Κ	Ι	I	D	А	А	L	R	А	С	R	R	L	Ν	D	F	А	S	А	V	R	Ι	L	Е	V	V	Κ	D	Κ	Α	G	Ρ	Η	Κ	Ε
								9	90									10	0								10)9											
Ι	Y	Ρ	Y	V	Ι	Q	Е	L	R	Ρ	Т	L	Ν	Е	L	G	Ι	S	Т	Ρ	Е	Е	L	G	L	D	Κ	V											
											*																												

Subunit Vb

								1	LO									2	20									1	30									4	ĿО
Α	S	G	G	G	V	Ρ	Т	D	Е	Е	Q	А	Т	G	\mathbf{L}	Е	R	Е	V	М	\mathbf{L}	А	А	R	Κ	G	Q	D	Ρ	Y	Ν	Ι	L	А	Ρ	Κ	А	Т	S
																																							*
								5	50									e	50										70									8	30
G	Т	Κ	Е	D	Ρ	Ν	L	V	Ρ	S	I	Т	Ν	Κ	R	Ι	V	G	С	Ι	С	Е	Е	D	Ν	S	Т	V	Ι	W	F	W	L	Η	Κ	G	Е	А	Q
												*																											
_								9	ЭO							9	99																						
R	С	Ρ	S	С	G	Т	Η	Y	Κ	L	V	Ρ	Η	Q	L	Α	Η																						
			*	•																																			

Subunit VIa

								1	10									2	20									1	30									4	10
																			*																				
А	S	Α	А	Κ	G	D	Η	G	G	Т	G	А	R	Т	W	R	F	L	Т	F	G	L	А	L	Ρ	S	V	А	L	С	Т	L	Ν	S	W	L	Η	S	G
														*					*																				
								5	50									e	50									5	70									8	30
Η	R	Е	R	Ρ	А	F	I	Ρ	Y	Н	Η	L	R	Ι	R	Т	Κ	Ρ	F	3	W	G	D	G	Ν	Н	Т	F	F	Н	Ν	Ρ	R	V	Ν	Ρ	L	Ρ	Т
													_			*				*																			
			8	35																																			
G	Y	Е	Κ	Ρ																																			

Subunit VIb

								1	0									2	20									1	30									4	0
Μ	A	Ε	D	Ι	Q	A	K	Ι	K	Ν	Y	Q	Т	A	Ρ	F	D	S	R	F	Ρ	Ν	Q	Ν	Q	Т	R	Ν	С	W	Q	Ν	Y	L	D	F	Η	R	С
								5	0									6	50									5	70									8	0
				*																																			
Ε	K	A	М	T	A	K	G	G	D	V	S	V	С	Ε	W	Y	R	R	V	Y	Κ	S	L	С	Ρ	I	S	W	V	S	Т	W	D	D	R	R	A	Е	G
				*																		*																	
				8	36																																		
Т	F	Ρ	G	Κ	Ι																																		
*																																							

Subunit VIc

								-	10									2	20									3	30									4	£ 0
S	Т	А	L	Α	Κ	Ρ	Q	М	R	G	L	L	А	R	R	L	R	F	Η	Ι	V	G	А	F	М	V	S	L	G	F	А	Т	F	Y	Κ	F	А	V	А
								ŗ	50									e	50									7	70		7	3							
Е	Κ	R	Κ	Κ	А	Y	А	D	F	Y	R	Ν	Y	D	S	М	Κ	D	F	Е	Е	М	R	Κ	А	G	Ι	F	Q	S	А	K							
											_																					_							

Subunit VIIa

10 F E N R V A E K Q K L F Q E D N G L P V H L <u>K G G A T</u> D N I L Y <u>R V T</u> M T L C L * 50 59 G G T L Y S L Y C L G W A S F P H K K

Subunit VIIb

								-	10									2	20									3	30									4	ŧΟ
Ι	Η	Q	Κ	R	А	Ρ	D	F	Η	D	Κ	Y	G	Ν	Α	V	L	Α	S	G	Α	Т	F	С	V	А	V	W	V	Y	М	А	Т	Q	Ι	G	Ι	Е	W
								50	C					56	5																								
								*																															
Ν	Ρ	S	Ρ	V	G	R	V	Т	Ρ	Κ	Е	W	R	Е	Q																								
								*																															

Subunit VIIc

10 20 30 40 S H Y E E G P G K N I P F S V E N K W R L L A M M <u>T L F F G S</u> G F A A P F F I V * 47 R H Q L L K K

Subunit VIII

10 20 30 40 * * * I <u>TAKPARTPTS</u>PKEQAIGLSVTFLSFLLPAGWVLYHLDNY 46 <u>KKSS</u>AA * *

Fig. 23. Possible phosphorylation sites in the subunits of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase for cAMP-dependent and cGMP-dependent kinases, and calcium activated protein kinases.

The consensus sequences for cAMP-dependent protein kinase are boxed, and for cGMP-dependent kinases and calcium activated protein kinases are underlined and overlined. The asterisks denote the residues which could be phosphorylated. The consensus sequences for the protein kinases are taken from Pearson and Kemp [1991].

4.4. Regulation of cytochrome c oxidase activity by cAMP-dependent phosphorylation

4.4.1. The allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase is protected by KF and EGTA in the isolation media

The allosteric ATP-inhibition of isolated cytochrome c oxidase [Arnold and Kadenbach, 1997] was found to vary in different enzyme preparations, depending on the degree of dephosphorylation during isolation [Bender and Kadenbach, 2000]. Therefore the effect of including the nonspecific protein phosphatase inhibitor KF and the calcium chelating agent EGTA in the isolation media on the allosteric ATP-inhibition was investigated. Cytochrome c oxidases from bovine heart, isolated in the presence of 10 mM KF and 2 mM EGTA by the Triton X-100 method, and in the absence of KF and EGTA by the cholate method, were solubilized in Tween 20 (see in 3.3.3.) and the activities were measured at increasing concentrations of cytochrome c (Fig. 24). Interestingly, the enzyme isolated in the presence of KF and EGTA shows a sigmoidal activity/substrate (v/s) relationship in the presence of ATP, with full inhibition of activity up to 2.5 µM cytochrome c. In contrast, the enzyme which was purified without KF and EGTA shows in the presence of ATP a hyperbolic activity/substrate relationship (saturation kinetics). Saturation kinetics are obtained with both enzymes in the presence of ADP. Cytochrome c oxidase which was isolated in the absence of KF and EGTA by the Triton X-100 method, has also hyperbolic kinetics in the presence of ATP and ADP (data not shown).





Fig. 24. Effect of including KF and EGTA in the enzyme isolation media on the kinetics of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase.

Enzyme A (circles) was isolated by the Triton X-100 method in the presence of KF and EGTA and enzyme B (squares) was isolated by the cholate method in the absence of KF and EGTA. The enzymes were solubilized in Tween 20, 50 mM KPi (pH 7.4), 1 mM EDTA with 1 % cardiolipin (40:1 mol/mol, cardiolipin/enzyme) and dialysed against 0.5 mM ATP as described in 3.3.3. The ascorbate respiration was measured polarographically in the presence of 5 mM ATP (closed symbols) or 5 mM ADP (open symbols), as indicated in parentheses, with increasing concentrations of cytochrome c (0-20 μ M).

4.4.2. Effect of cAMP-dependent phosphorylation on the allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase isolated with KF and EGTA

The allosteric ATP-inhibition of the bovine heart enzyme, purified with KF and EGTA, is only slightly enhanced by incubation with cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA), cAMP, ATP, and an ATP-regenerating system (see in 3.3.5.). Full inhibition of enzyme activity is extended only from 2.5 μ M to 3 μ M cytochrome c concentration (Fig. 25). This result suggests that the isolation conditions (presence of KF and EGTA) prevented the dephosphorylation of this enzyme at the sites for cAMP-dependent protein kinase(s) during purification.



Fig. 25. Allosteric ATP-inhibition of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase, isolated with KF and EGTA, is slightly intensified by incubation with protein kinase A, cAMP, and ATP.

Solubilized cytochrome c oxidase was incubated with 200 U/ml cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA), 50 μ M cAMP, 5 mM ATP, and an ATP-regenerating system (10 mM PEP, 10 U/ml PK, and 5 mM MgSO₄) at 30 °C for 20 min (circles). As a control, cytochrome c oxidase was incubated with all substances except PKA under the same conditions (squares). The ascorbate respiration was measured in the presence of 5 mM ATP (closed symbols) or 5 mM ADP (open symbols).

4.4.3. TMPD abolishes the allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase

N,N,N',N'-Tetramethyl-p-phenylenediamine-hydrochloride (TMPD), an electron carrier between ascorbate and cytochrome c, was added to the solubilized enzyme during measurement. TMPD releases completely the allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase. The enzyme activity at 10 μ M cytochrome c in the presence of ADP was increased to ca. 162 % by addition of TMPD and more than doubled in the presence of ATP (Fig. 26).

TMPD allows electron transfer from ascorbate via cytochrome c to the oxidase without dissociation of cytochrome c [Ferguson-Miller and Margoliash, 1978]. The release of allosteric ATP-inhibition indicates that TMPD eliminates the cooperativity of the two cytochrome c binding sites (in each monomer) of the dimeric enzyme.



Fig. 26. TMPD releases the allosteric ATP-inhibition of isolated cytochrome c oxidase from bovine heart.

The respiration of solubilized cytochrome c oxidase, purified in the presence of KF and EGTA, was measured with (circles) and without (squares) 0.7 mM TMPD. 5 mM ATP (closed symbols) or 5 mM ADP (open symbols) was included in the measuring system.

4.4.4. Incubation with protein phosphatase 1 releases the allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase

Dephosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase was performed to confirm the significance of phosphorylation for the allosteric ATP-inhibition of the enzyme. Solubilized bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase, isolated with KF and EGTA, was dephosphorylated by incubation with the catalytic subunit of protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) (see in 3.3.5.). After incubation with PP1 the allosteric ATP-inhibition of the enzyme is completely abolished. In the presence of ATP or ADP nearly the same activity of the enzyme is measured after treatment with PP1, as presented in Fig. 27.



Fig. 27. Allosteric ATP-inhibition of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase isolated in the presence of KF and EGTA, is released by incubation with protein phosphatase 1 (PP1). Solubilized enzyme was incubated at 30 °C for 40 min with 300 U/ml PP1 (catalytic subunit) and 100 μ M MnCl₂ (circles). As a control the enzyme was incubated only with MnCl₂ under the same conditions (squares). The activity was measured in the presence of 5 mM ATP (closed symbols) or 5 mM ADP (open symbols).

4.4.5. Time dependent induction of allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase by cAMP-dependent phosphorylation

Bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase, isolated without KF and EGTA by the cholate method, was incubated for different times with PKA, cAMP, ATP, and an ATP-regenerating system and the enzyme activity was measured. The allosteric ATP-inhibition is not seen before incubation with PKA but is induced by incubation and intensified with increasing time of incubation. After incubation for 40 min, full inhibition of activity is obtained up to 3 μ M cytochrome c concentration (Fig. 28). Extension of the incubation time for 60 min does not further intensify the allosteric ATP-inhibition. The activity of the enzyme in the presence of ADP is slightly decreased by phosphorylation but the hyperbolic activity/substrate relationship is not changed.





Solubilized heart enzyme, isolated under standard conditions (in the absence of KF and EGTA) by the cholate method, was incubated with 200 U/ml PKA, 50 μ M cAMP, 5 mM ATP, and the ATP-regenerating system at 30 °C for 0, 10, 20, 40 and 60 min, respectively. The ascorbate respiration of the enzyme was measured in the presence of 5 mM ATP (closed symbols) or 5 mM ADP (open symbols). The enzyme activity at 3 μ M cytochrome c (diamonds) is presented with increasing incubation time in the insert. Squares: incubation with PKA for 0 min; circles: 10 min; up-triangles: 20 min; down-triangles: 40 min; stars: 60 min.

4.4.6. Allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase is reversibly turned on by cAMP-dependent phosphorylation and turned off by dephosphorylation

The reversibility of allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase by phosphorylation with protein kinase A in a cAMP-dependent way, and by dephosphorylation with protein phosphatase, is presented in Fig. 29. The enzyme, isolated without KF and EGTA, showed no sigmoidal inhibition kinetics in the presence of ATP (see insert). Incubation with PKA induces the allosteric ATP-inhibition by changing the hyperbolic into a sigmoidal titration curve, whereas subsequent incubation with PP1 converts back the sigmoidal into a hyperbolic titration curve, resulting in the same activity in the presence of ATP and ADP.





Solubilized cytochrome c oxidase, isolated in the absence of KF and EGTA, was phosphorylated (circles) at 37 °C for 40 min with 200 U/ml PKA, 50 μ M cAMP, 5 mM ATP, and an ATP-regenerating system. Subsequent dephosphorylation (up-triangles) was performed at 30 °C for 40 min with 500 U/ml PP1 and 100 μ M MnCl₂. The insert presents the respiration of the enzyme before incubation with PKA (squares). The activity was measured in the presence of 5 mM ATP (closed symbols) or 5 mM ADP (open symbols).

4.4.7. The allosteric ATP-inhibition is obtained with cytochrome c oxidases from bovine heart, kidney, and testis

Cytochrome c oxidases from bovine heart, kidney, and testis were phosphorylated with PKA, cAMP, ATP, and an ATP-regenerating system, and the activity was measured at increasing concentrations of cytochrome c (Fig. 30). Before phosphorylation the kidney and testis enzymes present hyperbolic titration curves in the presence of ATP. The heart enzyme seems to be already phosphorylated to some extent, because its kinetic has a linear shape instead of a hyperbolic. After phosphorylation, all enzymes present allosteric ATP-inhibition. The hyperbolic curves in the presence of ADP, and the sigmoidal curves in the presence of ATP are very similar among each other.



Fig. 30. Induction of allosteric ATP-inhibition of isolated cytochrome c oxidases from bovine heart, kidney, and testis by incubation with PKA, cAMP, and ATP.

The activity of the enzymes were measured before (A) and after (B) phosphorylation. Solubilized enzymes from heart (squares), kidney (circles), and testis (up-triangles) were phosphorylated at 37 °C for 40 min with 200 U/ml PKA, 50 μ M cAMP, 5 mM ATP, and an ATP-regenerating system. The ascorbate respiration was measured in the presence of 10 mM PEP, 10 U/ml PK, 5 mM MgSO₄, and 5 mM ATP (closed symbols) or 10 mM PEP, 5 mM MgSO₄, and 5 mM ADP (open symbols).

4.4.8. Allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase is induced by phosphorylation from the cytosolic side

Most subunits of cytochrome c oxidase are transmembraneous, except subunits Va, Vb and VIb. Therefore it was of interest, whether the allosteric ATP-inhibition is due to phosphorylation from the cytosolic or matrix side. Bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase was reconstituted in the presence of ATP or ADP as described in 3.3.4. Then the proteoliposomes were phosphorylated only from the cytosolic side (outside). As shown in Fig. 31, allosteric ATP-inhibition is obtained only with phosphorylated proteoliposomes, reconstituted in the presence of ATP. This result demonstrates the sidedness (cytosolic side) of the phosphorylation site(s) in cytochrome c oxidase, which induces allosteric ATP-inhibition.



Fig. 31. Allosteric ATP-inhibition of reconstituted bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase is induced by phosphorylation from the outside.

Cytochrome c oxidase was reconstituted in the presence of 5 mM ATP (closed symbols) or 5 mM ADP (open symbols). The reconstituted enzyme (squares) was phosphorylated (circles) at 37° C for 40 min with 200 U/ml PKA, 50 μ M cAMP, and an ATP-regenerating system. The descriptions before and after the semicolon indicate the conditions during reconstitution and during measurement of activity, respectively.

4.4.9. Proposed phosphorylation site for allosteric ATP-inhibition

A search for consensus sequences for cAMP-dependent phosphorylation in the bovine heart enzyme (Fig. 23) revealed only three sites: RRYS⁴⁴¹ in subunit I (cytosolic side), RES⁶⁵ in subunit III (matrix side) and RCPS⁸⁴ in subunit Vb (matrix side). The consensus sequence in subunit Vb (RCPS⁸⁴) is not conserved, neither in mammals nor in other eukaryotes as shown in Fig. 32. Also the consensus sequence in subunit III (RES⁶⁵) is not conserved in animals (Fig. 33). In contrast the consensus sequence RRYS⁴⁴¹ in subunit I is completely conserved in all animals which are controlled by hormones, i.e. from mammals, over birds, reptiles, fishes, insects, molluscs, down to echinacea (sea urchin). This consensus sequence is absent in all other organisms, e.g. in nematodes *(C. elegans)*, neodermata, plants, fungi (yeast), and bacteria (Fig. 34).

																Se	r ⁸	4					
			70									8	0				¥					9	0
Mammals	••	Bovine	I	W	F	W	г	н	ĸ	G	Е	A	Q	R	C	Ρ	ន	С	G	т	н	Y	ĸ
	••	Human	v	W	F	W	L	н	ĸ	G	Q	A	Q	R	C	Ρ	R	C	G	A	н	Y	к
	••	Mouse	I	W	F	W	L	н	ĸ	G	Е	s	Q	R	C	Ρ	N	C	G	т	н	Y	к
Fishes .	•••	Tuna	v	W	R	W	L	н	Е	G	A	G	Е	R	С	P	ន	C	G	s	н	Y	к
•	•••	Rainbow trout	v	W	F	W	г	н	Е	G	к	т	Q	R	C	Ρ	Е	C	G	S	н	Y	Q

Fig. 32. The consensus sequence for cAMP-dependent phosphorylation in cytochrome c oxidase subunit Vb is not conserved.

The consensus sequence for cAMP-dependent phosphorylation is boxed in black.

In previous studies, cAMP-dependent phosphorylation of isolated bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase with [γ -³²P] ATP, cAMP, and PKA resulted in labelling of subunits I, II (and/or III), and Vb [Bender and Kadenbach, 2000]. This corresponds to the three cAMP-dependent phosphorylation sites in subunits I, III, and Vb from the search in Fig. 23. From the facts that (1) the consensus sequence RRYS⁴⁴¹ for cAMP-dependent phosphorylation in subunit I is oriented to the cytosolic side and completely conserved among animals, and (2) that phosphorylation from the cytosolic side is essential for turning on the allosteric ATP-inhibition in the bovine heart enzyme (Fig. 31), it is suggested that RRYS⁴⁴¹ in subunit I represents the phosphorylation site which induces the allosteric ATP-inhibition of animal cytochrome c oxidases.

Helix III	Helix II		
TPQGAHTAVVENGLRYGMILFITSE	LLIALGEVILLITTMINWBOIVREA	Sea urchin	Echinacea .
TFYGYHTMKVSLOHRMOMVLFITSE	ITMLLGLFLVLMIMEQWWRD I IRES	Squid	:
TYQGHHTTYVVKGLKLGMALFILSZ	YLLLYGHLLTSI LAYNWWRD IVREA	. Land snail	Molluscs
INCONTLRVQNGINMONVLFITSE	IYMLLSNMLFILIFIMMMRDMISES	Lous	:
TYQGLHTYAVTIGLRWGMILFILSE	SLFLLGNIITILTVYQMWRDVSREG	Drosophila	Insects
TFOGHHTPPVQKGLRYGMILFITSE	TLLTLONILLLIMY OWNED I IREG	Rainbow trout	
TFQGHHTPPVQKGLRYGMILFITSE	TLLTLON ILLLIMY OWNED I JEEG	Atlantic salmon	Fishes
TPQGHHTPPVQKGLRVGMILFITSE	ILLTLGLITNVLTHIQMMROVINGG	Xenopus	:
TYLGHHTPAVQRGLRYGMILFITSE	LLLLCLVTTMLVMYQWWRDVVRHS	American alligator	Reptiles
TFOGHHTPTVORGLRYGMILFITSE	TLLTLGLLSMFLVMVQWWRD IV CER	Ostrich	
TFOGHNTPTVQKGLRYGHILFITSE	TLITHGLISMLLVMLOWWRDVVRBS	. Chicken	Birds
TFQGHHTPIVQKGLRYGMILFIISE	FLIVLGLITNILTMPOWWRDIIREG	. Hedgehog	:
TYQGHHTPIVQKFLRYPMILFIVSE	TLLTLGLLTNILTNYQWWRDVIREG	Mouse	:
TFQGHHTPVVQESLRYGMILFITSE	TLLLIGLTINILIMPOWWRDVVREG	African elephant	:
TFQGHHTSVVQXGLRGYMILFIISZ	LLSLGLLTNTLIMYQWWRDIIRSS	. preine	:
STFQGHHTPAVQKGLRYGMILFIISE	TLLMIGLTING, IMYOHWRDVIESS	. Cow	:
TTQGHHTPPVQKGLRYGMILFITSE	TLIMLGLLTMTLIMYQWWRDVIR	. Man	Mammals
90	41		

Fig. 33. The consensus sequence for cAMP-dependent phosphorylation in cytochrome converse and the indicate parts of transmembraneous helices. The consensus sequence for cAMP-dependent phosphorylation is boxed in black. Helix II and III indicate parts of transmembraneous helices in subunit III, as derived from the crystal structure [Tsukihara et al., 1996].

The consensus amino acids of the proton pathway and the conserved consensus sequence for cAMP-dependent phosphorylation are presented white on black. Modified amino acids and modified consensus sequences are presented in boxes black on white. Helix I, II, XI, and XII Fig. 34. Parallel conservation of a consensus sequence for cAMP-dependent phosphorylation and of the postulated proton pathway in subunit I of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase, including Arg³⁸, Asp⁵¹ (exit amino acid), and Tyr⁵⁴ [Yoshikawa et al., 1998]. indicate parts of transmembraneous helices in subunit I, as derived from the crystal structure [Tsukihara et al., 1996].

	Asp ⁵¹ = exit amino acid	cAMP-dependent phosphorylation
	Arg ³⁸ Asp ⁵¹ Tyr ⁵⁴	Ser ⁴⁴¹
	34 4 4 56	426
Mammals Man	SILLIEMELGOPGNILLGNEHIENVILVE	FPQNFLGLSCMPHHMSDYPDAYTTWNIL
Cow	TUNUNG COPELLING CONTRACTOR	PPQHFLGLSGMERICKEDYPDAYTMMNTI
African Elephant	SILIEMELGOPGSILGDBOIDWVIVT	FPOHFLGLSCMPHINEDYPDAYTAMNTA
Birds Chicken	TVIVADIO DOLLOGOPOLI MULTIS	FPQHFLGLAGMERINGDYPDAYTLMMTL
Ostrich	SILIENELGOPGTILGOPGILENULVE	FPQHFLGLAGMERIEWSDYPDAYTLMNTM
Reptiles American alligator	SILIBRELSOPORTIGDEDINATVE	FPGHFLGLSCMBHRWSDYPDAYTLMMLT
Xenopus	TUTURAL SPECIFIC DESTRATION STATEMENT SPECIFIC S	VPQHFLGLSAMERIEVEDYPDAYTLMNTY
Fishes Atlantic salmon	SILIBAELSOPGALLGDBOILWVIVT	PPOBPLGLAGMPRIZEDYPDAYTLWWII
Rainbow trout	SILIENELSOPEALLOUGHOUNDINVIVT	PPQHFLGLAGMERIEWSDYPDAYTLWNTV
Insects Drosophila	SILIEARLGHPGALIGDGDDWWIVT	VINWITYAGAY BRANCH DAY TYANIV
Kissing bug	TVVVN TOTOPOSPICE TVVVVT	I INMOMASDA AD STORAD STOLAND
Molluscs Land snail	SLLIBUELGTSGT-LTDEREWVIVT	PPOHPLALACEMERSON PDSY PMONOL
Squid	SIMIRTELGKPGTLLNDIQLWWWW	PPQHFLGLACMBBBWSDYPDCYTKNNMV
Echinacea . Sea urchin	SVI IBARLAQPGSLIQDEOIBNWWT	FPQHFLGLACMPGREEDYSDYPDAYTLMMTV
Nematoda C. elegans	TILIN NUT OF STATES AND THE STATES AND A STA	FPLHFAGLHGFPRKYLDYPDVYSVWNII
Ascaris suum	SLVTBLEIAKPGLLIGSSOLMUSVIT	FPLHFAGIHGYPRKYLDYPDVYSVWNIM
Neodermata. Taenia crassiceps	LITANODISIANALSIANIATINI	FPMHYFGLCGLERRVCITECSYNWWWV
. Fasciola hepatica	INTRINATOR AND A SALENDARY AND	FPMHYLOMAGLIPHRVCVYDPDFYMLSVV
Plants Primrose	SVLIBHELARPGDOILGBOLWAVLIT	FPMHFIGLSCMPRFIPYPESYAGMNAL
Soybean	LIRMELARPEDOILGENHOLDINVLIT	FPMHFLGLSCMPRRIPDYPDAYAGWNAL
Fungi D. discoideum	SLVIB-BELSTGNALD GDGDGDGDWVIVT	PPMHFLGLAGMPRRIGDYPDAYIGNNLI
Yeast	I I RIELAAPGSQYLEGHSQIEHVLVV	FPQHFLGINGMPRRIFDYPDAFAGWNYV
Bacteria P. denitrificans	TVYMENELQEPGVQYMCHIMMVVVT	FPQHFLGRQGMPRRTDYPVEFSYMMMI
Pseudomonas aeruginos:	MANIEVELPOPELQIVEPAPENOMTT	PPMHPVGLAGMPRRI PDYNLQFADPNAV
Archaea Haloferax volcanii	VVIM I ELADPSMILL SNTTNNSILL	FAMILLGY GGMERYAT-YLPQFATLHQV
	Helix I Helix II	Helix XI Helix XII

Consensus sequence for

Postulated proton pathway

4.5. Proton translocation in eukaryotic cytochrome c oxidase has a variable H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry

A new regulation of the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry in eukaryotic cytochrome c oxidase by the intramitochondrial ATP/ADP-ratio was found by Kadenbach and coworkers [Frank and Kadenbach, 1996; Hüttemann et al., 1999 and 2000]. At high ATP/ADP-ratios (half-maximal at ATP/ADP = 100), the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry decreased from 1.0 to 0.5 in the enzyme from heart or skeletal muscle, containing subunit VIaH (heart type). It was suggested that the decreased proton pumping stoichiometry participates in thermogenesis in skeletal muscle at rest or during sleep [Rohdich and Kadenbach, 1993; Kadenbach et al., 1995; Hüttemann et al., 1999 and 2000].

4.5.1. Cardiolipin increases the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase from bovine kidney but not from bovine heart.

In contrast to the decrease of H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of the bovine heart enzyme from 1.0 to 0.5 at high intraliposomal ATP/ADP-ratios [Frank and Kadenbach, 1996], the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidases from bovine liver and kidney [Hüttemann et al., 1999] and from turkey liver and heart [Hüttemann et al., 2000] was constantly 0.5 under the same measuring conditions and was not influenced by the ATP/ADP-ratio. All these enzymes contain subunit VIaL (liver type of subunit VIa).

For the measurements of proton translocation of cytochrome c oxidase, generally cardiolipin had not been added during reconstitution. When 1% cardiolipin is included during reconstitution of the bovine kidney enzyme, the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry increases to about 1.0, as presented in Fig. 35. After addition of 10.6 nmol of ferrocytochrome c, acidifications corresponding to H⁺/e⁻ = 0.47 in the absence and 0.87 in the presence of cardiolipin are obtained, which are verified by H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometries of -0.99 and -0.98 in the presence of CCCP, respectively (the theoretical alkalinization is 1.0). The addition of cardiolipin to asolectin before reconstitution increases the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of the kidney enzyme to the same value, as measured with the heart enzyme without addition of cardiolipin.





Fig. 35. H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of cytochrome c oxidase from bovine kidney is increased by addition of cardiolipin.

Cytochrome c oxidase was reconstituted with (B) or without (A) 1 % cardiolipin in the presence of 5 mM ADP and dialysed as described in 3.4.1. The H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of the enzyme was measured by the reductant-pulse method (see in 3.4.2.). The pH changes are recorded after addition of 10.6 nmol ferrocytochrome c (corresponding to 8 enzyme turnover) to 80 μ l proteoliposomes (0.2 μ M heme aa₃) and 1 μ g/ml valinomycin in the presence and absence of 3 μ M CCCP. The measuring system was calibrated with 20 nmol HCl.

Similar results are obtained with a stopped-flow spectrophotometric assay (Fig. 36). H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometries of proteoliposomes were measured in collaboration with Maarten Ruitenberg in the group of Prof. K. Fendler, MPI of Biophysics, Department of Biophysical Chemistry, Frankfurt/Main, using the pH sensitive dye, phenol red, as described in 3.4.3. The absorbance before addition of cytochrome c to the cytochrome c oxidase vesicles was taken as zero value, and absorbance changes after addition of cytochrome c are presented by +/-numbers.



Fig. 36. Measurement of proton translocation of bovine kidney cytochrome c oxidase reconstituted with (A) and without (B) cardiolipin by a stopped-flow spectrophotometer. The proteoliposomes were prepared with or without 5 % cardiolipin in the presence of 5 mM ADP as described in 3.4.1. Absorbance changes of phenol red were recorded after addition of ferrocytochrome c to the proteoliposomes in the absence and the presence of CCCP at 555.6 nm. The absorbance before addition of reduced cytochrome c was taken as zero value. Positive changes represent alkalinization, negative changes acidification. Trace 1 and 4: addition of reduced cytochrome c in the presence of CCCP; trace 2 and 5: addition of oxidized cytochrome c in the absence of CCCP; trace 3 and 6: addition of reduced cytochrome c in the absence of CCCP.

After addition of cytochrome c to the reconstituted bovine kidney enzyme, the absorbance is decreased in the absence of CCCP, due to acidification of the measuring system by pumped protons from cytochrome c oxidase. Increase of absorbance is shown after addition of cytochrome c in the presence of CCCP, due to intravesicular alkalinization as a consequence of oxygen reduction and immediate pH equilibration between intra- and extraliposomal space. The extents of acidification and alkalinization with the kidney enzyme vesicles containing cardiolipin are almost the same in the presence and absence of CCCP, corresponding to a H^+/e^- stoichiometry of 1.0. In contrast, the extent of acidification is half of the alkalinization with the reconstituted kidney enzyme without cardiolipin, corresponding to a H^+/e^- stoichiometry of 0.5. Control experiments with oxidized cytochrome c showed that there was no contribution from cytochrome c to the phenol red absorbance changes. Calibration was performed by the released protons after tryptic cleavage of TAME in the incubation mixture (data not shown).

In Fig. 37 the stimulatory effect of increasing cardiolipin concentrations on the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of kidney cytochrome c oxidase is presented. Maximal increase of H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry is obtained at a concentration of 1 % in the lipid mixture. On the other hand, the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of the bovine heart enzyme is close to 1.0, independent of the addition of cardiolipin.



Fig. 37. Effect of different concentrations of cardiolipin on the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidases from kidney and heart.

Cytochrome c oxidase from bovine kidney and heart were reconstituted with 0-5 % of cardiolipin (percentage of the total lipid) and proton translocation was measured. The standard deviations were calculated from 3 independent determinations.

In order to exclude the possibility that the higher efficiency of proton translocation of the kidney enzyme in the presence of cardiolipin was due to a better proton tightness of the proteoliposomes, the proton permeability of the vesicles was measured by applying a potassium diffusion gradient, as shown in Fig. 38. The addition of 1 μ M valinomycin stimulates the proton influx into the proteoliposomes at the same rate with or without 1 % cardiolipin. Therefore the increased H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of the bovine kidney enzyme, reconstituted with cardiolipin, is assumed to be due to a change of the proton pumping property of the enzyme.



Fig. 38. The proton conductivities of proteoliposomes with bovine kidney cytochrome c oxidase reconstituted in the absence (A) or presence (B) of 1 % cardiolipin are the same. The proteoliposomes contained 100 mM K-Hepes inside the vesicles, and were suspended in 1 mM K-Hepes, pH 7.2, 100 mM choline chloride, 5 mM KCl. The proton conductivity is measured by recording the pH change of the suspension after addition of 1 μ M valinomycin as described in 3.4.4. The H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of the proteoliposomes without cardiolipin (A) was 0.47, that with cardiolipin (B) was 0.87. The ordinate was calibrated with 25 μ M HCl, as indicated.
In order to exclude the possibility that cardiolipin improves incorporation of cytochrome c oxidase into the liposomes, the respiratory control ratios (RCRs) of the vesicles containing increasing amounts of cardiolipin was determined (better incorporation results in higher values of RCR). No change of RCR is obtained with proteoliposomes containing increasing cardiolipin concentrations up to 5 % of total lipids (Table 5).

Table 5. Effect of cardiolipin on respiratory control ratios (RCRs) of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase from bovine kidney.

Cytochrome c oxidase was reconstituted with 0-5 % cardiolipin. RCRs were measured polarographically as described in 3.3.6. The standard deviations, sd (ΔyEr) were calculated from 3 independent determinations.

Concentration of cardiolipin (%)	RCR	sd (ΔyEr)	n	
0	4.65	0.0212	3	
0.05	4.86	0.0141	3	
0.1	4.63	0.0565	3	
0.5	4.82	0.0134	3	
1	4.82	0.0287	3	
5	4.59	0.0254	3	

To characterize the chemical group in cardiolipin which is responsible for the stimulation of H^+/e^- stoichiometry in the kidney enzyme, the influence of 3-palmitoyl-sn-glycerol on the H^+/e^- stoichiometry was investigated. Palmitoyl glycerol has a similar structure to half of the cardiolipin molecule. Cytochrome c oxidase was reconstituted with palmitoyl glycerol in the presence and absence of cardiolipin. As shown in Table 6, no effect of palmitoyl glycerol on the H^+/e^- stoichiometry is detected, neither in the absence nor in the presence of cardiolipin.

Cytochrome c oxidase was reconstituted with 0-1.5 % palmitoyl glycerol in the absence and presence of 1 % cardiolipin. The standard deviations (sd (Δ yEr)) were calculated from 3 independent determinations.

Cardiolipin (%)	palmitoyl glycerol (%)	H ⁺ /e ⁻ stoichiometry	$sd(\Delta yEr)$	n
0	1	0.42	0.0400	3
1	0	0.86	0.0057	3
1	0.25	0.92	0.0095	3
1	0.5	0.87	0.0635	3
1	1.5	0.89	0.0057	3

4.5.2. Specific decrease of H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry by palmitate of cytochrome c oxidase from kidney but not from heart

Crystallized cytochrome c oxidase from bovine heart contains 5 binding sites for cardiolipin [Yoshikawa, personal communication]. The stimulatory effect of cardiolipin on proton pumping of the kidney enzyme but not of the heart enzyme, suggested a specific binding site for cardiolipin in the kidney enzyme with less tight binding affinity. Since binding of cardiolipin is assumed to involve binding sites for fatty acids, the effect of free fatty acids on the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of the kidney enzyme was investigated. Reconstituted kidney enzyme with 1 % cardiolipin was incubated for 0 to 75 min with 5 μ M palmitate, as shown in Fig. 39. The H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry is decreased by incubation with palmitate and already after 30 min of incubation the maximal effect is obtained. On the other hand, no decrease of H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry with time is obtained with proteoliposomes in the absence of palmitate.



Fig. 39. Time dependent decrease of H^+/e^- stoichiometry of bovine kidney cytochrome c oxidase by palmitate (C16).

Bovine kidney cytochrome c oxidase was reconstituted with 1 % cardiolipin. The proteoliposomes were preincubated from 0 to 75 min at 4 °C with (closed symbols) or without (open symbols) 5 μ M palmitate. Each individual point represents the average of 2-3 independent determinations.

In further studies the effect of other fatty acids and related compounds on the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of bovine kidney cytochrome c oxidase was investigated. Fig. 40 summarizes the concentration dependent effects of laurate (C12), myristate (C14), palmitate (C16), stearate (C18), oleate (C18:1 Δ^9), cetylalcohol (C16 alcohol, C16-OH), and palmitoyl CoA (C16-CoA). With concentrations up to 10 μ M, a specific decrease of H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry was obtained only with palmitate. Half-maximal decrease was measured at 0.5 μ M palmitate. This suggests a physiological effect, because *in vivo* the concentration of free fatty acids normally does not increase above 1 μ M, due to the presence of large amounts of fatty acid binding proteins with dissociation constants below 1 μ M [Börchers and Spener, 1994; Banaszak et al., 1994; Veerkamp and Maatman, 1995; Schaap et al., 1998]. By addition of either 1.5 μ M palmitate or stearate the proton conductivity of proteoliposomes was not changed (data not shown).



Fig. 40. Specific decrease by palmitate of H^+/e^- stoichiometry of bovine kidney cytochrome c oxidase.

Proteoliposomes reconstituted in the presence of 1 % cardiolipin, were preincubated at 4 °C for 30 min with increasing concentrations of the indicated fatty acids, cetylalcohol, or palmitoyl-CoA. The H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of different proteoliposomal preparations in the absence of additions varied between 0.7-1.0. These values were taken as 100 % H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry, and changes are presented as % of control. Each individual point represents the average of 2-3, that of the palmitate titration of 12 independent determinations. Closed squares: laurate (C12); closed circles: myristate (C14); closed triangles: palmitate (C16); open squares: stearate (C18); open circles: oleate (C18:1); open triangles: cetylalcohol (C16-OH); crosses: palmitoyl-CoA (C16-CoA).

The effect of palmitate on the H^+/e^- stoichiometry of cytochrome c oxidase from bovine kidney was independent of the type of nucleotides (5 mM ATP or 5 mM ADP) within the proteoliposomes, as presented in Fig. 41. Furthermore, palmitate had no effect on the H^+/e^- stoichiometry of the kidney enzyme which was reconstituted in the absence of cardiolipin (Fig. 42).



Fig. 41. The decrease of H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry by palmitate of bovine kidney cytochrome c oxidase is independent of the intraliposomal nucleotides.

Cytochrome c oxidase from bovine kidney was reconstituted in the presence of 1 % cardiolipin and of either 5 mM ADP (open symbols) or 5 mM ATP (closed symbols). The proteoliposomes were preincubated at 4 °C for 30 min with increasing concentrations of palmitate. The standard deviations were calculated from 3 independent determinations.



Fig. 42. Palmitate decreases only the cardiolipin-stimulated H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of bovine kidney cytochrome c oxidase.

Bovine kidney enzyme was reconstituted in the presence (closed symbols) and absence (open symbols) of 1 % cardiolipin. Proteoliposomes were preincubated at 4 $^{\circ}$ C for 30 min with increasing concentrations of palmitate. Each individual point represents the average of 3 independent determinations.

The effect of palmitate on the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of cytochrome c oxidase is specific for the liver type isozyme containing subunit VIaL. No effect of palmitate on proton pumping of the bovine heart enzyme was found, containing subunit VIaH, independent of the type of nucleotides (5 mM ADP or 5 mM ATP) within the vesicles, as indicated in Fig. 43. The H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometries of 1.0 were measured with intraliposomal ADP, and of 0.5 with intraliposomal ATP, as described in previous publications [Frank and Kadenbach, 1996; Hüttemann et al., 1999; Kadenbach et al., 1999].





Fig. 43. Palmitate has no effect on the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of cytochrome c oxidase from bovine heart.

Bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase was reconstituted in the presence of 5 mM ADP (open symbols) or 5 mM ATP (closed symbols). The proteoliposomes were preincubated at 4 °C for 30 min with increasing concentrations of palmitate. The standard deviations were calculated from 3 independent determinations.

4.5.3. Palmitate increases the controlled respiration of kidney cytochrome c oxidase

From the decrease of proton pumping efficiency by palmitate, one would expect that also the respiratory control ratio (RCR = ratio of respiratory rate in the presence/absence of uncoupler of oxidative phosphorylation) of cytochrome c oxidase from kidney will be decreased by palmitate. This is indeed the case as presented in Fig. 44.



Fig. 44. Palmitate decreases the respiratory control ratio (RCR) of bovine kidney cytochrome c oxidase.

Proteoliposomes reconstituted with 1 % cardiolipin, were preincubated at 4 °C for 30 min with increasing concentrations of palmitate. The ascorbate respiration was measured in the presence and absence of 3 μ M CCCP + 1 μ M valinomycin, as described in 3.3.6. Each individual point represents the average of 3 independent determinations.

The decrease of RCR by incubation with palmitate is expected to be based on the increase of the controlled respiration of kidney proteoliposomes by palmitate. This is shown in Fig. 45, where the ascorbate respiration of the reconstituted enzymes from bovine kidney and bovine heart at increasing concentrations of cytochrome c are presented under coupled as well as uncoupled conditions. The increase of coupled respiration by palmitate is only measured with the kidney enzyme, not with the heart enzyme. After addition of uncoupler of oxidative phosphorylation (valinomycin and CCCP) neither the respiration of the heart nor of the kidney enzyme was increased by palmitate. Stearate at a concentration of 5 μ M had no effect on the coupled as well as on the uncoupled respiration of reconstituted kidney cytochrome c oxidase, as presented in Fig. 46.



Fig. 45. Respiration of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase from bovine kidney and heart in the absence and presence of palmitate under coupled and uncoupled condition. Cytochrome c oxidases from bovine kidney (squares) and heart (circles) were reconstituted with 1 % cardiolipin as described in 3.4.1. The proteoliposomes were preincubated with 1 μ M palmitate (C16) at 4 °C for 30 min, when indicated (closed symbols). As controls, the proteoliposomes were incubated without palmitate (open symbols). The ascorbate respirations of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidases were measured at increasing cytochrome c concentrations in the presence (A) or absence (B) of 3 μ M CCCP and 1 μ M valinomycin.



Fig. 46. Respiration of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase from bovine kidney in the presence of palmitate or stearate under coupled and uncoupled conditions.

Cytochrome c oxidase from bovine kidney was reconstituted with 1 % cardiolipin as described in 3.4.1. The proteoliposomes were preincubated with 1 μ M palmitate (C16, squares) or 5 μ M stearate (C18, circles) at 4 °C for 30 min (closed symbols). As controls, enzyme vesicles were incubated without fatty acids (open symbols). The ascorbate respirations of proteoliposome were measured at increasing cytochrome c concentrations in the presence (A) or absence (B) of 3 μ M CCCP and 1 μ M valinomycin.

5. Discussion

5.1. Search for cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV-2 isoform

One aspect of this dissertation was the identification of the cDNA for the proposed isoform of subunit IV (IV-2) of cytochrome c oxidase in mammals and birds by molecular biological methods. The two isoforms for subunit IV (IV-1 and IV-2) had just been described in tuna by Hüttemann [2000]. Experiments to isolate the cDNA for subunit IV-2 using degenerated PCR primers related to the cDNA of subunit IV-1 were unsuccessful. The reason was the low homology between the two isoforms (identities of amino acid sequences between subunit IV-1 and subunit IV-2 are 44.2 % in rat and 46.9 % in human). Subsequent continued search by Maik Hüttemann using numerous other primers was finally successful and the complete cDNAs for subunit IV-2 from rat, mouse, and human were identified [Hüttemann et al., 2001].

Screening for the mRNA expression of subunit IV-2 in rat by Northern Blot analysis had demonstrated its high expression only in lung tissue [Hüttemann et al., 2001]. Therefore, in this dissertation cytochrome c oxidase was isolated from bovine lung where the isozyme containing subunit IV-2, was expected to be expressed. By N-terminal and internal amino acid sequencing of subunit IV separated from the isolated enzyme by SDS-PAGE, only the known subunit IV-1 was found. According to the deduced amino acid sequence, subunit IV-2 from bovine contains two cysteines which do not occur in subunit IV-1 (Fig. 15). Hence, it was investigated whether the isolated enzyme contains cysteines in subunit IV. By incubation of reduced cytochrome c oxidase with the fluorescent reagent DACM, labelled polypeptides were detected on SDS-gels at the position of subunit IV of enzymes from different tissues. The lung enzyme had the strongest fluorescence intensity at the position of subunit IV compared to the heart and kidney enzyme, which corresponds to the highest expression of subunit IV-2 mRNA in lung. The less pure enzyme illuminated more strongly than the purer enzyme. The amount of isozyme containing subunit IV-2 seems too small to be detected by amino acid sequencing. It seems that subunit IV-2 was bound to other proteins by S-S bonds, and thus the isozyme could have been coeliminated during the enzyme isolation steps. An improvement of isolation conditions to obtain enough amount of subunit IV-2 should be considered to investigate the subunit IV-2 function.

5.2. Phosphorylation of Ser⁴⁴¹ in subunit I of cytochrome c oxidase induces allosteric ATP-inhibition

In this dissertation, phosphorylation states of cytochrome c oxidases from bovine heart that had been isolated under different conditions, were studied by antibodies against phosphoamino acids (Fig. 22). With an antibody against phosphoserine, subunits II and/or III, and subunit VIc of the enzymes isolated with KF and EGTA, were stained stronger than those of the enzymes isolated without KF and EGTA. The most remarkable staining with an antibody against phosphothreonine was subunit IV of the enzyme which had been isolated with KF and EGTA (Fig. 22). Somehow the addition of KF and EGTA seems to prevent protein phosphatases to dephosphorylate the cytochrome c oxidase during enzyme purification. Fig. 23 shows many possible phosphorylation sites for serines and threonines in bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase, searched by consensus sequences for protein kinases [Pearson and Kemp, 1991]. Even though some of them are not accessible to protein kinases and protein phosphatases in the structure, because of structural hindrance by neighbouring amino acids, phosphorylated serine(s) and threonine(s) from most subunits (except subunits Va and Vb) were detected by Western Blot analysis (Fig. 22). The reason might be that the subunits had been phosphorylated before assembling when protein kinases could still approach each polypeptide. Permanent phosphorylation is supposed to have roles in regulation of enzyme activity or in stability of enzyme conformation. Interestingly, in the crystal structure of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase, one phosphate was detected on threonine¹⁵ of subunit VIaH [Yoshikawa, personal communication]. Threonine¹⁵ is part of a possible phosphorylation site for cGMP-dependent protein kinase and protein kinase C. In the previous study, cAMP-independent phosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV from rat liver was described [Steenaart and Shore, 1997], but the effect of phosphorylation on enzyme activity is unknown.

Here, the induction of the allosteric ATP-inhibition by phosphorylation with protein kinase A, and its abolition by dephosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase [Bender and Kadenbach, 2000] were reproduced, and further the phosphorylation site which responds to the allosteric ATP-inhibition was investigated. It was shown that variable kinetic properties of purified enzymes were caused by different isolation conditions (Fig. 24). The enzyme isolated in the presence of KF (unspecific inhibitor of protein phosphatases) and EGTA, showed allosteric ATP-inhibition without phosphorylation with protein kinase A. Since the inhibition was not further intensified by phosphorylation with protein kinase A but was abolished by dephosphorylation with protein kinase 1, this cytochrome c oxidase is assumed to have

been endogenously phosphorylated at the phosphorylation sites for cAMP-dependent protein kinase.

Furthermore, it could be shown that the phosphorylation site which turns on the allosteric ATP-inhibition, is located outside of the proteoliposomes at the cytosolic side of the reconstituted enzyme (see Fig. 31). The search for consensus sequences for protein kinases [Pearson and Kemp, 1996], in all 13 subunits of cytochrome c oxidase from bovine heart, revealed only three cAMP-dependent phosphorylation sites (Fig. 23). These correspond to the three subunits that had been previously labelled by $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ ATP with protein kinase A and cAMP [Bender and Kadenbach, 2000]. Among the three cAMP-dependent phosphorylation sites, only the sequence of RRYS⁴⁴¹ in subunit I is located on the cytosolic side (Fig. 23). The other two subunits III and Vb are located on the matrix side. While those in subunits III and Vb are not conserved, the consensus sequence in subunit I (RRYS⁴⁴¹) is completely conserved in animals which are regulated by hormones down to sea urchin, but is absent in all other organisms including plants, fungi, bacteria, and archaea (Fig. 34). From these results, it is suggested that the reversible phosphorylation of Ser⁴⁴¹ in subunit I turns on the allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase. The phosphate on Ser⁴⁴¹ of subunit I, however, remains to be identified chemically in the purified enzyme in the future.

The crystal structure of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase indicates a close neighbourhood of Ser⁴⁴¹, Asp⁵¹, and a sodium ion in subunit I. Ser⁴⁴¹ forms hydrogen bonds to Asp⁵¹, and is a ligand of the sodium ion (see Figures 47-49). Asp⁵¹ was suggested as the exit amino acid of a proposed proton pathway in mammalian cytochrome c oxidase, because only Asp⁵¹ has a different location in the oxidized and reduced crystal structure, i.e. the accessibility to the cytosolic side (= intermembrane space) is increased in the reduced state [Fig. 47, Yoshikawa et al., 1998 and 2000]. This proton pathway, however, could not be corroborated in the bacterial enzyme [Pfitzner et al., 1998; Lee et al., 2001]. The Na⁺ is complexed in addition to Ser⁴⁴¹ by Gly⁴⁵ and Glu⁴⁰ [Yoshikawa et al., 1998]. It has been shown by Konstantinov and coworker [Kirichenko et al., 1998] that the Na⁺ ion can be exchanged by Ca²⁺ associated with a spectral changes of the enzyme. The sodium site, Ser⁴⁴¹, and Asp⁵¹ are all accessible from the cytosolic side (Fig. 48). The functional meaning of the close location of a sodium ion, a phosphorylation site, and a proton pathway on the cytosolic side of cytochrome c oxidase is not known. One could speculate, however, that phosphorylation of Ser⁴⁴¹ (in addition to turning on the allosteric ATP-inhibition) and the exchange of Na⁺ by Ca²⁺, modify the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of mammalian cytochrome c oxidase. In fact, in the crystal structure of the oxidized and reduced bovine heart enzyme, the

hydroxyl group of Ser⁴⁴¹ forms hydrogen bonds to the free carboxyl group of Asp⁵¹ [Yoshikawa et al., 1998]. After phosphorylation of Ser⁴⁴¹, this interaction is no longer possible due to electrostatic repulsion between the negatively charged phosphate group at Ser⁴⁴¹ and the carboxyl group of Asp⁵¹ (see Fig. 49). Phosphorylation of Ser⁴⁴¹ is thus expected to induce conformational changes. In addition, exchange of the monovalent Na⁺ by the divalent Ca²⁺ would also induce strong conformational changes. Further experiments are required to solve the physiological role of this regulatory site.



Matrix space

Fig. 47. Schematic representation of the possible proton pathway from the matrix space to Asp⁵¹ at the cytosolic side in the fully oxidized state (taken from Yoshikawa et al., 1998).

Dotted lines, dark circles, and a rectangle denote hydrogen bonds, fixed water molecules, and a cavity, respectively. The cavity is connected to the matrix space with a water path shown in a pair of dotted lines. Thick and thin sticks are a side view of the porphyrin plane of heme a and its side chains.



Fig. 48. The exit amino acid of a proton pathway (Asp⁵¹, blue), the phosphorylatable Ser⁴⁴¹ (red), and a Na⁺ site complexed by Ser⁴⁴¹, Gly⁴⁵ (pink), and Glu⁴⁰ (green) all in subunit I, are accessible from the cytosolic side in bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase. Subunits I (yellow), II (brown), and IV (dark green) are presented in spacefill, the other subunits are in backbone. Coordinates of the crystal structure [Tsukihara et al., 1996] are from protein Data Brookhaven [COX.pdb; 1HRC].





Fig. 49. The postulated regulatory triad in bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase subunit I: Asp⁵¹ (the postulated exit amino acid of a proton pathway), Ser⁴⁴¹ (a cAMP-dependent phosphorylation site), and a Na⁺/Ca²⁺ site liganded by Ser⁴⁴¹, Gly⁴⁵, and Glu⁴⁰.

Shown are the amino acids from the oxidized crystal structure [Tsukihara et al., 1996], including Ser²⁰² and Ser²⁰⁵ from subunit II. A phosphate group at Ser⁴⁴¹ and a metal ion are indicated schematically.

5.3. Regulation of oxidative phosphorylation by allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase

The allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase presents a "second mechanism of respiratory control" [Kadenbach and Arnold, 1999], and is based on the exchange of ADP by ATP at the matrix domain of subunit IV at high intramitochondrial ATP/ADP-ratios [Arnold and Kadenbach, 1997]. The term "respiratory control" is defined as the control of mitochondrial respiration by the availability of ADP [Lardy and Wellman, 1952; Chance and Williams, 1956]. According to the chemiosmotic hypothesis the "first mechanism of respiratory control" is based on the inhibition of mitochondrial proton pumps (complexes I, III, and IV) at high proton motive force Δp (140-180 mV) [Nicholls and Ferguson, 1992]. ADP increases mitochondrial respiration via activation of the ATP synthase with consequent decrease of Δp and activation of the proton pumps. By the second mechanism of respiratory control ADP directly activates mitochondrial respiration via decreasing the ATP/ADP-ratio and relieving the ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase. The control of mitochondrial respiration by the ATP/ADP-ratio will in consequence decrease the mitochondrial membrane potential $\Delta \psi_m$ (the main component of Δp), based on the potential dependence of the ATP synthase. Kaim and Dimroth [1999] have shown that the ATP synthase from E. coli is saturated and has maximal rates of ATP synthesis at $\Delta \psi_m = 120$ mV. Therefore at $\Delta \psi_m = 120$ mV also the ATP/ADP-ratio will be maximal and inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase activity will be optimal. The allosteric ATP-inhibition keeps thus $\Delta \Psi_m$ at low values (100-140 mV) [Lee et al., 2001; Lee et al., 2002]. This assumption is in accordance with estimations of $\Delta \psi_m$ between 100-140 mV in a perfused rat heart, where the absolute values varied, depending on the substrate in the perfusion medium and decreased slightly after increasing the work load (rate of ATP consumption) by a factor of five [Wan et al., 1993]. In contrast, in isolated mitochondria membrane potentials of 150-180 mV have been frequently measured [Nicholls and Ferguson, 1992]. This could be explained by turning off the allosteric ATP-inhibition during isolation of mitochondria by calcium stimulated dephosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase.

Above $\Delta \psi_m$ values of 140 mV an exponential increase of ROS (reactive oxygen species) formation has been measured in isolated mitochondria [Liu, 1997 and 1999; Korshunov and Skulachev, 1997]. The "molecular-physiological hypothesis" on regulation of oxidative phosphorylation *in vivo* [Kadenbach et al., 2000; Ludwig et al., 2001; Lee et al., 2001] proposes the control of mitochondrial membrane potential and ROS formation by

hormones via turning on and off the allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase by reversible phosphorylation (Fig. 50). It was proposed that stress hormones, which increase cellular [Ca²⁺], result in dephosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase, accompanied by an increase of mitochondrial membrane potential and ROS formation. Under relaxed conditions other hormones are expected to increase cellular [cAMP], resulting in phosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase which reestablishes the "relaxed" state of oxidative phosphorylation with low $\Delta \psi_m$ and no ROS formation (Fig. 50).



green. via the allosteric ATPby high ATP/ADP-ratios schematically The figure postulated $\Delta \psi_m$ is presented in light The formation (violet line) line), and inhibition (green line), control (red line), the mechanism of respiratory **ROS** formation. mitochondrial $\Delta \psi_m$ and Fig. 50. physiological range of dependence the ATP synthase (blue potential dependence of based on the membrane inhibition of respiration high $\Delta \psi_m$ via the first inhibition of respiration at control Scheme of control of ef, the Δψ_m suggested presents ROS the

5.4. Palmitate decreases the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of bovine kidney cytochrome c oxidase

Cardiolipin is known to interact with a number of inner mitochondrial membrane proteins including several anionic carriers [Noel and Pande, 1986; Kadenbach et al., 1982] and some electron transport complexes [Fry and Green 1981; Goormaghtigh et al., 1986; Nicolay and de Kruijff, 1987] which require it for full activity [Hoch, 1992 and 1998]. Cytochrome c oxidase activity is essentially dependent on cardiolipin [Robinson, 1993] which occurs in the inner mitochondrial membrane at 10-20 % of the total phospholipids [Hoch, 1992]. The H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase, reconstituted with asolectin (purified soyabean phospholipids), is 1.0, as generally accepted for most cytochrome c oxidases [Babcock and Wikström, 1992]. In contrast, the reconstituted enzyme from bovine liver and kidney exhibited a H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of 0.5 under the same conditions [Hüttemann et al., 1999].

In this dissertation it was shown that addition of cardiolipin during reconstitution increased the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of bovine kidney cytochrome c oxidase from 0.5 to 1.0. Cardiolipin had no influence on the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of the heart enzyme which exhibited a value of 1.0 with or without cardiolipin. These results can be explained by assuming a specific binding site for cardiolipin at the liver type isozyme which induces high proton pumping efficiency ($H^{+}/e^{-} = 1.0$). In the crystal structure of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase, five tightly bound cardiolipin molecules were identified [Yoshikawa, personal communication]. In contrast, the kidney enzyme appears to contain a loosely bound cardiolipin which is lost during purification. The previous data concerning low H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of 0.5 with cytochrome c oxidase from bovine liver and kidney [Frank and Kadenbach, 1996; Hüttemann et al., 1999] turns out to be an isolation artifact. The stimulation of H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry by cardiolipin and its reversal by palmitate suggests competition between both for a specific binding site for a palmitoyl group. The lacking effect of palmitoyl glycerol on the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of the reconstituted kidney enzyme, neither in the presence nor in the absence of cardiolipin, however, does not support this assumption. Additional properties of cardiolipin, not present in the palmitoyl glycerol molecule, may be necessary to stimulate the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry.

The H^+/e^- stoichiometry of 1.0 measured with the kidney enzyme after addition of cardiolipin, was decreased to 0.5 with low concentrations of palmitate (half-maximal effect at

 0.5μ M) (Fig. 40). This decrease is highly specific for palmitate (C16), because no other fatty acid (C12, C14, C18, C18:1) as well as 1-hexadecanol, palmitoyl CoA, and palmitoyl glycerol decreased the proton pumping efficiency of the kidney enzyme. The H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of the bovine heart enzyme, containing subunit VIaH (heart type) was not decreased by up to 10 µM palmitate. Also Labonia et al. [1988] found no effect of 30 µM palmitate on the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of the bovine heart enzyme. On the other hand, high intraliposomal ATP/ADPratios (half-maximal at ATP/ADP = 100) decreased the H^+/e^- stoichiometry of the heart enzyme from 1.0 to 0.5 [Frank and Kadenbach, 1996; Hüttemann et al., 1999]. The decrease of H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry by ATP of the heart enzyme was reproduced in this dissertation (Fig. 43). The tissue-specificity and the same decrease of H^+/e^- stoichiometry from 1.0 to 0.5, obtained by palmitate with the kidney enzyme, strongly suggest that the effects of ATP and palmitate are due to binding of the effectors to the corresponding subunit isoform. Each effector is ineffective to the other isozyme. Binding of both palmitate and ATP (instead of ADP) causes an increase of one negative charge at the binding site. This additional negative charge could induce a conformational change within the enzyme complex, associated with a specific decrease of H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry from 1.0 to 0.5 by ATP or palmitate. The amino acid sequences of subunits VIaH and VIaL reveal about 50 % identity [Linder et al., 1995]. It could be envisioned that the difference of amino acid sequence contributes in forming specific binding pockets for ADP or ATP at subunit VIaH and for palmitate at subunit VIaL. From these considerations it is postulated that palmitate binds to subunit VIaL of the kidney enzyme.

If the postulated binding site for the palmitoyl group of cardiolipin on subunit VIaL is the same site as that for palmitate binding (competition), at least 1 mol of palmitoyl diphosphatidyl glycerol per mol enzyme is required to saturate it. The minimal concentration of cardiolipin required to increase the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of the bovine kidney enzyme to 1.0 was determined to 1 % of asolectin, and this is about a 100 times excess of cardiolipin to cytochrome c oxidase (mol:mol). Interestingly, this means that the required amount of palmitoyl diphosphatidyl glycerol to increase the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of cytochrome c oxidase is about 1 mol per mol enzyme, because the palmitic acid content in the total fatty acids of the applied cardiolipin is ca. 1 % [data from Fluka catalogue, 1997/1998]. To prove the competition between cardiolipin and palmitate, experiments using cardiolipin from *E. coli* should be done, which has a palmitate content of ca. 44 % from total fatty acids [data from Fluka catalogue, 1997/1998]. This cardiolipin, however, was no more available.

The low half-maximal concentration of 0.5 µM palmitate suggests a specific binding site with high affinity for palmitate within the liver type of cytochrome c oxidase. Free palmitate is formed in animal cells by two pathways (1) from degradation of triacylglycerides by cAMP-regulated lipases, and (2) as the final product of the cytosolic fatty acid synthetase complex. In vivo free fatty acid concentrations are very low, due to (1) ATP-dependent esterification with coenzyme A by acyl-CoA synthetase on the outer mitochondrial membrane with subsequent transport via the carnitine shuttle and ß-oxidation in the mitochondria, and (2) the abundant presence of fatty acid binding proteins in mitochondria and in the cytosol with dissociation constants below 1.0 µM [Börchers and Spencer, 1994; Banaszak et al., 1994; Veerkamp and Maaman, 1995; Schaap et al., 1998]. Low amounts of free palmitate might diffuse through the inner mitochondrial membrane in the protonated form. The diffused palmitate is suggested to bind to a specific binding site on cytochrome c oxidase subunit VIaL. The described time dependency of the palmitate effect on the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase from bovine kidney can be explained by the above interpretation. The palmitate signal in the cell can be abolished via acylation to form ineffective acyl-CoA. It was shown (Fig. 40) that esterified palmitate (palmitoyl-CoA) does not influence the H^+/e^- stoichiometry of kidney cytochrome c oxidase.

The physiological relevance of the decrease of H^+/e^- stoichiometry from 1.0 to 0.5 by palmitate in the liver type isozyme of cytochrome c oxidase, could be to increase oxidative metabolism associated with increased thermogenesis in warm-blooded animals. In brown adipose tissue, thermogenesis is generally known to be switched on by noradrenalin via cAMP, activation of a lipase, and release of free fatty acids which activate UCP1 [Nicholls and Locke, 1984; Cannon and Nedergaard, 1985; Klingenberg, 1990; Klingenberg and Huang, 1999; Winkler and Klingenberg, 1994]. Activation of UCP1 requires relatively high concentrations (10-100 µM) of different free fatty acids [Jezek et al., 1994], with laurate (C12) and myristate (C14) being most effective [Klingenberg and Huang, 1999]. Recently coenzyme Q was shown to be required for high rates of fatty acid stimulated H⁺ transport by UCP1 [Echtay et al., 2000], as well as by UCP2 and UCP3 [Echtay et al., 2001]. But again, high concentrations of free fatty acids (10-100 µM) were required to stimulate H⁺ transport which, however, may not occur in vivo due to the presence of large amounts of fatty acid binding proteins (see above). Therefore it is suggested that in analogy to its specific effect on liver type cytochrome c oxidase, palmitate represents also the specific signal transduction molecule which stimulates UCP1 and thus thermogenesis in brown adipocytes (see also Fig. 51). This conclusion is supported by two observations: (1) a specific stimulation of brown

adipocyte respiration by palmitate was described by Cunningham et al. [1986], and (2) Gonzalez-Barroso et al. [1998] observed stimulation of respiration of mitochondria from transformed yeast containing mammalian UCP1 by nanomolar concentrations of palmitate, whereas micromolar concentrations were required to stimulate respiration of wild type yeast mitochondria.

The above results suggest palmitate as a signal transduction molecule for thermogenesis in most (non-skeletal muscle) tissues of warm blooded animals (Fig. 51). In addition, the effect of palmitate on the respiratory rate of cytochrome c oxidase in nonskeletal muscle tissues could also prevent obesity after a big meal, by increasing the degradation rate of nutrient. Interestingly, palmitate is not only released by hydrolysis of fats (triacylglycerides) which is stimulated by noradrenalin, but is also released as the end product of fatty acid synthetase in animals, which contrasts with palmitoyl coenzyme A, the end product of the fatty acid synthetase in bacteria and plants. Therefore, also after a big meal with carbohydrates free palmitate increases via synthesis from acetyl coenzyme A and thus could result in accelerated oxidative metabolism, which could partially prevent obesity from excess food.

The data presented above present for the first time a physiological explanation for the tissue-specific expression of a nuclear coded subunit (VIa) of cytochrome c oxidase in warm blooded animals.



Fig. 51. Postulated signal cascade for thermogenesis including palmitate in non-skeletal cells of warm blooded animals.

FA: fatty acids; C16: palmitate; COX: cytochrome c oxidase

6. Summary

In this dissertation, the cDNA for the postulated new isoform of cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV (subunit IV-2) was screened using molecular biological methods. Using degenerated primers derived from subunit IV-1, several clones were amplified by RACE-PCR which all turned out to correspond to subunit IV-1. Later subunit IV-2 was identified by others, showing two cysteines not found in subunit IV-1, and its preferential expression in lung. Cytochrome c oxidase was isolated from bovine lung, separated by SDS-PAGE and cysteines were identified by DACM, a fluorescent thiol reagent.

Cytochrome c oxidase was isolated from turkey liver, heart, and skeletal muscle, and N-terminal and internal amino acid sequencing demonstrated the exclusive expression of the liver isoform of subunit VIa (VIaL) in all tissues.

The allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase (second mechanism of respiratory control) was investigated in more detail. Its reversible turning on by cAMP-dependent phosphorylation with protein kinase A and its dephosphorylation by protein phosphatase 1 was demonstrated. From screening for possible phosphorylation sites in bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase, and from the sidedness of the phosphorylation site, Ser⁴⁴¹ on the cytosolic side of subunit I was concluded to represent that amino acid, which after phosphorylation turns on the allosteric ATP-inhibition.

The H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase was previously shown to be reduced from 1.0 to 0.5 in the presence of high intramitochondrial ATP/ADP-ratios. In contrast, the enzyme from bovine liver and heart revealed H⁺/e⁻ ratios of 0.5. Here it could be demonstrated, that the presence of 1 % cardiolipin during reconstitution of the bovine kidney enzyme resulted in H⁺/e⁻ ratios of 1.0. This high proton pumping efficiency could be reduced to H⁺/e⁻ ratios of 0.5 by low concentrations of palmitate (half-maximal effect at 0.5 μ M). Laurate (C12), myristate (C14), stearate (C18), oleate (C18:1), cetylalcohol (C16-OH), palmitoyl-CoA, and palmitoyl-glycerol were without effect. Palmitate had no effect on the heart enzyme. The controlled respiration of the reconstituted kidney enzyme, but not of the heart enzyme, was specifically increased by palmitate. It is concluded that the described decrease of proton pumping efficiency by palmitate in cytochrome c oxidase from non-skeletal muscle (containing subunit VIaL) participates in thermogenesis of warm blooded animals and in preventing obesity.

7. Reference

Abrahams, J.P., Leslie, A.G.W., Lutter, R. and Walker, J.E. (1994) Structure at 2.8Å resolution of F1-ATPase from bovine heart mitochondria. *Nature* **370**, 621-628.

Alge, D., Wastyn, M., Mayer, C., Jungwirth, C., Zimmermann, U., Zoder, R., Fromwald, S. and Peschek, G.A. (1999) Allosteric properties of cyanobacterial cytochrome c oxidase: inhibition of the coupled enzyme by ATP and stimulation by ADP. *IUBMB Life* **48**,187-197.

Allen, L.A., Zhao, X.J., Caughey, W. and Poyton, R.O. (1995) Isoforms of yeast cytochrome c oxidase subunit V affect the binuclear reaction center and alter the kinetics of interaction with the isoforms of yeast cytochrome c. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**, 110-118.

Anthony, G., Stroh, A., Lottspeich, F. and Kadenbach, B. (1990) Different isozymes of cytochrome c oxidase are expressed in bovine smooth muscle and skeletal or heart muscle. *FEBS Lett.* **277**, 97-100.

Anthony, G., Reimann, A. and Kadenbach, B. (1993) Tissue-specific regulation of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase by ADP via interaction with subunit VIa. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 1652-1656.

Arnold, S., Lee, I., Kim, M.J., Song, E., Linder, D., Lottspeich, F. and Kadenbach, B. (1997) The subunit structure of cytochrome c oxidase from tuna heart and liver. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **248**, 99-103.

Arnold, S. and Kadenbach, B. (1997) Priority Paper. Cell respiration is controlled by ATP, an allosteric inhibitor of cytochrome c oxidase. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **249**, 350-354.

Arnold, S., Goglia, F. and Kadenbach, B. (1998) 3,5-diiodothyronine binds to subunit Va of cytochrome c oxidase and abolishes the allosteric inhibition of respiration by ATP. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **252**, 325-330.

Arnold, S. and Kadenbach, B. (1999) The intramitochondrial ATP/ADP-ratio controls cytochrome c oxidase activity allosterically. *FEBS Lett.* **443**, 105-108.

Azzone, G.F., Pozzan, T. and Di Virgilio, F. (1979) H⁺/site, charge/site, and ATP/site ratios at coupling site III in mitochondrial electron transport. *J. Biol. Chem.* **254**, 10206-10212.

Babcock, G.T. and Wikström, M. (1992) Oxygen activation and the conservation of energy in cell respiration. *Nature* **356**, 301-309.

Banaszak, L., Winter, N., Xu, Z., Bernlohr, D.A., Cowan, S. and Jones, T.A. (1994) Lipidbinding proteins: a family of fatty acid and retinoid transport proteins. *Adv. Protein Chem.* **45**, 89-151.

Beavis, A.D. and Lehninger, A.L. (1986) Determination of the upper and lower limits of the mechanistic stoichiometry of incompletely coupled fluxes. Stoichiometry of incompletely coupled reactions. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **158**, 307-314.

Beavis, A.D. (1987) Upper and lower limits of the charge translocation stoichiometry of cytochrome c oxidase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **262**, 6174-6181.

Bender, E. and Kadenbach, B. (2000) The allosteric ATP-inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase is reversibly switched on by cAMP-dependent phosphorylation. *FEBS Lett.* **466**, 130-134.

Bisson, R. and Schiavo, G. (1986) Two different forms of cytochrome c oxidase can be purified from the slime mold *Dictyostelium discoideum*. *J. Biol. Chem.* **261**, 4373-4376.

Bisson, R., Schiavo, G. and Montecucco, C. (1987) ATP induces conformational changes in mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase. Effect on the cytochrome c binding site. *J. Biol. Chem.* **262**, 5992-5998.

Blake, M.S., Johnston, K.H., Russell-Jones, G.J. and Gotschlich, E.C. (1984) A rapid, sensitive method for detection of alkaline phosphatase-conjugated anti-antibody on Western blots. *Anal. Biochem.* **136**, 175-179.

Börchers, T. and Spener, F. (1994) Fatty acid binding proteins. *Current Topics in Membranes* **40**, 261-294.

Bonne, G., Seibel, P., Possekel, S., Marsac, C. and Kadenbach, B. (1993) Expression of humen cytochrome c oxidase subunits during fetal development. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **217**, 1099-1107.

Büge, U. and Kadenbach, B. (1986) Influence of buffer composition, membrane lipids and proteases on the kinetics of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase from bovine liver and heart. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **161**, 383-390.

Burgess, J.W. and Yamada, E.W. (1987) cAMP-dependent protein kinase isozymes with preference for histone H2B as substrate in mitochondriaof bovine heart. *Biochem. Cell. Biol.* **65**, 137-143.

Burke, P.A. and Poyton, R.O. (1998) Structure/function of oxygen-regulated isoforms in cytochrome c oxidase. *J. Exp. Biol.* **201**, 1163-1175.

Cannon, B. and Nedergaard, J. (1985) The biochemistry of an inefficient tissue: brown adipose tissue. *Essays Biochem.* **20**, 110-164.

Capaldi, R.A. (1990) Structure and function of cytochrome c oxidase. *Ann. Rev. Biochem.* **59**, 569-596.

Capaldi, R.A. (1996) The complexity of a respiratory complex. *Nature Struct. Biol.* **3**, 570-574.

Capitanio, N., Capitanio, G., de Nitto, E., Billani, G. and Papa, S. (1991) H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of mitochondrial cytochrome complexes reconstituted in liposomes. Rate-dependent changes of the stoichiometry in the cytochrome c oxidase vesicles. *FEBS Lett.* **288**, 179-182.

Capitanio, N., Capitanio, G., Demarinis, D.A., de Nitto, E., Massari, S. and Papa, S. (1996) Factors affecting the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry in mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase: Influence of the rate of electron flow and transmembrane ΔpH^+ . *Biochemitry* **35**, 10800-10806. Casey, R.P., Chappell, J.B. and Azzi, A. (1979) Limited-turnover studies on proton translocation in reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase-containing vesicles. *Biochem. J.* 182, 149-156.

Chance, B. and Williams, C.M. (1955) Respiratory enzymes in oxydative phosphorylation. *J.Biol. Chem.* **217**, 409-427.

Chomczymski, P. and Sacchi, N. (1987) Single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. *Anal. Biochem.* **162**, 156-159.

Cunningham, S.A., Wiesinger, H. and Nicholls, D.G. (1986) Quantification of fatty acid activation of the uncoupling protein in brown adipocytes and mitochondria from the guineapig. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **157**, 415-420.

DeBlas, A.I. and Cherwinski, H.M. (1983) Detection of antigens on nitrocellulose paper immunoblots with monoclonal antibodies. *Anal. Biochem.* **133**, 214-219.

de Virville, J.D. and Moreau, F. (1990) Effect of membrane conductance on proton/electron stoichiometry of cytochrome c oxidase activity in plant mitochondria. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1015**, 464-470.

DiMauro, S., Bonilla, E., Lee, C.P., Schotland, D.L., Scarpa, A., Conn Jr., H. and Chance, B. (1976) Luft's disease. Further biochemical and ultrastructural studies of skeletal muscle in the second case. *J. Neurol. Sci.* **27**, 217-232.

Echtay, K.S., Winkler, E., Bienengraeber, M. and Klingenberg, M. (2000) Site-directed mutagenesis identifies residues in uncoupling protein (UCP1) involved in three different functions. *Biochemistry* **39**, 3311-3317.

Echtay, K.S., Winkler, E., Frischmuth, K. and Klingenberg, M. (2001) Uncoupling proteins 2 and 3 are highly active H(⁺) transporters and highly nucleotide sensitive when activated by coenzyme Q (ubiquinone). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. US A.* **98**, 1416-1421.

Eckerskorn, C., Mewes, W., Goretzki, H. and Lottspeich, F. (1988) A new siliconized-glass fiber as support for protein-chemical analysis of electroblotted proteins. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **176**, 509-519.

Eckerskorn, C. and Lottspeich, F. (1989) Internal amino acid sequence analysis of proteins separated by gel electrophoresis after tryptic digestion in polyacrylamide matrix. *Chromatographia* **28**, 92-94.

Edman, P. and Begg, G. (1967) A protein sequenator. Eur. J. Biochem. 1, 80-91.

Ernster, L., Ikkos, D. and Luft, R. (1959) Enzymic activities of human skeletal muscle mitochondria: A tool in clinical metabolic research. *Nature* **184**, 1851-1854

Fabrici, G.M., Sadlock, J., Hirano, M., Mita, S., Koya, Y., Rizzuto, R., Zeviani, M., Schon. E.A. (1992) Differential expression of genes specifying two isoforms of subunit VIa of human cytochrome c oxidase. *Gene* **119**, 307-312.

Ferguson-Miller, S., Brautigan, D. L. and Margoliash, E. (1978) Definition of cytochrome c binding domains by chemical modification. III. Kinetics of reaction of carboxydinitrophenyl cytochromes c with cytochrome c oxidase. *J Biol Chem.* **253**, 149-159.

Follmann, K., Arnold, S., Ferguson-Miller, S. and Kadenbach, B. (1998) Cytochrome c oxidase activity from eucaryotes but not from procaryotes is allosterically inhibited by ATP. *Biochem. Mol. Biol. Intern.* **45**, 1047-1055.

Frank, V. and Kadenbach, B. (1996) Regulation of the H⁺/e⁻-stoichiometry of cytochrome c oxidase from bovine heart by intraliposomal ATP/ADP ratios. *FEBS Lett.* **82**, 121-124.

Frohmann, M.A. (1995) "PCR Primer. A Laboratorial Manual" C.W. Dieffenbach and G.S. Dveksler, eds., Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, pp381-409.

Fry, M. and Green, D.E. (1981) Cardiolipin requirement for electron transfer in complex I and III of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. *J. Biol. Chem.* **256**, 1874-1880.

Geier, B.M., Schägger, H., Ortwein, C., Link, T.A., Hagen, W.R., Brandt, U. and von Jagow, G. (1995) Kinetic properties and ligand binding of the eleven subunit cytochrome c oxidase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* isolated with a novel large-scale purification method. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **227**, 296-302.

Ghazi, A. (1985) On the role of the membrane proton conductance in the relationship between rate of respiration and protonmotive force. *Biochem. J.* **229**, 833-837.

Gmelin (1958) "Gmelin's Handbuch der anorganischen Chemie Sauerstoff" 3/3, Verlag Chemie GmbH, Weinheim, p460.

Gonzalez-Barroso, M.M., Fleury, C., Bouillaud, F., Nicholls, D.G. and Rial, E. (1998) The uncoupling protein UCP1 does not increase the proton conductance of the inner mitochondrial membrane by functioning as a fatty acid anion transporter. *J. Biol. Chem.* **273**, 15528-15532.

Goormaghtigh, E., Huart, P., Brasseur, R. and Ruysschaert, J.M. (1986) Mechanism of inhibition of mitochondrial enzymatic complex I-III by adriamycin derivatives. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **861**, 83-94.

Gopalan, G., Droste, M. and Kadenbach, B. (1989) Nucleotide sequence of cDNA encoding subunit IV of cytochrome c oxidase from fetal rat liver. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **17**, 4376.

Goto, Y., Amuro, N. and Okazaki, T. (1989) Nucleotide sequence of cDNA for rat brain and liver cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **17**, 2851.

Grossman, L.I. and Akamatsu, M. (1990) Nucleotide sequence of a mouse cDNA for subunit IV of cytochrome c oxidase. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **18**, 6454.

Grossman, L.I., Rosenthal, N.H., Akamatsu, M. and Erickson, R.P. (1995) Short sequencepaper, Cloning sequence analysis, and expression of a mouse cDNA encoding cytochrome c oxidase subunit VIa liver isoform. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1260**, 361-364.

Grossman, L.I. and Lomax, M.I. (1997) Nuclear genes for cytochrome c oxidase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1352**, 174-192.

Haltia, T., Saraste, M. and Wikstrom, M. (1991) Subunit III of cytochrome c oxidase is not involved in proton translocation: a site-directed mutagenesis study. *EMBO J.* **10**, 2015-2021.

Hauska, G. and Trebst, A. (1977) Artificial energy conservation in the respiratory chain. No native coupling site between cytochrome c and oxygen. *FEBS Lett.* **73**, 257-262.

Ho, Y. and Wang, J.H. (1981) Effect of pyridine homologues on respiratory control and H⁺/O ratio in mitochondria. *J. Biol. Chem.* **256**, 2611-2614.

Hoch, F.L. (1992) Cardiolipins and biomembrane function. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1113, 71-133.

Hoch, F.L. (1998) Cardiolipins and mitochondrial proton-selective leakage. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 30, 511-532.

Hüttemann, M., Exner, S., Arnold, S., Lottspeich, F. and Kadenbach, B. (1997) The cDNA sequences of cytochrome c oxidase subunit VIa from carp and rainbow trout suggest the absence of isoforms. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1319**, 14-18.

Hüttemann, M., Frank, V. and Kadenbach, B. (1999) The possible role of isoforms of cytochrome c oxidase subunit VIa in mammalian thermogenesis. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 55, 1482-1490.

Hüttemann, M., Arnold, S., Lee, I., Mühlenbein, N., Linder, D., Lottspeich, F. and Kadenbach, B. (2000) Turkey cytochrome c oxidase contains subunit VIa of the liver-type associated with low efficiency of energy transduction. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **267**, 2098-2104.

Hüttemann, M. (2000) New isoforms of cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV in tuna fish. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1492**, 242-246.

Hüttemann, M., Kadenbach, B. and Grossman, L.I. (2001) Mammalian subunit IV soforms of cytochrome c oxidase. *Gene* **267**, 111-123.

Iwata, S., Ostermeier, C., Ludwig, B. and Michel, H. (1995) Structure at 2.8 Å resolution of cytochrome c oxidase from *Paracoccus denitrificans*. *Nature* **376**, 660-669.

Jeneson, J.A., Wiseman, R.W., Westerhoff, H.V. and Kushmerick, M.J. The signal transduction function for oxidative phosphorylation is at least second order in ADP. *J Biol Chem.* **271**, 27995-27998.

Jezek, P., Orosz, D.E., Modriansky, M. and Garlid, K.D. (1994) Transport of anions and protons by the mitochondrial uncoupling protein and its regulation by nucleotides and fatty acids. A new look at old hypotheses. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 26184-26190.

Junge, W., Lill, H. and Engelbrecht, S. (1997) ATP synthase: an electrochemical transducer with rotatory mechanics. *TIBS* **22**, 420-423.

Kadenbach, B. (1966) Der Einfluß von Thyroidhormonen in vivo auf die oxidative Phosphorylierung und Enzymaktivitäten in Mitochondrien, *Biochem. Zeitschrift* **344**, 49-75.

Kadenbach, B. and Merle, P. (1981) On the function of multiple subunits of cytochrome c oxidase from higher eucaryotes. *FEBS Lett.* **135**, 1-11.

Kadenbach, B., Mende, P., Kolbe, HV., Stipani, I. and Palmieri, F. (1982) The mitochondrial phosphate carrier has an essential requirement for cardiolipin. *FEBS Lett.* **139**, 109-112.

Kadenbach, B., Jarausch, J., Hartmann, R. and Merle, P. (1983) Separation of mammalian cytochrome c oxidase into 13 poly-peptides by a sodium dodecyl sulfate-gel electrophoretic procedure. *Anal. Biochem.* **129**, 517-521.

Kadenbach, B., Stroh, A., Ungibauer, M., Kuhn-Nentwig, L., Büge, U. and Jarausch, J. (1986) Isozymes of cytochrome c oxidase: characterization and isolation from different tissues. *Methods Enzymol.* **126**, 32-45.

Kadenbach, B., Kuhn-Nentwig, L. and Büge, U. (1987) Evolution of a regulatory enzyme: Cytochrome c oxidase (complex IV). In: Current topics of bioenergetics, Lec ed., 15, Academic press, New York, pp113-161.

Kadenbach, B., Stroh, A., Becker, A., Eckerskorn, C. and Lottspeich, F. (1990) Tissue- and species-specific expression of cytochrome c oxidase isozymes in vertebrates. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1015**, 368-372.

Kadenbach, B. and Reimann, A. (1992) Cytochrome c oxidase: tissue-specific expression of isoforms and regulation of activity. In: Molecular mechanisms in Bioenergetics, L. Ernster, ed., Elservier Science Publisher B.V., pp 241-263.

Kadenbach, B., Barth, J., Akgün, R., Freund, R., Linder, D. and Possekel, S. (1995) Regulation of mitochondrial energy generation in health and disease. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1271**, 103-109.

Kadenbach, B., Napiwotzki, J., Frank, V., Arnold, S., Exner, S. and Hüttemann, M. (1998) Regulation of energy transduction and electron transfer in cytochrome c oxidase by adenine nucleotides. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* **30**, 25-33.

Kadenbach, B. and Arnold, S. (1999) Minireview. A second mechanism of respiratory control. *FEBS Lett.* **447**, 131-134.

Kadenbach, B., Hüttemann, M., Arnold, S., Lee I., Mühlenbein, N. and Bender, E. (2000) Mitochondrial energy metabolism is regulated via nuclear-coded subunits of cytochrome c oxidase. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **29**, 211-221.

Kagawa, Y. and Racker, E. (1971) Partial resolution of the enzymes catalyzing oxidative phosphorylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **246**, 5477-5487.

Kaim, G. and Dimroth, P. (1999) ATP synthesis by F-type ATP synthase is obligatorily dependent on the transmembrane voltage. *EMBO J.* **18**, 4118-4127.

Kannt, A., Soulimane, T., Büse, G., Becker, A., Bamberg, E. and Michel, H. (1998) Electrical current generation and proton pumping catalyzed by the ba₃-type cytochrome c oxidase from *Thermus thermophilus*. *FEBS Lett.* **434**, 17-22.

Kennaway, N.G., Carrero-Valenzuela, R.D., Ewart, G., Balan, V.K., Lightowlers, R., Zhang, Y.Z., Powell, B.R., Capaldi, R.A. and Buist, N.R. (1990) Isoforms of mammalian cytochrome c oxidase: correlation with human cytochrome c oxidase deficiency. *Pediatr. Res.*, **28**, 529-535.

Kielly, W.W. (1963) Preparation and assay of phosphorylating submitochondrial particles: sonicated mitochondria. *Methods. Enzymol.* **6**, 273-277.

Kirichenko, A., Vygodina, T., Mkrtchyan, H.M. and Konstantinov, A. (1998) Specific cation binding site in mammalian cytochrome oxidase. *FEBS Lett.* **423**, 329-333.

Klingenberg, M. (1990) Mechanism and evolution of the uncoupling protein of brown adipose tissue. *TIBS* **15**, 108-112.

Klingenberg, M. and Huang, S.G. (1999) Structure and function of the uncoupling protein from brown adipose tissue. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1415**, 271-296.

Korshunov, S.S., Skulachev, V.P. and Starkov, A.A. (1997) High protonic potential actuates a mechanism of production of reactive oxygen species in mitochondria. *FEBS Lett.* **416**, 15-18.

Krab, K. and Wikström, M. (1978) Proton-translocating cytochrome c oxidase in artificial phospholipid vesicles. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **504**, 200-214.

Kuhn-Nentwig, L. and Kadenbach, B. (1985) Isolation and properties of cytochrome c oxidase from rat liver and quantification of immunological differences between isozymes from various rat tissues with subunit-specific antisera. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **149**, 147-158.

Kyhse-Andersen, J. (1984) Electroblotting of multiple gels: a simple apparatus without buffer tank for rapid transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide to nitrocellulose. *J. Biochem. Biophys. Methods* **10**, 203-209.

Labonia, N., Muller, M. and Azzi, A. (1988) The effect of non-esterified fatty acids on the proton-pumping cytochrome c oxidase reconstituted into liposomes. *Biochem. J.* **254**, 139-145.

Lardy, H.A. and Wellman, H. (1952) Oxidative phosphorylations: Role of inorganic phosphate and acceptor systems in control of metabolic rates. *J.Biol.Chem.* **195**, 215-224.

Lee, I. and Kadenbach, B. (2001) Priority Paper. Palmitate decreases proton pumping of livertype cytochrome c oxidase. *Eur. J.Biochem.*, in press.

Lee, I., Bender, E., Arnold, S. and Kadenbach, B. (2001) Minireview-Hypothesis. New control of mitochondrial membrane potential and ROS-formation. *Biol. Chem.* in press.

Lee, I., Bender, E. and Kadenbach, B., (2002) Control of mitochondrial membrane potential and ROS formation by reversible phosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.*, submitted.

Lee, H.M., Das, T.K., Rousseau, D.L., Mills, D., Ferguson-Miller, S. and Genniis, R.B. (2000) Mutations in the putative H-channel in the cytochrome c oxidase from *Rhodobacter*

sphaeroides show that this channel is not important for proton conduction but reveal modulation of the properties of Heme a. *Biochemistry* **39**, 2989-2996.

Lightowlers, R., Ewart, G., Aggeler, R., Zhang, Y.Z., Calavetta, L. and Capaldi, R.A. (1990) Isolation and characterization of the cDNAs encoding two isoforms of subunit CIX of bovine cytochrome c oxidase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **265**, 2677-2681.

Linder, D., Freund, R. and Kadenbach, B. (1995) Species-specific expression of cytochrome c oxidase isozymes. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.* **112B**, 461-469.

Liu, S.S. (1997) Generating, partitioning, targeting and functioning of superoxide in mitochondria. *Biosci. Rep.* 17, 259-272.

Liu, S.S. (1999) Cooperation of a "reactive oxygen cycle" with the Q cycle and the proton cycle in the respiratory chain--superoxide generating and cycling mechanisms in mitochondria. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* **31**, 367-376.

Loomis, W.F. and Lipman, F. (1948) Reversible inhibition of the coupling between phosphorylation and oxidation. *J.Biol.Chem.* **173**, 807-808

Ludwig, B., Bender, E., Arnold, S., Hüttemann, M., Lee, I. and Kadenbach, B. (2001) Cytochrome c oxidase and the regulation of oxidative phosphorylation. *ChemBioChem* **2**, 392-403.

Mandolino, G., de Santis, A. and Melandri, B.A. (1983) Localized coupling in oxidative phosphorylation by mitochondria from Jerusalem Artichoke (*Helianthus Tuberosus*). *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **723**, 428-439

Merle, P. and Kadenbach, B. (1980) The subunit composition of mammalian cytochrome c oxidase. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **105**, 499-507.

Merle, P. and Kadenbach, B. (1982) Kinetic and structural differences between cytochrome c oxidases from beef liver and heart. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **125**, 239-244.

Michel, H. (1999) Proton pumping by cytochrome c oxidase. *Nature* **402**, 602-603.

Mitchell, P. (1961) Coupling of phosphorylation to electron and hydrogen transfer by a chemi-osmotic type of mechanism. *Nature* **191**, 144-148.

Mitchell, P. (1966) Chemiosmotic coupling in oxidative and photosynthetic phosphorylation. *Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc.* **41**, 445-502.

Montecucco, C., Schiavo, G. and Bisson, R. (1986) ATP binding to bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase. A photoaffinity labelling study. *Biochem. J.* **234**, 241-243.

Moyle, J. and Mitchell, P. (1978) Cytochrome c oxidase is not a proton pump. *FEBS Lett.* **88**, 268-272.

Müller, M., Thelen, M., O'Shea, P. and Azzi, A. (1986) Functional reconstitution of proton pumping cytochrome c oxidase in phospholipid vesicles. *Methods. Enzymol.* **126**, 78-87.

Müller, M. and Bandlow, W. (1987a) cAMP-dependent protein kinase in yeast mitochondria. *Z. Naturforsch.* **42c**, 1291-1302.

Müller, G. and Bandlow, W. (1987b) Protein phosphorylation in yeast mitochondria: cAMP-dependence, submitochondrial localization and substrates of mitochondrial protein kinases. *Yeast* **3**, 161-174.

Murphy, M.P. (1989) Slip and leak in mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 977, 123-141.

Murphey, M.P. and Brand, M.D. (1988) The stoichiometry of charge translocation by cytochrome oxidase and the cytochrome bc1 complex of mitochondria at high membrane potential. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **173**, 645-651.

Nakagawa, M. and Miranda, A.F. (1987) A monoclonal antibody against cytochrome c oxidase distinguishes cardiac and skeletal muscle mitochondria. *Exp. Cell. Res.* **168**, 44-52.

Napiwotzki, J., Shinzawa-Itoh, K., Yoshikawa, S. and Kadenbach, B. (1997) ATP and ADP bind to cytochrome c oxidase and regulate its activity. *Biol. Chem.* **378**, 1013-1021.

Napiwotzki, J. and Kadenbach, B. (1998) Extramitochondrial ATP/ADP-ratios regulate cytochrome c oxidase activity via binding to the cytosolic domain of subunit IV. *Biol. Chem.* **379**, 335-339.

Nicholls, D.G. and Locke, R.M. (1984) Thermogenic mechanisms in brown fat. *Physiol. Rev.* **64**, 1-64.

Nicholls, D.G. and Ferguson, S.J.(1992) "Bioenergetics 2" Academic Press Limited, London, San Diego, pp 82-87.

Nicolay, K. and de Kruijff, B. (1987) Effects of adriamycin on respiratory chain activities in mitochondria from rat liver, rat heart and bovine heart. Evidence for a preferential inhibition of complex III and IV. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **892**, 320-330.

Noel, H. and Pande, S.V. (1986) An essential requirement of cardiolipin for mitochondrial carnitine acylcarnitine translocaseactivity. Lipid requirement of carnitine acylcarnitine translocase. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **155**, 99-102

Padan, E. and Rottenberg, H. (1973) Respiratory control and the proton electrochemical gradient in mitochondria. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **40**, 431-437.

Papa, S., Guerrieri, F., Lorusso, M., Izzo, G., Boffoli, D., Capuano, F., Capitanio, N. and Altamura, N. (1980) The H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry of respiration-linked proton translocation in the cytochrome system of mitochondria. *Biochem. J.* **192**, 203-218.

Papa, S., Lorusso, M., Capitanio, N. and de Nitto, E. (1983) Characteristics of redox-linked proton ejection in cytochrome c oxidase reconstituted in phospholipidvesicles. New observations support mechanisms different from proton pumping. *FEBS Lett.* **157**, 7-14.

Papa, S., Capitanio, N. and De Nitto, E. (1987) Characteristics of the redox-linked proton ejection in beef-heart cytochrome c oxidase reconstituted in liposomes. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **164**, 507-516.

Papa, S., Capitanio, N., Capitanio, G., de Nitto, E. and Minuto, M. (1991) The cytochrome chain of mitochondria exhibits variable H⁺/e- stoichiometry. *FEBS Lett.* **288**, 183-186.

Papa, S., Sardanelli, A.M., Cocco, T., Speranza, F., Scacco, S.C. and Technikova-Dobrova, Z. (1996) The nuclear-encoded 18 kDa (IP) AQDQ subunit of bovine heart complex I is phosphorylated by the mitochondrial cAMP-dependent protein kinase. *FEBS Lett.* **379**, 299-301.

Parsons, W.J., Williams, R.S., Shelton, J.M., Luo, Y., Kessler, D.J. and Richardson, J.A. (1996) Developmental regulation of cytochrome oxidase subunit VIa isoforms in cardiac and skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* **270**, H567-574.

Pearson, R.B. and Kemp, B.E. (1991) Protein kinase phosphorylation site sequences and consensus specificity motifs: tabulations. *Methods Enzymol.* **200**, 62-81.

Peiffer, W.E., Ingle, R.T., Ferguson-Miller, S. (1990) Structurally unique plant cytochrome c oxidase isolated from wheat germ, a rich source of plant mitochondrial enzymes. *Biochemistry* **29**, 8696-8701.

Pfitzner, U., Odenwald, A., Ostermann, T., Weingard, L., Ludwig, B. and Richter, O.M. (1998) Cytochrome c oxidase (heme aa₃) from *Paracoccus denitrificans*: analysis of mutations in putative proton channels of subunit I. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* **30**, 89-97.

Poyton, R.O., Trueblood, C.E., Wright, R.M. and Farrell, L.E. (1988) Expression and function of cytochrome c oxidase subunit isologues. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 550, 289-307.

Prochaska, L.J., Bisson, R., Capaldi, R.A., Steffens, G.C.M. and Büse, G. (1981) Inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase function by dicyclohexylcarbodiimide. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **637**, 360-373.

Prochaska, L.J. and Fink, P.S. (1987) Mini-Review. On the role of subunit III in proton translocation in cytochrome c oxidase. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* **19**, 143-166.

Proteau, G., Wrigglesworth, J.M. and Nicholls, P. (1983) Protonmotive functions of cytochrome c oxidase in reconstituted vesicles. Influence of turnover rate on proton translocation. *Biochem. J.* **210**, 199-208.

Reynafarje, B., Alexandre, A., Davies, P. and Lehninger, A.L. (1982) Proton translocation stoichiometry of cytochrome c oxidase: Use of a fast-responding oxygen electrode. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **79**, 7218-7222.

Reynafarje, B., Costa, L. and Lehninger, A. (1986) Upper and lower limits of the proton stoichiometry of cytochrome c oxidation in rat liver mitoplasts. *J. Biol. Chem.* **261**, 8254-8262.

Rieger, T., Napiwotzki, J. and Kadenbach, B. (1995) On the number of nucleotide binding sites in cytochrome c oxidase. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **217**, 34-40.

Robinson, N.C. (1993) Functional binding of cardiolipin to cytochrome c oxidase. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 25, 153-163.

Rohdich, F. and Kadenbach, B. (1993) Tissue-specific regulation of cytochrome c oxidase efficiency by nucleotides. *Biochemistry* **32**, 8499-8503.

Romero, N., Marsac, C., Fardeau, M., Droste, M., Schneyder, B. and Kadenbach, B. (1990) Immunohistochemical demonstration of fibre type-specific isozymes of cytochrome c oxidase in human skeletal muscle. *Histochemistry* **94**, 211-215.

Sacher, R., Steffens, G.J. and Büse, G. (1979) Studies on cytochrome c oxidase, VI. Polypeptide IV. the complete primary structure. *Hoppe Seylers Z. Physiol. Chem.* **360**, 1385-1392.

Saraste, M. (1983) How complex is a respiratory complex? Trends Biochem. Sci. 8, 139-142.

Sarti, P., Johnes, M.G., Antonini, G., Malatesta, F., Colosimo, A., Wilson, M.T. and Brunori, M. (1985a) Kinetics of redox-linked proton pumping activity and subnit III-depleted cytochrome c oxidase: A stopped-flow investigation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*USA **82**, 4876-4880.

Sarti, P., Malatesta. F., Antonini, G., Colosimo, A. and Brunori, M. (1985b) A new method for the determination of the buffer power of artificial phospholipid vesicles by stopped-flow spectroscopy. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **809**, 39-43.

Schaap, F.G., van der Vusse, G.J. and Glatz, J.F.C. (1998) Fatty acid-binding proteins in the heart. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* **180**, 43-51.

Schlerf, A., Droste, M., Winter, M. and Kadenbach, B. (1988) Characterization of two different genes (cDNA) for cytochrome c oxidase subunit VIa from heart and liver of the rat. *EMBO J.* **7**, 2387-2391.

Schwoch, G., Trinczek, B. and Bode, C. (1990) Localization of catalytic and regulatory subunits of cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinases in mitochondria from various rat tissues. *Biochem. J.* **270**, 181-188.

Seelan, R.S., and Grossman, L.I. (1991) Cytochrome c oxidase subunit VIIa isoforms. Characterization and expression of bovine cDNAs. *J. Biol. Chem.* **266**, 19752-19757.

Shechter, I. and Bloch, K. (1971) Solubilization and purification of trans-farnesyl pyrophosphate-squalene synthetase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **246**, 7690-7696.

Siegel, E. and Carafoli, E. (1978) The proton pump of cytochrome c oxidase and its stoichiometry. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **89**, 119-123.

Sigel, E. and Carafoli, E. (1980) Quantitative analysis of the proton and charge stoichiometry of cytochrome c oxidase from beef heart reconstituted into phospholipid vesicles. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **111**, 299-306.

Slater, E.C. (1987) The mechanism of the conservation of energy of biological oxidations. *Eur J. Biochem.* **166**, 489-504.
Starkov, A.A., Simonyan, R.A., Dedukhova, V.I., Mansurova, S.E., Palamarchuk, L.A. and Skulachev, V.P. (1997a) Regulation of the energy coupling in mitochondria by some steroid and thyroid hormones. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1318**, 173-183.

Starkov, A.A., Bloch, D.A., Chernyak, B.V., Dedukhova, V.I., Mansurova, S.E., Severina, I.I., Simonyan, R.A., Vygodina, T.V. and Skulachev, V.P. (1997b) 6-Ketocholestanol is a recoupler for mitochondria, chromatophores and cytochrome oxidase proteoliposomes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1318**, 159-172.

Steenaart, N.A. and Shore, G.C. (1997) Mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV is phosphorylated by an endogenous kinase. *FEBS Lett.* **415**, 294-298.

Steverding, D. and Kadenbach, B. (1989) Valinomycin binds stoichiometrically to cytochrome c oxidase and changes its structure and function. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **160**, 1132-1139.

Steverding, D. and Kadenbach, B. (1990) The K⁺-ionophores nonactin and valinomycin interact differently with the protein of reconstituted cytochrome c oxidase. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* **22**, 197-205.

Steverding, D. and Kadenbach, B. (1991) Influence of N-ethoxycarbonyl-2-ethoxy-1,2dihydroquinoline modification on proton translocation and membrane potential of reconstituted cytochrome-c oxidase support "proton slippage". *J. Biol. Chem.* **266**, 8097-8101.

Suarez, M.D., Revzin, A., Narlock, R., Kempner, E.S., Thompson, D.A. and Ferguson-Miller, S. (1984) The functional and physical form of mammalian cytochrome c oxidase determined by gel filtration, radiation inactivation, and sedimentation equilibrium analysis. *J. Biol. Chem.* **259**, 13791-13799.

Tannmann, J.W. and Capaldi, R.A. (1992) Purification of yeast cytochrome c oxidase with a subunit composition resembling the mammalian enzyme. *J. Bio. Chem.* **267**, 22481-22485.

Taanman, J.W., Herzberg, N.H., de Vries, H., Bolhuis, P.A. and van den Bogert, C. (1992) Steady-state transcript levels of cytochrome c oxidase genes during human myogenesis indicate subunit switching of subunit VIa and co-expression of subunit VIIa isoforms. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1139**, 155-162.

Tsukihara, T., Aoyama, H., Yamashita, E., Tomizaki, T., Yamaguchi, H., Shinzawa-Itoh, K., Nakashima, R., Yaono, R. and Yoshikawa, S. (1995) Structures of metal sites of oxidized bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase at 2.8Å. *Science* **269**, 1069-1074.

Tsukihara, T., Aoyama, H., Yamashita, E., Tomizaki, T., Yamaguchi, H., Shinzawa-Itoh, K., Nakashima, R., Yaono, R. and Yoshikawa, S. (1996) The whole structure of the 13-subunit oxidized cytochrome c oxidase at 2.8 Å. *Science* **272**, 1136-1144.

Vallejo, C.G., Seguido, A.M. and Fernandez-Renart, M. (1997) Protein kinases in mitochondria of the invertebrate *Artemia franciscana*. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **339**, 9-16.

Veerkamp, J.H. and Maatman, R.G. (1995) Cytoplasmic fatty acid-binding proteins: their structure and genes. *Prog. Lipid Res.* **34**, 17-52.

van Kuilenburg, A.B.P., van Beeumen, J.J. Demol, H., van den Bogert, C., Schouten, I. and Muijsers, A.O. (1990) Subunit IV of human cytochrome c oxidase, polymorphism and a putative isoform. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1119**, 218-224.

von Jagow, G. and Klingenberg, M. (1972) Close correlation between antimycin titer and cytochrome bc1 content mitochondria of chloramphenicol treated *Neurospora crassa*. *FEBS Lett.* **24**, 278-282.

Wan, B., Doumen, C., Duszynski, J., Salama, G., Vary, T.C. and LaNoue, K.F. (1993) Effects of cardiac work on electrical potential gradient across mitochondrial membrane in perfused rat hearts. *Am. J. Physiol.* **265**, H453-460.

Weinbach, E.C. and Garbus, J. (1965) The interaction of uncoupling phenols with mitochondria and with mitochondrial protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* **240**, 1811-1819.

Weinbach, E.C. and Garbus, J. (1969) Mechanism of action of reagents that uncouple oxidative phosphorylation. *Nature* **221**, 1016-1018.

Wikström, M. and Saari, H.T. (1977) The mechanism of energy conservation and transduction by mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **462**, 347-361.

Wikström, M., Krab, K. and Saraste, M. (1981) "Cytochrome c oxidase: A synthesis.", Cytochrome c oxidase, Academic Press, London, Academic Press, New York, USA.

Wikström, M. and Pentillä, T. (1982) Critical evaluation of the proton-translocating property of cytochrome c oxidase in rat liver mitochondria. *FEBS Lett.* **144**, 183-189.

Wilson, D.F. and Forman, N.G. (1982) Mitochondrial transmembrane pH and electrical gradients: evaluation of their energy relationships with respiratory rate and adenosine 5'-triphosphate synthesis. *Biochemistry* **21**, 1438-1444.

Wilson, D.M., Alderette, J.F., Maloney, P.C. and Wilson, T.H. (1976) Protonmotive force as the source of energy for adenosine 5'-triphosphate synthesis in *Escherichia coli*. *J. Bacteriol*. **126**, 327-337.

Winkler, E. and Klingenberg, M. (1994) Effect of fatty acids on H⁺ transport activity of the reconstituted uncoupling protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 2508-2515.

Witt, H. and Ludwig, B. (1997) Isolation, analysis, and deletion of the gene coding for subunit IV of cytochrome c oxidase in *Paracoccus denitrificans*. J. Biol. Chem. **272**, 5514-5517.

Yamamoto, K., Sekine, T. and Kanaoaka, Y. (1977) Fluorescent thiol reagents, XII. Fluorescent tracer method for protein SH groups using N-(7-Dimethylamino-4-methyl-3-cumarinyl)-maleinmide. An application to the protein separated by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. *Anal. Biochem.* **79**, 83-94.

Yang, W.L., Iacono, L, Tang, W.M. and Chin, K.V. (1998) Novel function of the regulatory subunit of protein kinase A: regulation of cytochrome c oxidase activity and cytochrome c release. *Biochemistry* **37**, 14175-14180.

Yoshikawa, S., Choc, M.G., O'Toole, M.C. and Caughey, W.S. (1977) An infrared study of CO binding to heart cytochrome c oxidase and hemoglobin A. J. Biol. Chem. **252**, 5498-5508.

Yoshikawa, S., Tera, T., Takahashi, Y., Tsukihara, T. and Caughey, W.S. (1988) Crystalline cytochrome c oxidase of bovine heart mitochondrial membrane: composition and x-ray diffraction studies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **85**, 1354-1358.

Yoshikawa, S., Shinzawa-Itoho, K., Nakashima, R., Yaono, R., Yamashita, E., Inoue, N., Yao, M., Fei, M.J., Libeu, C.P., Mizyshima, T., Yamaguchi, H., Tomizaki, T. and Tsukihara, T. (1998) Redox-coupled crystal structural changes in bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase. *Science* **280**, 1723-1729.

Yoshikawa, S., Shinzawa-Itoh, K. and Tsukihara, T. (2000) X-ray structure and the reaction mechanism of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase. *J. Inorg. Biochem.* **82**, 1-7.

Zeviani, M., Nakagawa, M., Herbert, J., Lomax, M.I., Grossman, L.I., Sherbany, A.A., Miranda, A.F., DiMauro, S. and Schon, E.A. (1987) Isolation of a cDNA clone encoding subunit IV of human cytochrome c oxidase. *Gene* **55**, 205-217.

Zoratti, M., Pietrobon, D. and Azzone, G.F. (1982) On the relationship between rate of ATP synthesis and H⁺ electrochemical gradient in rat-liver mitochondria. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **126**, 443-451.

8. Abbreviations

AP	alkaline phosphatase
BCIP	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolvl-phosphate
bp	base pair
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CCCP	carbonlycyanide-3-chlorphenylhydrazone
cDNA	complemetary DNA
CL	cardiolipin
COX	cvtochrome c oxidase
cvt. c	cytochrome c
DACM	N-(7-dimethylamino-4-methyl-3-cumarinyl)-maleinmide
DCCD	dicyclohexylcarbodiimide
DEAE	diethylaminoethyl
DEPC	diethylpyrocarbonate
ddNTP	dideoxynucleoside triphosphate
DMF	dimethylformamide
DMSO	dimethylsulfoxide
DNase	deoxyribonuclease
dsDNA	double strand DNA
DTE	dithioerythreitol
DTT	dithiothreitol
D W	deionized water
E ₂₀₀	extrinction of light at 280 nm wavelength
L ₂₈₀	moler extinction coefficient at 280 nm wavelength
EDTA	athylana diamina tatmaastia asid
EDIA	N athewweatherwy 2 athewy 12 dihydrochinglin
EEDQ	N-ethoxycarbonyi-2-ethoxy-1,2-dinydrochinoin
EGIA	etnylene giycol-bis-(p-aminoetnyl etner), N,N,N ,N -tetraacetic acid
Hepes	N-(2-nydroxyetnyl)-piperazine-N -(2 -ethanesulfonic acid)
HPLC	nign-performance liquid chromatography
lgG	immunoglobulin type G
	isopropyl-B-D-thiogalactopyranoside
KD V	k1lobase(s)
K _D	Michaelis-Menten constant
LB	Luria-Bertani-medium
MALDI-TOF	matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight
MCS	multiple cloning site
NBT	4-nitrotetrazolium chloride blue
nm	nanometer
O.D.	optical density
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PEP	phosphoenolpyruvate
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PEG	polyethylenglycol
Pi	inorganic phosphate
PK	pyruvate kinase
РКА	cAMP-dependent protein kinase
РКС	Ca ²⁺ activated-phospholipid dependent serine-threonine kinase
PP1	protein phosphatase 1
RACE	rapid amplification of cDNA ends

relative centrifugal force
respiratory control ratio
ribonuclease
reactive oxygen species
rotation per minute
reverse transcriptase reaction
sodium dodecylsulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
single strand DNA
annealing temperature
N-α-tosyl-L-arginly-o-methyl ester
Tris-boric-EDTA buffer
tricholoacetic acid
Tris-EDTA buffer
N,N,N',N'-Tetramethylethylenediamine
N,N,N',N'-Tetramethyl-p-phenylenediamine-hydrochloride
turnover number
N-Tris-(hydroxymethyl)-methylglycine
2-amino-2-(hydroxymethyl)-1,3-propanediol
unit of enzyme activity
uncoupling protein
ultraviolet light
valinomycin
5-bromo-4-cholore-3-indoyl-ß-galactoside

9. Acknowledgments

I express my deep appreciation to my advisor Professor Dr. Bernhard Kadenbach for his offer to investigate the interesting subject with him and for his considerate guidance during this study.

I would like to thank Professor Dr. W. Buckel at the Fachbereich Biologie for his interest in this study and for serving as the second referee of this thesis.

I would like to thank Professor Dr. M. Marahiel for his offer to use the automatic sequencer and other equipments in his laboratory.

I wish to thank the Deutsche Forschung Gemeinschaft for a scholarship in the Graduiertenkolleg, "Enzymchemie", for a research assitant position in the project Ka 192/ 39-1 during my study in Marburg, Germany, and for the opportunity to participate in international meetings.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. K. Fendler and Dr. Maarten Ruitenberg at the MPI für Biophysik, Abteilung für Biophysikalische Chemie, Frankfurt/Main for measuring proton translocation by a stopped-flow spectrophotometer.

Thanks must be referred to Prof. Dr. F. Lottspeich at the MPI für Biochemie, Martinsried and Dr. D. Linder at the Biochemisches Institut, Klinikum, Universität Gießen for N-terminal and internal amino acid sequencing.

I gratefully thank Dr. Maik Hüttemann in Wayne State University, Detroit, USA for his thoughtful discussions and guidance during my molecular biology bench work and for his kind offer to use his new sequence data.

I am thankful to Dr. Susanne Arnold and Dr. Elisabeth Bender for their kind teaching me of biochemistry bench work. I also wish to thank Nicole Mühlenbein, Gunnar Weisheit, and Dr. Shahla Madadi for their support and advice in the laboratory work.

I would like to thank Mrs. Kadenbach gratefully for her kindness and constant encouragement.

Special thanks are due to my best friend, Haksuk Chung in Princeton University, USA for her constant support, friendship, and for proofreading of this thesis.

Many thanks are extended to my other friends in Korea, USA, and Germany for their prayers for me and for their encouragement.

Most deeply I would like to thank my families who have loved, supported, and encouraged me.

항상 저를 믿어주시고, 후원하여 주시며, 끝없는 자애로써 감싸주시는 사랑하는 어머니와 아버지께 깊은 감사를 드리며, 이 논문을 바칩니다. 또한 언제나 저의 편에 서서 사랑과 격려를 아끼지 않는 사랑하는 동생 병수와 윤희에게도 고마움 을 전합니다.